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Supplemental Listing Document

If you are in any doubt about this document, you should consult your stockbroker or other registered dealer
in securities, bank manager, solicitor, accountant or other professional adviser. The Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading  Limited  (the  “SGX-ST”)  assumes  no  responsibility  for  the  correctness  of  any  of  the  statements  made  or
opinions or reports expressed in this document.  Admission to the Official List of the SGX-ST is not to be taken as an
indication of the merits of Macquarie Bank Limited, the Company (defined below) or the Warrants.

80,000,000 European Style Cash Settled Call Warrants
relating to the ordinary shares of

Yanlord Land Group Limited
issued by

Macquarie Bank Limited
(ABN 46 008 583 542)

(Incorporated under the laws of Australia)

Issue Price: SGD 0.201 per Warrant

This document is published for the purpose of obtaining a listing of all the above warrants (the “Warrants”)
to be issued by Macquarie Bank Limited (the “Issuer”) and is supplemental to and should be read in conjunction with
a  base  listing  document  published  on  7  July  2011  (the  “Base Listing Document”)  for  the  purpose  of  giving
information with regard to the Issuer and the Warrants. Information relating to Yanlord Land Group Limited (the  “
Company”) is contained in this document.

This document does not constitute or form part of any offer, or invitation, to subscribe for or to sell, or
solicitation of any offer to subscribe for or to purchase, Warrants or other securities of the Issuer, nor is it calculated
to invite, nor does it permit the making of, offers by the public to subscribe for or purchase for cash or other
consideration Warrants or other securities of the Issuer. Restrictions have been imposed on offers and sales of the
Warrants and on distributions of documents relating thereto in Singapore, the United States, the United Kingdom,
Hong Kong and Australia (see Base Listing Document).

Investors are warned that the price of the Warrants may fall in value as rapidly as it may rise and
holders may sustain a total loss of their investment. Prospective purchasers should therefore ensure that
they understand the nature of the Warrants and carefully study the risk factors set out in this document
before they invest in the Warrants.

The Warrants constitute direct, general and unsecured contractual obligations of the Issuer and of
no other person, including those in respect of deposits, but excluding any debts for the time being preferred

by law and any subordinated obligations and if you purchase the Warrants you are relying upon the
creditworthiness of the Issuer and have no rights under the Warrants against the Company.

The Issuer is regulated as an authorised deposit taking institution by the Australian Prudential
Regulation Authority. The Issuer, acting through its Singapore branch is authorised and licensed by the
Monetary Authority of Singapore to carry on wholesale banking business in Singapore pursuant to the
Banking Act, Chapter 19 of Singapore and therefore is subject to the supervision of the Monetary Authority
of Singapore.

27 June 2012
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Application has been made to the SGX-ST for permission to deal in and for quotation of the
Warrants and the SGX-ST has agreed in principle to grant permission to deal in and for quotation of
the Warrants.  It is expected that dealings in the Warrants will commence on 28 June 2012.

Subject as set out below, the Issuer accepts full responsibility for the accuracy of the
information contained in this document and the Base Listing Document in relation to itself and the
Warrants. To the best of the knowledge and belief of the Issuer (which has taken all reasonable care
to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in this document and the Base Listing
Document for which it accepts responsibility (subject as set out below in respect of the information
contained herein with regard to the Company) is in accordance with the facts and is not limited by
anything likely to affect the import of such information. The information contained herein with regard
to the Company consists of extracts from information released publicly by the Company on the web-
site of the SGX-ST.  The Issuer accepts responsibility for accurately reproducing such extracts but
accept no further or other responsibility in respect of such information.

Neither the delivery of this document nor any sale made hereunder shall create any
implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Issuer, and its subsidiaries and
affiliates since the date hereof. No person has been authorised to give any information or to make
any representations other than those contained in this document in connection with the offering of the
Warrants, and, if given or made, such information or representations must not be relied upon as
having been authorised by the Issuer.

This document does not constitute an offer or invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer to
purchase or subscribe for any of the Warrants. The distribution of this document and the offering of
the Warrants may, in certain jurisdictions, be restricted by law. The Issuer requires persons into
whose possession this document comes to inform themselves of and observe all such restrictions.

The Warrants have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933,
as  amended  (the  “Securities Act”).  Warrants,  or  interests  therein,  may  not  at  any  time  be  offered,
sold, resold or delivered within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons
and any offer, sale, resale or delivery made within the United States or to, or for the account or
benefit of, a U.S. person will not be recognised. A further description of certain restrictions on offering
and  sale  of  the  Warrants  and  distribution  of  this  document  is  given  in  the  section  headed  “Sales
Restrictions” in the Base Listing Document.

The SGX-ST has made no assessment of, nor taken any responsibility for, the financial
soundness of the Issuer or the merits of investing in the Warrants, nor have they verified the
accuracy or the truthfulness of statements made or opinions expressed in this document.

The Issuer or its affiliates may repurchase Warrants at any time and any Warrant which is
repurchased may be offered from time to time in one or more transactions in the over-the-counter
market or otherwise at prevailing market prices or in negotiated transactions, at the discretion of the
Issuer. Investors should not therefore make any assumption as to the number of Warrants in issue at
any time.

References  in  this  document  to  the  “Conditions”  shall  mean  references  to  the  Terms  and
Conditions of the European Style Cash Settled Call Warrants contained in the Base Listing
Document. Terms not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Conditions.

 



1 These figures are calculated as at, and based on information available to the Issuer on or about, the date of the termsheet in
respect of the Warrants. The Issuer is not obliged, and undertakes no responsibility to any person, to update or inform any
person of any changes to the figures after the date of the termsheet in respect of the Warrants.
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE WARRANTS

The following are the terms and conditions of the Warrants and should be read in conjunction
with, and are qualified by reference to, the other information set out in this document and the base
listing document dated 7 July 2011 (the “Base Listing Document”).

The  Conditions  are  set  out  in  the  section  headed  “Terms  and  Conditions  of  the  European
Style Cash Settled Call Warrants” in the Base Listing Document.  For the purposes of the Conditions,
the following terms shall have the following meanings:

Warrants: 80,000,000 European Style Cash Settled Call Warrants relating to
the ordinary shares (“Shares”) of the Company

Company: Yanlord Land Group Limited (Reuters Instrument Code: YNLG.SI)

Conversion Ratio (number of
Shares per Warrant):

0.400000 (i.e. every 2.5 Warrants initially relate to 1 Share)

Underlying Price1 and Source: SGD 1.15 (out of the money)
(Reuters/Bloomberg)

Exercise Price: SGD 1.2

Gearing1: 2.3x

Premium1: 48%

Volatility1: Implied: 180%
Historical: 39%

Launch Date: 22 June 2012

Closing Date: 27 June 2012

Dealing Commencement Date: 28 June 2012

Last Trading Date: The 5th Business Day immediately preceding the Expiry Date,
currently being 27 November 2012
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Expiry Date: 04 December 2012

Board Lot: 1,000 Warrants

Valuation Date: Each of the five Business Days immediately preceding the Expiry
Date (subject to Market Disruption Events as set out in the
Conditions of the Warrants)

Exercise: Warrantholders shall not be required to deliver an exercise notice.
Exercise of Warrants shall be determined by whether the Cash
Settlement Amount (less any Exercise Expenses) is positive. If the
Cash Settlement Amount (less any Exercise Expenses) is positive,
all Warrants shall be deemed to have been automatically
exercised at 12:00 noon (Singapore time) on the Expiry Date (or if
the Expiry Date is not a Business Day, the immediately preceding
Business Day). The Cash Settlement Amount less the Exercise
Expenses in respect of the Warrants shall be paid in the manner
set out in Condition 4(c) of the Warrants. In the event the Cash
Settlement Amount (less any Exercise Expenses) is zero or
negative, all Warrants shall be deemed to have expired at 12:00
noon (Singapore time) on the Expiry Date (or if the Expiry Date is
not a Business Day, the immediately preceding Business Day)
and Warrantholders shall not be entitled to receive any payment
from the Issuer in respect of the Warrants.

Cash Settlement Amount: In respect of each Warrant, shall be an amount (if positive)
payable in the Settlement Currency equal to:

(A) (i) the arithmetic mean of the closing prices of one Share (as
derived from the daily publications of the Relevant Stock
Exchange, subject to any adjustments to such closing prices
determined by the Issuer to be necessary to reflect any
capitalisation, rights issue, distribution or the like) for each
Valuation Date LESS (ii) the Exercise Price MULTIPLIED by (B)
the Conversion Ratio

In certain circumstances, the Conversion Ratio and the Exercise
Price will be adjusted as set out in Condition 6 of the Warrants.

Reference Currency: Singapore dollars

Settlement Currency: Singapore dollars

Exercise Expenses: Warrantholders will be required to pay all charges (including any
taxes if applicable) which are incurred in respect of the exercise of
the Warrants.

Relevant Stock Exchange: Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”)

Clearing System: The Central Depository (Pte) Limited (“CDP”)
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Fees and Charges: Normal transaction and brokerage fees shall apply to the trading
of the Warrants on the SGX-ST.
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The Conditions set  out  in  the section headed “Terms and Conditions of  the European Style
Cash Settled Call Warrants” in the Base Listing Document are set out below.  This section is qualified
in its entirety by reference to the detailed information appearing elsewhere in this document which
shall, to the extent so specified or to the extent inconsistent with the relevant Conditions set out
below, replace or modify the relevant Conditions for the purpose of the Warrants.

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE EUROPEAN STYLE CASH SETTLED CALL
WARRANTS

1. Form, Status, Transfer and Title

(a) Form.  The Warrants (which expression shall, unless the context otherwise requires,
include any further warrants issued pursuant to Condition 11) are issued subject to
and with the benefit of:

(i) an  instrument  by  way  of  deed  poll  (the  “Instrument”)  dated  the  Closing
Date, made by Macquarie Bank Limited (the “Issuer”); and

(ii) a master warrant agent agreement (the “Warrant Agent Agreement”) dated
26 November 2004 and such other Warrant Agent Agreement as may be in
force from time to time, made between the Issuer and the Warrant Agent for
the Warrants.

Copies of the Instrument and the Warrant Agent Agreement are available for
inspection at the specified office of the Warrant Agent.

The Warrantholders (as defined below) are entitled to the benefit of, are bound by
and are deemed to have notice of all the provisions of the Instrument and the
Warrant Agent Agreement.

(b) Status.  The Warrants constitute direct, general and unsecured contractual
obligations of the Issuer and rank, and will rank, equally among themselves and pari
passu with all other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of
the Issuer (save for statutorily preferred exceptions).  The Warrants provide for cash
settlement on exercise.

(c) Transfer.   The  Warrants  are  represented  by  a  global  warrant  certificate  (“Global
Warrant”) which will be deposited with The Central Depository (Pte) Limited (“CDP”).
 Warrants in definitive form will not be issued.  Transfers of Warrants may be effected
only in Board Lots or integral multiples thereof.  All transactions in (including
transfers of) Warrants, in the open market or otherwise, must be effected through a
securities account with CDP. Title will pass upon registration of the transfer in the
records maintained by CDP.

(d) Title.  Each person who is for the time being shown in the records maintained by
CDP as entitled to a particular number of Warrants shall be treated by the Issuer and
the Warrant Agent as the holder and absolute owner of such number of Warrants,
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notwithstanding any notice to the contrary. The expression “Warrantholder” shall be
construed accordingly.

2. Warrant Rights and Exercise Expenses

(a) Warrant Rights.  Every Warrant entitles each Warrantholder, upon due exercise and
on compliance with Condition 4, to payment by the Issuer of the Cash Settlement
Amount (as defined below) (if any) in the manner set out in Condition 4.

The "Cash Settlement Amount", in respect of each Warrant, shall be an amount (if
positive) payable in the Settlement Currency equal to:

(A) (i) the arithmetic mean of the closing prices of one Share (as derived from the
daily publications of the relevant stock exchange on which the Shares related to the
Warrants  are  traded  (“Relevant Stock Exchange”)  (as  specified  in  the  relevant
Supplemental Listing Document), subject to any adjustments to such closing prices
determined by the Issuer to be necessary to reflect any capitalisation, rights issue,
distribution or the like) for each Valuation Date (as defined below) LESS (ii) the
Exercise Price for the time being MULTIPLIED by (B) the Conversion Ratio.

If the Issuer determines, in its sole discretion, that on any Valuation Date a Market
Disruption Event (as defined below) has occurred, then that Valuation Date shall be
postponed until the first succeeding Business Day (as defined below) on which there
is no Market Disruption Event, unless there is a Market Disruption Event on each of
the two Business Days immediately following the original date that, but for the Market
Disruption Event, would have been a Valuation Date. In that case:

(A) that second Business Day shall be deemed to be the Valuation Date
notwithstanding the Market Disruption Event; and

(B) the Issuer shall determine the closing price on the basis of its good faith
estimate of the bid price that would have prevailed on that second Business
Day but for the Market Disruption Event.

If the postponement of a Valuation Date as aforesaid would result in a Valuation Date
falling on or after the Expiry Date, then (1) the Business Day immediately preceding
the Expiry Date (the "Last Valuation Date") shall be deemed to be the Valuation
Date notwithstanding the Market Disruption Event and (2) the Issuer shall determine
the closing price on the basis of its good faith estimate of the bid price that would
have prevailed on the Last Valuation Date but for the Market Disruption Event.

“Conversion Ratio”  means  the  ratio  (expressed  as  the  number  of  Shares  to  which
one Warrant relates) specified by the Issuer, subject to adjustments in accordance
with these Conditions.

“Market Disruption Event”  means  the  occurrence  or  existence  on  any  Valuation
Date of (i) any suspension of trading on the Relevant Stock Exchange of the Shares
requested by the Company if that suspension, is in the determination of the Issuer,
material, (ii) any suspension of or limitation imposed on trading (including but not
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limited to unforeseen circumstances such as by reason of movements in price
exceeding limits permitted by the Relevant Stock Exchange or any act of God, war,
riot, public disorder, explosion, terrorism or otherwise) on the Relevant Stock
Exchange in the Shares if that suspension or limitation is, in the determination of the
Issuer, material, or (iii) the closing of the Relevant Stock Exchange or a disruption to
trading on the Relevant Stock Exchange if that disruption, is in the determination of
the Issuer, material as a result of the occurrence of any act of God, war, riot, public
disorder, explosion, terrorism or otherwise.

“Valuation Date”  means,  with  respect  to  the  exercise  of  Warrants,  and  subject  as
provided above in relation to a Market Disruption Event, each of the five Business
Days immediately preceding the Expiry Date relating to such exercise.

(b) Exercise Expenses.  Warrantholders will be required to pay all charges (including
any taxes if applicable) which are incurred in respect of the exercise of the Warrants
(the “Exercise Expenses”).  An amount  equivalent  to the Exercise Expenses will  be
deducted by the Issuer from the Cash Settlement Amount in accordance with
Condition 4. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Warrantholders shall account to the
Issuer on demand for any Exercise Expenses to the extent that they were not or
could not be deducted from the Cash Settlement Amount prior to the date of payment
of the Cash Settlement Amount to the Warrantholders in accordance with Condition 4.

3. Expiry Date

Unless automatically exercised in accordance with Condition 4(b), the Warrants shall be
deemed to expire at 12:00 noon (Singapore time) on the Expiry Date (or if the Expiry Date is not a
Business Day, the immediately preceding Business Day).

4. Exercise of Warrants

(a) Exercise.  Warrants may only be exercised on the Expiry Date (or if the Expiry Date
is not a Business Day, the immediately preceding Business Day) in accordance with
Condition 4(b).

(b) Automatic Exercise.  Warrantholders shall not be required to deliver an exercise
notice. Exercise of Warrants shall be determined by whether the Cash Settlement
Amount (less any Exercise Expenses) is positive.  If the Cash Settlement Amount
(less any Exercise Expenses) is positive, all Warrants shall be deemed to have been
automatically exercised at 12:00 noon (Singapore time) on the Expiry Date (or if the
Expiry Date is not a Business Day, the immediately preceding Business Day). The
Cash Settlement Amount less the Exercise Expenses in respect of the Warrants shall
be paid in the manner set out in Condition 4(c) below.  In the event the Cash
Settlement Amount (less any Exercise Expenses) is zero or negative, all Warrants
shall be deemed to have expired at 12:00 noon (Singapore time) on the Expiry Date
(or if the Expiry Date is not a Business Day, the immediately preceding Business
Day) and Warrantholders shall not be entitled to receive any payment from the Issuer
in respect of the Warrants.

(c) Settlement.  In respect of Warrants which are automatically exercised in accordance
with Condition 4(b), the Issuer will pay to the relevant Warrantholder the Cash
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Settlement Amount (if any) in the Settlement Currency.  The aggregate Cash
Settlement Amount (less any Exercise Expenses) shall be despatched as soon as
practicable and no later than five Business Days following the Last Valuation Date by
way of crossed cheque or other payment in immediately available funds drawn in
favour of the Warrantholder only (or, in the case of joint Warrantholders, the first-
named Warrantholder) appearing in the records maintained by CDP.  Any payment
made pursuant to this Condition 4(c) shall be delivered at the risk and expense of the
Warrantholder and posted to the Warrantholder's address appearing in the records
maintained by CDP (or, in the case of joint Warrantholders, to the address of the first-
named Warrantholder appearing in the records maintained by CDP). If the Cash
Settlement Amount is equal to or less than the determined Exercise Expenses, no
amount is payable.

(d) CDP not liable.  CDP shall not be liable to any Warrantholder with respect to any
action taken or omitted to be taken by the Issuer or the Warrant Agent in connection
with the exercise of the Warrants or otherwise pursuant to or in connection with these
Conditions.

(e) Business Day.   In  these Conditions,  a “Business Day”  shall  be a day on which the
SGX-ST is open for dealings in Singapore during its normal trading hours and banks
are open for business in Singapore.

5. Warrant Agent

(a) Warrant Agent.  The Issuer reserves the right, subject to the appointment of a
successor, at any time to vary or terminate the appointment of the Warrant Agent
and to appoint another Warrant Agent provided that it will at all times maintain a
Warrant Agent which, so long as the Warrants are listed on the SGX-ST, shall be in
Singapore.  Notice of any such termination or appointment and of any change in the
specified office of the Warrant Agent will be given to the Warrantholders in
accordance with Condition 9.

(b) Agent of Issuer.  The Warrant Agent will be acting as agent of the Issuer and will not
assume any obligation or duty to or any relationship of agency or trust for the
Warrantholders. All determinations and calculations by the Warrant Agent under
these Conditions shall (save in the case of manifest error) be final and binding on the
Issuer and the Warrantholders.

6. Adjustments

Potential Adjustment Event.  Following the declaration by a Company of the terms of(a)
any Potential Adjustment Event (as defined below), the Issuer will determine whether
such Potential Adjustment Event has a dilutive or concentrative or other effect on the
theoretical value of the Shares and, if so, will (i) make the corresponding adjustment,
if any, to any one or more of the Conditions as the Issuer determines appropriate to
account for that dilutive or concentrative or other effect, and (ii) determine the
effective date of that adjustment. The Issuer may, but need not, determine the
appropriate adjustment by reference to the adjustment in respect of such Potential
Adjustment Event made by an exchange on which options or futures contracts on the
Shares are traded.
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Definitions.  “Potential Adjustment Event” means any of the following:(b)

(i) a subdivision, consolidation or reclassification of the Shares (excluding a
Merger Event) or a free distribution or dividend of any such Shares to
existing holders by way of bonus, capitalisation or similar issue;

a distribution or dividend to existing holders of the Shares of (1) such(ii)
Shares, or (2) other share capital or securities granting the right to payment
of dividends and/or the proceeds of liquidation of the Company equally or
proportionately with such payments to holders of such Shares, or (3) share
capital or other securities of another issuer acquired by the Company as a
result of a “spin-off” or other similar transaction, or (4) any other type of
securities, rights or warrants or other assets, in any case for payment (in
cash or otherwise) at less than the prevailing market price as determined by
the Issuer;

an extraordinary dividend;(iii)

a call by the Company in respect of the Shares that are not fully paid;(iv)

a repurchase by the Company of the Shares whether out of profits or capital(v)
and whether the consideration for such repurchase is cash, securities or
otherwise;

with respect to a Company an event that results in any shareholder rights(vi)
pursuant to a shareholder rights agreement or other plan or arrangement of
the  type  commonly  referred  to  as  a  “poison  pill” being distributed, or
becoming separated from shares of common stock or other shares of the
capital stock of such Company (provided that any adjustment effected as a
result of such an event shall be readjusted upon any redemption of such
rights); or

any other event that may have, in the opinion of the Issuer, a dilutive or(vii)
concentrative or other effect on the theoretical value of the Shares.

(c) Merger Event, Tender Offer, Nationalisation and Insolvency.  If a Merger Event,
Tender Offer, Nationalisation or Insolvency occurs in relation to the Shares, the
Issuer may take any action described below:

(i) determine the appropriate adjustment, if any, to be made to any one or more
of the Conditions to account for the Merger Event, Tender Offer,
Nationalisation or Insolvency, as the case may be, and determine the
effective date of that adjustment.  The Issuer may, but need not, determine
the appropriate adjustment by reference to the adjustment in respect of the
Merger Event, Tender Offer, Nationalisation or Insolvency made by an
options exchange to options on the Shares traded on that options exchange;

cancel the Warrants by giving notice to the Warrantholders in accordance(ii)
with Condition 9. If the Warrants are so cancelled, the Issuer will pay an
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amount to each Warrantholder in respect of each Warrant held by such
Warrantholder which amount shall be the fair market value of a Warrant
taking into account the Merger Event, Tender Offer, Nationalisation or
Insolvency, as the case may be, less the cost to the Issuer and/or any of its
affiliates of unwinding any underlying related hedging arrangements, all as
determined by the Issuer in its reasonable discretion.  Payment will be made
in such manner as shall be notified to the Warrantholders in accordance with
Condition 9; or

following any adjustment to the settlement terms of options on the Shares on(iii)
such exchange(s) or trading system(s) or quotation system(s) as the Issuer
in  its  reasonable  discretion  shall  select  (the  “Option Reference Source”)
make a corresponding adjustment to any one or more of the Conditions,
which adjustment will be effective as of the date determined by the Issuer to
be the effective date of the corresponding adjustment made by the Option
Reference Source. If options on the Shares are not traded on the Option
Reference Source, the Issuer will make such adjustment, if any, to any one
or more of the Conditions as the Issuer determines appropriate, with
reference to the rules and precedents (if any) set by the Option Reference
Source, to account for the Merger Event, Tender Offer, Nationalisation or
Insolvency, as the case may be, that in the determination of the Issuer would
have given rise to an adjustment by the Option Reference Source if such
options were so traded.

Once the Issuer determines that its proposed course of action in connection with a
Merger Event, Tender Offer, Nationalisation or Insolvency, it shall give notice to the
Warrantholders in accordance with Condition 9 stating the occurrence of the Merger
Event, Tender Offer, Nationalisation or Insolvency, as the case may be, giving details
thereof and the action proposed to be taken in relation thereto.  Warrantholders
should be aware that due to the nature of such events, the Issuer will not make an
immediate determination of its proposed course of action or adjustment upon the
announcement or occurrence of a Merger Event, Tender Offer, Nationalisation or
Insolvency.

(d) Definitions.  “Insolvency”  means  that  by  reason  of  the  voluntary  or  involuntary
liquidation, bankruptcy, insolvency, dissolution or winding-up of or any analogous
proceeding affecting a Company (i) all the Shares of that Company are required to
be transferred to a trustee, liquidator or other similar official or (ii) holders of the
Shares  of  that  Company  become legally  prohibited  from transferring  them.  “Merger
Date” means the closing date of a Merger Event or, where a closing date cannot be
determined under the local law applicable to such Merger Event, such other date as
determined  by  the  Issuer.  “Merger Event”  means,  in  respect  of  the  Shares,  any  (i)
reclassification or change of such Shares that results in a transfer of or an
irrevocable commitment to transfer all of such Shares outstanding to another entity or
person, (ii) consolidation, amalgamation, merger or binding share exchange of a
Company with or into another entity or person (other than a consolidation,
amalgamation, merger or binding share exchange in which such Company is the
continuing entity and which does not result in reclassification or change of all of such
Shares outstanding),  (iii) takeover offer, exchange offer, solicitation, proposal or
other event by any entity or person to purchase or otherwise obtain 100 per cent. of
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the outstanding Shares of the Company that results in a transfer of or an irrevocable
commitment to transfer all such Shares (other than such Shares owned or controlled
by such other entity or person), or (iv) consolidation, amalgamation, merger or
binding share exchange of the Company or its subsidiaries with or into another entity
in which the Company is the continuing entity and which does not result in a
reclassification or change of all such Shares outstanding but results in the
outstanding Shares (other than Shares owned or controlled by such other entity)
immediately prior to such event collectively representing less than 50 per cent. of the
outstanding Shares immediately following such event, in each case if the Merger
Date is on or before the Valuation Date or, if there is more than one Valuation Date,
the  Last  Valuation  Date.  “Nationalisation”  means  that  all  the  Shares  or  all  or
substantially all of the assets of a Company are nationalised, expropriated or are
otherwise required to be transferred to any governmental agency, authority, entity or
instrumentality  thereof.  “Tender Offer”  means  a  takeover  offer,  tender  offer,
exchange offer, solicitation, proposal or other event by any entity or person that
results in such entity or person purchasing, or otherwise obtaining or having the right
to obtain, by conversion or other means, greater than 10 per cent. and less than 100
per cent. of the outstanding voting shares of the Company, as determined by the
Issuer, based upon the making of filings with governmental or self-regulatory
agencies or such other information as the Issuer deems relevant.

(e) Other Adjustments.  Except as provided in this Condition 6 and Condition 12,
adjustments will not be made in any other circumstances, subject to the right
reserved by the Issuer (such right to be exercised in the Issuer's sole and unfettered
discretion and without any obligation whatsoever) to make such adjustments as it
believes appropriate in circumstances where an event or events occur which it
believes in its sole discretion (and notwithstanding any prior adjustment made
pursuant to the above) should, in the context of the issue of the Warrants and the
obligations of the Issuer, give rise to such adjustment provided that such adjustment
is considered by the Issuer not to be materially prejudicial to the Warrantholders
generally (without considering the circumstances of any individual Warrantholder or
the tax or other consequences of such adjustment in any particular jurisdiction).

(f) Notice of Adjustments.  All determinations made by the Issuer pursuant hereto will be
conclusive and binding on the Warrantholders.  The Issuer will give, or procure that
there is given, notice as soon as practicable of any adjustment and of the date from
which such adjustment is effective by publication in accordance with Condition 9.

7. Purchases

The Issuer or its related corporations may at any time purchase Warrants at any price in the
open market or by tender or by private treaty.  Any Warrants so purchased may be held or resold or
surrendered for cancellation.

8. Meetings of Warrantholders; Modification

(a) Meetings of Warrantholders.  The Warrant Agent Agreement contains provisions for
convening meetings of the Warrantholders to consider any matter affecting their
interests, including the sanctioning by Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the

 



- 13 - 20120622_YNLG.SI_Call_SLD

Warrant Agent Agreement) of a modification of the provisions of the Warrants or of
the Warrant Agent Agreement.

At least 21 days' notice (exclusive of the day on which the notice is given and of the
day on which the meeting is held) specifying the date, time and place of the meeting
shall be given to the Warrantholders. Such a meeting may be convened by the Issuer
or by Warrantholders holding not less than ten per cent. of the Warrants for the time
being remaining unexercised.  The quorum at any such meeting for passing an
Extraordinary Resolution will be two or more persons holding or representing not less
than 25 per cent. of the Warrants for the time being remaining unexercised, or at any
adjourned meeting two or more persons being or representing Warrantholders
whatever the number of Warrants so held or represented.

A resolution will be an Extraordinary Resolution when it has been passed at a duly
convened meeting by not less than three-quarters of the votes cast by such
Warrantholders who, being entitled to do so, vote in person or by proxy.

An Extraordinary Resolution passed at any meeting of the Warrantholders shall be
binding on all the Warrantholders, whether or not they are present at the meeting.
Resolutions can be passed in writing if passed unanimously.

(b) Modification.  The Issuer may, without the consent of the Warrantholders, effect (i)
any modification of the provisions of the Warrants or the Instrument which is not
materially prejudicial to the interests of the Warrantholders or (ii) any modification of
the provisions of the Warrants or the Instrument which is of a formal, minor or
technical nature, which is made to correct an obvious error or which is necessary in
order to comply with mandatory provisions of Singapore law.  Any such modification
shall be binding on the Warrantholders and shall be notified to them by the Warrant
Agent before the date such modification becomes effective or as soon as practicable
thereafter in accordance with Condition 9.

9. Notices

(a) Documents.  All cheques and other documents required or permitted by these
Conditions to be sent to a Warrantholder or to which a Warrantholder is entitled or
which the Issuer shall have agreed to deliver to a Warrantholder may be delivered by
hand or sent by post addressed to the Warrantholder at his address appearing in the
records maintained by CDP or, in the case of joint Warrantholders, addressed to the
joint holder first named at his address appearing in the records maintained by CDP,
and airmail post shall be used if that address is not in Singapore.  All documents
delivered or sent in accordance with this paragraph shall be delivered or sent at the
risk of the relevant Warrantholder.

(b) Notices.  All notices to Warrantholders will be validly given if published in English on
the web-site of the SGX-ST. Such notices shall be deemed to have been given on
the date of the first such publication. If publication on the web-site of the SGX-ST is
not practicable, notice will be given in such other manner as the Issuer may
determine. The Issuer shall, at least one month prior to the expiry of any Warrant,
give notice of the date of expiry of such Warrant in the manner prescribed above.
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10. Liquidation

In the event of a liquidation or dissolution of the Company or the appointment of a liquidator
(including a provisional liquidator) or receiver or judicial manager or trustee or administrator or
analogous person under Singapore or other applicable law in respect of the whole or substantially the
whole of its undertaking, property or assets, all unexercised Warrants will lapse and shall cease to be
valid for any purpose, in the case of voluntary liquidation, on the effective date of the relevant
resolution and, in the case of an involuntary liquidation or dissolution, on the date of the relevant
court order or, in the case of the appointment of a liquidator (including a provisional liquidator) or
receiver or judicial manager or trustee or administrator or analogous person under Singapore or other
applicable law in respect of the whole or substantially the whole of its undertaking, property or assets,
on the date when such appointment is effective but subject (in any such case) to any contrary
mandatory requirement of law.  In the event of the voluntary liquidation of the Company, the Issuer
shall make such adjustments or amendments as it reasonably believes are appropriate in the
circumstances.

11. Further Issues

The Issuer shall be at liberty from time to time, without the consent of the Warrantholders, to
create and issue further warrants so as to form a single series with the Warrants.

12. De-Listing

(a) De-Listing.  If at any time, any Shares cease to be listed, traded or publicly quoted on
the Relevant Stock Exchange for any reason and are not immediately re-listed, re-
traded or re-quoted on an exchange, trading system or quotation system acceptable
to  the  Issuer  (“De-Listing”), the Issuer shall give effect to these Conditions in such
manner and make such adjustments and amendments to the rights attaching to the
Warrants as it shall, in its absolute discretion, consider appropriate to ensure, so far
as it is reasonably able to do so, that the interests of the Warrantholders generally
are not materially prejudiced as a consequence of such De-Listing (without
considering the individual circumstances of any Warrantholder or the tax or other
consequences that may result in any particular jurisdiction).

(b) Adjustments.  Without prejudice to the generality of Condition 12(a), where the
Shares are, or, upon the De-Listing, become, listed on any other stock exchange,
these Conditions may, in the absolute discretion of the Issuer, be amended to the
extent necessary to allow for the substitution of that other stock exchange in place of
the Relevant Stock Exchange and the Issuer may, without the consent of the
Warrantholders, make such adjustments to the entitlements of Warrantholders on
exercise (including, if appropriate, by converting foreign currency amounts at
prevailing market rates into the Settlement Currency) as may be appropriate in the
circumstances.

(c) Issuer's Determination.  The Issuer shall determine, in its absolute discretion, any
adjustment or amendment and its determination shall be conclusive and binding on
the Warrantholders save in the case of manifest error.  Notice of any adjustments or
amendments shall be given to the Warrantholders in accordance with Condition 9 as
soon as practicable after they are determined.
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13. Early Termination for Illegality and Force Majeure, etc.

(a) Illegality and Force Majeure, etc.  If the Issuer determines that, for reasons beyond
its control, the performance of its obligations under the Warrants has become illegal
or impractical in whole or in part for any reason, or the Issuer determines that, for
reasons beyond its control, it is no longer legal or practical for it to maintain its
hedging arrangements with respect to the Warrants for any reason, the Issuer may at
its discretion and without obligation terminate the Warrants early by giving notice to
the Warrantholders in accordance with Condition 9.

Should any one or more of the provisions contained in the Conditions be or become
invalid, the validity of the remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected
thereby.

(b) Termination.  If the Issuer terminates the Warrants early, then the Issuer will, if and to
the extent permitted by applicable law, pay an amount to each Warrantholder in
respect of each Warrant held by such holder equal to the fair market value of a
Warrant notwithstanding such illegality or impracticality less the cost to the Issuer of
unwinding any underlying related hedging arrangements, all as determined by the
Issuer in its sole and absolute discretion.  Payment will be made in such manner as
shall be notified to the Warrantholders in accordance with Condition 9.

14. Governing Law

The Warrants, the Instrument and the Warrant Agent Agreement will be governed by and
construed in accordance with Singapore law.  The Issuer and each Warrantholder (by its purchase of
the Warrants) shall be deemed to have submitted for all purposes in connection with the Warrants,
the Instrument and the Warrant Agent Agreement to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of
Singapore.

15. Prescription

Claims against the Issuer for payment of any amount in respect of the Warrants will become
void unless made within six years of the Expiry Date and, thereafter, any sums payable in respect of
such Warrants shall be forfeited and shall revert to the Issuer.

16. Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act, Chapter 53B of Singapore

Unless otherwise provided in the Global Warrant, the Instrument and the Warrant Agent
Agreement, a person who is not a party to any contracts made pursuant to the Global Warrant, the
Instrument and the Warrant Agent Agreement has no rights under the Contracts (Rights of Third
Parties) Act, Chapter 53B of Singapore to enforce any terms of such contracts. Except as expressly
provided herein, the consent of any third party is not required for any subsequent agreement by the
parties hereto to amend or vary (including any release or compromise of any liability) or terminate
such contracts.
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SUMMARY OF THE ISSUE

The following is a summary of the issue and should be read in conjunction with, and is
qualified by reference to, the other information set out in this document and the Base Listing
Document.  Terms used in this Summary are defined in the Conditions.

Issuer: Macquarie Bank Limited

Company: Yanlord Land Group Limited

The Warrants: European Style Cash Settled Call Warrants relating to the Shares

Number: 80,000,000 Warrants

Form: The Warrants will be issued subject to, and with the benefit of, an
instrument by way of deed poll dated 27 June 2012 (the  “Instrument”)
and executed by the Issuer and a master warrant agent agreement
dated 26 November 2004 (the “Warrant Agent Agreement”)  and made
between the Issuer and the Warrant Agent.

Conversion Ratio
(number of Shares per
Warrant):

0.400000 (i.e. every 2.5 Warrants initially relate to 1 Share)

Cash Settlement Amount: In respect of each Warrant, shall be an amount (if positive) payable in
the Settlement Currency equal to:

(A) (i) the arithmetic mean of the closing prices of one Share (as derived
from the daily publications of the Relevant Stock Exchange, subject to
any adjustments to such closing prices determined by the Issuer to be
necessary to reflect any capitalisation, rights issue, distribution or the
like) for each Valuation Date LESS (ii) the Exercise Price MULTIPLIED
by (B) the Conversion Ratio

In certain circumstances, the Conversion Ratio and the Exercise Price
will be adjusted as set out in Condition 6 of the Warrants.

Denominations: Warrants are represented by a global warrant in respect of all the
Warrants.

Exercise: Warrantholders shall not be required to deliver an exercise notice.
Exercise of Warrants shall be determined by whether the Cash
Settlement Amount (less any Exercise Expenses) is positive.  If the
Cash Settlement Amount (less any Exercise Expenses) is positive, all
Warrants shall be deemed to have been automatically exercised at
12:00 noon (Singapore time) on the Expiry Date (or if the Expiry Date is
not a Business Day, the immediately preceding Business Day). The
Cash Settlement Amount less the Exercise Expenses in respect of the
Warrants shall be paid in the manner set out in Condition 4(c) of the
Warrants.  In the event the Cash Settlement Amount (less any Exercise
Expenses) is zero or negative, all Warrants shall be deemed to have
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expired at 12:00 noon (Singapore time) on the Expiry Date (or if the
Expiry Date is not a Business Day, the immediately preceding Business
Day) and Warrantholders shall not be entitled to receive any payment
from the Issuer in respect of the Warrants.

Trading Currency: Singapore dollars

Transfers of Warrants: Warrants may only be transferred in Board Lots (or integral multiples
thereof).  All transfers in Warrants, in the open market or otherwise,
must be effected through a securities account with CDP. Title will pass
upon registration of the transfer in the records of CDP.

Listing: Application has been made to the SGX-ST for permission to deal in and
for quotation of the Warrants and the SGX-ST has agreed in principle to
grant permission to deal in and for quotation of the Warrants.  Issue of
the Warrants is conditional on such listing being granted. It is expected
that dealings in the Warrants on the SGX-ST will commence on or about
28 June 2012.

Governing Law: The laws of Singapore

Warrant Agent: Macquarie Capital Securities (Singapore) Pte. Limited

Further Issues: Further issues which will form a single series with the Warrants will be
permitted.

The above summary is qualified in its entirety by reference to the detailed information
appearing elsewhere in this document and the Base Listing Document.
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RISK FACTORS

The following risk factors are relevant to the Warrants:

investment in Warrants involves substantial risks including market risk, liquidity risk, and the(a)
risk that the Issuer will be unable to satisfy its obligations under the Warrants. Investors
should ensure that they understand the nature of all these risks before making a decision to
invest in the Warrants. You should consider carefully whether Warrants are suitable for you in
light of your experience, objectives, financial position and other relevant circumstances.
Warrants are not suitable for inexperienced investors;

the Warrants constitute direct, general and unsecured contractual obligations of the Issuer(b)
and no  other  person and will  rank  on  a  parity  with  the  Issuer’s  other  unsecured  contractual
obligations  and  with  the  Issuer’s  unsecured  and  unsubordinated  debt  other  than
indebtedness preferred by mandatory provisions of law. Section 13A of the Banking Act of
1959 of Australia provides that, in the event of the Issuer becoming unable to meet its
obligations or suspending payments, the assets of the Issuer in Australia shall be available to
meet the Issuer's deposit liabilities in Australia, as well as other liabilities owed to either the
Reserve Bank of Australia or under an industry support contract certified under section 11CB
of the Banking Act, in priority to all other liabilities of the Issuer (including the obligations of
the Issuer under the Warrants). If you purchase the Warrants you are relying upon the
creditworthiness of the Issuer and have no rights under the Warrants against any other
person. In particular, it should be noted that the Issuer issues a large number of financial
instruments, including Warrants, on a global basis and, at any given time, the financial
instruments outstanding may be substantial. If you purchase the Warrants you are relying
upon the creditworthiness of the Issuer and have no rights under the Warrants against the
company which has issued the underlying shares. The Issuer is not a fiduciary of
Warrantholders (as defined in the Conditions) and has substantially no obligation to a
Warrantholder other than to pay amounts in accordance with the terms thereof as set forth
herein and in the Base Listing Document. The Issuer does not in any respect underwrite or
guarantee the performance of any Warrant. Any profit or loss realised by a Warrantholder in
respect of a Warrant upon exercise or otherwise due to changes in the value of such
Warrant, or the underlying shares, is solely for the account of such Warrantholder. In
addition, the Issuer shall have the absolute discretion to put in place any hedging transaction
or arrangement which it deems appropriate in connection with any Warrant or the underlying
shares. A reduction in the rating, if any, accorded to outstanding debt securities of the Issuer
by any one of its rating agencies could result in a reduction in the trading value of the
Warrants;

the price of the Warrants may fall in value as rapidly as it may rise and Warrantholders may(c)
sustain a total loss of their investment. The risk of losing all or any part of the purchase price
of a Warrant upon the expiry of the Warrants means that, in order to recover and realise a
return on investment, investors in Warrants must generally anticipate correctly the direction,
timing and magnitude of any change in the value of the shares of the underlying company.
Changes in the price of the shares of the underlying company can be unpredictable, sudden
and large and such changes may result in the price of such shares moving in a direction
which will negatively impact upon the return on an investment. In the case of Warrants
relating to shares, certain events relating to such shares or the underlying company may
cause adverse movements in the value and price of the underlying shares, as a result of
which, the Warrantholders may, in certain circumstances, sustain a total loss of their
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investment if, for the Warrants, the price of the underlying shares falls below or is equal to the
exercise price on the expiry date;

due to their nature, the Warrants can be volatile instruments and may be subject to(d)
considerable fluctuations in value. The price of the Warrants may fall in value as rapidly as it
may rise due to, including but not limited to, variations in the frequency and magnitude of the
changes in the price of the underlying shares, dividends and interest rate, the time remaining
to expiry and the creditworthiness of the Issuer;

before exercising or selling the Warrants, the holders of Warrants should carefully consider,(e)
among other things, (i) the trading price of the Warrants; (ii) the value and volatility of the
reference security; (iii) the time remaining to expiration; (iv) the probable range of Cash
Settlement Amounts; (v) any change(s) in interim interest rates and dividend yields; (vi) any
change(s) in currency exchange rates; (vii) the depth of the market or liquidity of the
reference security; (viii) any related transaction costs; and (ix) the creditworthiness of the
Issuer;

fluctuations in the price of the underlying shares will affect the price of the Warrants but not(f)
necessarily in the same magnitude and direction, therefore, prospective investors intending
to purchase Warrants to hedge their market risk associated with investing in the underlying
shares, should recognise the complexities of utilising the Warrants in this manner;

the settlement amount of Warrants at any time prior to the expiry of the Warrants may be less(g)
than the trading price of such Warrants at that time. The difference between the trading price
and  the  settlement  amount  as  the  case  may  be,  will  reflect,  among  other  things,  a  “time
value” for the Warrants. The “time value” of the Warrants will  depend partly upon the length
of the period remaining to the expiry date of the Warrants and expectations concerning the
value of the shares of the underlying company;

investors should note that an investment in the Warrants involves valuation risks in relation to(h)
the underlying asset. The value of the underlying asset may vary over time and may increase
or decrease by reference to various factors, which may include corporate actions, macro
economic factors and market trends. Certain (but not all) events relating to the underlying
shares require or, as the case may be, permit the Issuer to make certain adjustments or
amendments to the Conditions (including, but not limited to, adjusting the Exercise Price (if
applicable) and the Conversion Ratio). However, the Issuer is not required to make an
adjustment for every event that affects the underlying asset. If an event occurs that does not
require the Issuer to adjust the Conversion Ratio or any other part of the Conditions, the
market price of the Warrants and the return upon the exercise of the Warrants may be
affected;

as indicated in the Conditions, a Warrantholder must tender a specified number of Warrants(i)
at any one time in order to exercise. Thus, Warrantholders with fewer than the specified
minimum number of Warrants in a particular series will either have to sell their Warrants or
purchase additional Warrants, incurring transactions costs in each case, in order to realise
their investment;

unless otherwise specified in the Conditions, in the case of any exercise of the Warrants,(j)
there may be a time lag between the date on which the Warrants are exercised and the time
the applicable settlement amount relating to such an event is determined. Any such delay
between the time of exercise and the determination of the settlement amount will be specified
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in the Conditions. However such delay could be significantly longer, particularly in the case of
a delay in the exercise of the Warrants arising from, a determination by the Issuer that a
Market Disruption Event has occurred at any relevant time or that adjustments are required in
accordance with the Conditions. That applicable settlement amount, may change significantly
during any such period, and such movement or movements could decrease or modify the
settlement amount of the Warrants;

if, whilst the Warrants remain unexercised, trading in the underlying shares on the relevant(k)
stock exchange is suspended, trading in the Warrants may be suspended for a similar period;

in the case of the Warrants, certain events relating to the shares of the underlying company(l)
require or, as the case may be, permit the Issuer to make certain adjustments or
amendments to the Conditions, and investors have limited anti-dilution protection under the
Conditions. The Issuer may at its sole discretion adjust the entitlement upon exercise or
valuation of the Warrants for events such as, amongst others, subdivision of the shares of the
underlying company and dividend in specie, however the Issuer is not required to make an
adjustment for every event that may affect the shares of the underlying company;

the Warrants are only exercisable on their expiry date and may not be exercised by(m)
Warrantholders prior to such expiry date.  Accordingly, if on such expiry date the Cash
Settlement Amount (where applicable) is zero or negative, a Warrantholder will lose the value
of his investment;

investors should note that it is not possible to predict the price at which the Warrants will(n)
trade in the secondary market or whether such market will be liquid or illiquid.  A decrease in
the liquidity of the Warrants or the underlying shares related to the Warrants may cause, in
turn, an increase in the volatility associated with the price of such issue of Warrants.  The
Issuer may, but is not obligated to, at any time, purchase Warrants at any price in the open
market or by tender or private agreement.  Any Warrants so purchased may be held or resold
or surrendered for cancellation. As the Warrants are only exercisable on the expiry date, an
investor will not be able to exercise his warrants to realize value in the event that the relevant
issue becomes illiquid;

in the event of any delisting of the Warrants from the SGX-ST (other than at expiry), the(o)
Issuer will use all reasonable efforts to list the Warrants on another exchange. If the Warrants
are not listed or traded on any exchange, pricing information for the Warrants may be difficult
to obtain and the liquidity of the Warrants may be adversely affected;

two or more risk factors may simultaneously have an effect on the value of a Warrant such(p)
that the effect of any individual risk factor may not be predicted. No assurance can be given
as to the effect any combination of risk factors may have on the value of a Warrant;

various potential and actual conflicts of interest may arise from the overall activities of the(q)
Issuer and any of its subsidiaries and affiliates.

The Issuer and any of its subsidiaries and affiliates are diversified financial institutions with
relationships in countries around the world. These entities engage in a wide range of
commercial and investment banking, brokerage, funds management, hedging transactions
and investment and other activities for their own account or the account of others. In addition,
the Issuer and any of its subsidiaries and/or affiliates, in connection with their other business
activities, may possess or acquire material information or publish or issue research reports
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about the underlying shares. Such activities and information may involve or otherwise affect
issuers of underlying shares in a manner that may cause consequences adverse to the
Warrantholders or otherwise create conflicts of interests in connection with the issue of
Warrants by the Issuer. Such actions and conflicts may include, without limitation, the
exercise of voting power, the purchase and sale of securities, financial advisory relationships
and exercise of creditor rights. The Issuer is not a fiduciary of Warrantholders and it and any
of its subsidiaries and affiliates have no obligation to disclose such information about the
underlying shares or such activities. The Issuer and any of its subsidiaries and affiliates and
their officers and directors may engage in any such activities without regard to the issue of
Warrants by the Issuer or the effect that such activities may directly or indirectly have on any
Warrant;

in the ordinary course of their business, including without limitation in connection with the(r)
Issuer  or  its  appointed  designated  market  maker’s  market  making  activities,  the  Issuer  and
any of its respective subsidiaries and affiliates may effect transactions for their own account
or for the account of their customers and hold long or short positions in the underlying shares
or related derivatives. In addition, in connection with the offering of any Warrants, the Issuer
and any of its respective subsidiaries and affiliates may enter into one or more hedging
transactions with respect to the underlying shares or related derivatives. In connection with
such hedging or market-making activities or with respect to proprietary or other trading
activities by the Issuer and any of its respective subsidiaries and its affiliates, the Issuer and
any of its respective subsidiaries and affiliates may enter into transactions in the underlying
shares or related derivatives which may affect the market price, liquidity or value of the
Warrants and which may affect the interests of Warrantholders;

if the Issuer determines in good faith that the performance of its obligations under the(s)
Conditions has become unlawful or impractical in whole or in part, the Issuer may at its sole
and absolute discretion and without obligation, terminate the Warrants prior to the expiry
date, in which event the Issuer to the extent permitted by any relevant applicable law, will pay
to each Warrantholder an amount as determined by the Issuer, in its sole and absolute
discretion, in accordance with the Conditions. If the Issuer terminates the Warrants prior to
the expiry date, the Issuer will, if and to the extent permitted by any relevant applicable law,
pay each Warrantholder an amount to be determined by the Issuer, in its sole and absolute
discretion, to be the fair market value of the Warrants immediately prior to such termination or
otherwise determined as specified in the Conditions, notwithstanding the illegality or
impracticality;

the Issuer may enter into discount, commission or fee arrangements with brokers and/or any(t)
of its affiliates with respect to the primary or secondary market in the Warrants. The
arrangements may result in the benefit to investors in Warrants buying and selling Warrants
through nominated brokers by reducing the commission that was paid directly by those
Warrantholders. Investors in the Warrants should note that any brokers with whom the Issuer
has a commission arrangement does not, and cannot be expected to deal, exclusively in the
Warrants, therefore any broker and/or its subsidiaries or affiliates may from time to time
engage in transactions involving the shares in the underlying company and/or structured
products of other issuers over the same shares in the same underlying company as the
Warrants for their proprietary accounts and/or accounts of their clients. The fact that the
same broker may deal simultaneously for different clients in competing products in the
market place may affect the value of the Warrants and present certain conflicts of interests;
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changes in Singapore tax law and/or policy may adversely affect Warrantholders.(u)
Warrantholders who are in any doubt as to the effects of any such changes should consult
their stockbrokers, bank managers, accountants, solicitors or other professional advisers;

as the Warrants are represented by a global warrant certificate which will be deposited with(v)
the CDP:

investors should note that no definitive certificate will be issued in relation to the(i)
Warrants;

there will be no register of Warrantholders and each person who is for the time being(ii)
shown in the records maintained by CDP as entitled to a particular number of
Warrants by way of interest (to the extent of such number) in the global warrant
certificate in respect of those Warrants represented thereby shall be treated as the
holder of such number of Warrants;

investors will need to rely on any statements received from their brokers/custodians(iii)
as evidence of their interest in the Warrants; and

notices to such Warrantholders will be published on the web-site of the SGX-ST.(iv)
Investors will need to check the web-site of the SGX-ST regularly and/or rely on their
brokers/custodians to obtain such notices; and

the value of the Warrants depends upon, amongst other things, the ability of Issuer to fulfil its(w)
obligations under the terms.

A summary of  the significant  risks  that  affect  the Issuer’s  results  of  operations and financial
condition is set forth below.

Market risk.(i) The Issuer is subject to the risk of loss associated with the level of
volatility and prices in the equity and other markets in which the Issuer operates.
Issuer  and  members  of  the  Issuer’s  group  are  dependent  on  the  level  of  banking,
finance and financial services required by their customers. Since 2008 global equity
and debt markets have experienced some difficult conditions. These challenging
market conditions have resulted in periods of reduced liquidity, extreme volatility and
declining asset prices, as well as greater counterparty credit risk, widening of credit
spreads and lack of price transparency in credit and other markets.

Market conditions also led to the failure of a number of financial institutions and the
intervention of government authorities and central banks around the world.
Notwithstanding some improvement in global economic conditions, conditions remain
difficult and there is no assurance that market conditions will continue to improve. If
the  economic  climate  worsens  in  the  future,  the  Issuer’s  financial  performance,
business or strategy may be adversely affected.

The Issuer and its subsidiaries rely on debt markets for funding their businesses.
Further instability in these markets may affect their ability to access funding,
particularly the ability to issue long-term debt securities, to replace maturing liabilities
in a timely manner and to access the funding necessary to grow their businesses. In
addition, an increase in credit spreads may increase the cost of funding. Further,
volatile and deteriorating markets may reduce activity and the flow of transactions,
which  may  adversely  impact  the  Issuer’s  financial  performance.  Other  risks
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associated with funding are over reliance on a particular funding source or a
simultaneous increase in funding costs across a broad range of sources.

The  profitability  of  the  Issuer’s  businesses  could  be  adversely  affected  by  a
worsening of general economic conditions in its markets, as well as by Australian
and offshore trading market conditions and/or related factors, including competition
from other financial institutions and governmental policies and initiatives.

In poor market conditions, the Issuer and its subsidiaries may be required to hold
investment assets for longer, or sell these assets at a lower price than historically
expected and this may impact the rate of return on these assets and require funding
for longer periods than anticipated. This may include situations where potential
buyers of the investment assets are unable to obtain financing to purchase assets
that the Issuer and its subsidiaries currently hold or purchase.

Any decline in global asset markets, including equity, property, and other asset
markets, or in market liquidity, could adversely impact the Issuer's results of
operations and financial condition. In addition, a decline in asset prices could
negatively impact the fees received from funds management.

Furthermore, declining asset prices could adversely impact customers and the
security held against loans, which may impact the Issuer's results of operations due
to default. These risks may impact the value of financial instruments and other
financial assets that are carried at fair market value.

Capital market volatility may require the Issuer and its subsidiaries to make
writedowns of their funds management assets and other investments and loan
impairment provisions. This would impact the Issuer's financial performance.

Credit and liquidity risk.(ii) The Issuer is exposed to the risk that it may become unable
to meet its financial commitments when they fall due, which could arise due to
mismatches  in  cashflows.  Liquidity  is  essential  to  the  Issuer’s  businesses.  Liquidity
could be impaired by an inability to access credit and debt markets, an inability to sell
assets or unforeseen outflows of cash or collateral. In difficult credit and debt
markets the Issuer may be forced to find alternative funding sources or fund its
operations at a higher cost.

As the global economic crisis emerged, governments and central banks around the
globe implemented relief measures in an attempt to restore confidence in financial
systems and bolster economic growth. There can be no assurance, however, that
such measures will result in a sustained long-term stabilisation of financial markets.
In addition, governments have begun to withdraw or alter their support of such relief
measures and it is not clear what effect these actions or the consequential impacts of
substantial fiscal stimulus on the budgets of sovereigns will have on global economic
conditions or the Issuer's financial condition. If access to public bond markets over
the medium term worsens, and other existing avenues of term funding become
unavailable, the Issuer may need to consider selling liquid assets.

The commercial soundness of many financial institutions may be closely interrelated
as a result of credit, trading, clearing or other relationships among the financial
institutions. As a result, concerns, whether well-founded or not, about, or default by,
any large financial institution, or by a sovereign that guarantees the indebtedness or
other commercial transactions of such an institution, could cause further market-wide
liquidity problems which may adversely affect financial institutions such as the Issuer.
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The Issuer is also exposed to credit risk on its trading and other counterparties.  The
Issuer and its subsidiaries assume counterparty risk in connection with their lending,
trading, derivatives and other businesses where they rely on the ability of a third
party to satisfy its financial obligations on a timely basis.  The resultant credit
exposure will depend on a number of factors, including the financial condition of the
counterparty, the value of property held as collateral, the market value of the
counterparty instruments and obligations held, as well as the extent to which the
Issuer and its subsidiaries hedge such credit exposures.

Legal, regulatory, compliance and documentation risk.(iii) Some  of  the  Issuer’s
businesses are highly regulated, including regulation relating to prudential and
liquidity requirements, and the Issuer could be adversely affected by changes in
legal, regulatory and compliance requirements (including requirements relating to
licensing and the management of conflicts of interest). In particular, any change in
regulation of the Issuer to increase the requirements for capital adequacy or liquidity,
or  a  change  in  accounting  standards,  could  have  an  adverse  affect  on  the  Issuer’s
businesses.

The Issuer is also exposed to the risk of inappropriate documentation of contractual
relationships.

New business, acquisitions and mergers and future growth risk.(iv) A feature of the
operating strategy of the Issuer is growth and diversification. Future growth, including
through acquisitions, mergers and other corporate transactions, as well as planned
business initiatives and expansions of existing businesses into new jurisdictions may
place  significant  demands  on  the  Issuer’s  risk  management  and  operational
infrastructure. This activity may also bring the Issuer and its subsidiaries into contact,
directly or indirectly, with individuals and entities that are new clients, with new asset
classes and other new products or new markets. These business activities expose
the Issuer and its subsidiaries to new and enhanced risks including reputation risks
arising from dealing with a range of new counterparties and investors.

With respect to acquisitions, the Issuer and its subsidiaries may become subject to
unknown liabilities of an acquired business, may not achieve expected synergies,
cost savings or may otherwise incur losses. There may be a loss of market share or
customers, or disruptions to operations and management time may be diverted to
facilitate the integration of acquired businesses.

Credit ratings risk.(v) The Issuer and other related entities are assigned credit ratings
by various rating agencies based on an evaluation of a number of factors, including
their ability to maintain a stable and diverse earnings stream, strong capital ratios,
strong credit quality and risk management controls, diverse funding sources and
disciplined liquidity monitoring procedures. If one or more of these credit ratings were
downgraded this could have the effect of increasing the cost of funds raised from
financial  markets,  reducing  the  Issuer’s  ability  to  access  certain  capital  markets,
triggering  the  Issuer’s  obligations  under  certain  of  its  contracts,  or  adversely
impacting the willingness of counterparties to deal with the Issuer. A rating
downgrade could be driven by the occurrence of one or more of the risk factors
described in this document or by other events.

Interest and exchange rate risks.  Interest rate risk arises from a variety of sources(vi)
including mismatches between the repricing periods of assets and liabilities. As a
result of these mismatches, movements in interest rates can affect the Issuer’s affect
earnings.
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The Issuer's financial statements are presented in Australian dollars. However a
portion of the Issuer's operating income is derived from offshore business activities,
which are conducted in a broad range of currencies. As such, changes in currency
exchange rates may adversely impact the Issuer's financial results, its operations
and its regulatory capital and funding position. Further, where the Issuer and
subsidiaries conduct business activities offshore, capital and funding are generally
deployed locally and thus the Issuer’s capital is held in, and funding is sourced from,
a broad range of currencies.

Operational risk.  The daily operations of the Issuer and its subsidiaries may result in(vii)
financial loss, adverse regulatory consequences or reputational damage due to a
variety of operational risks including business decisions, technology risk (including
failure of business systems, including those of its counterparties and service
providers), fraud, compliance with legal and regulatory obligations, counterparty
performance, business continuity planning, legal and litigation risk, environmental
obligations, data integrity and processing risk, managing conflicts of interests and
key person risk.

Staff recruitment and retention.  The Issuer and its subsidiaries are reliant on the(viii)
ability to hire and retain appropriately qualified staff. In order to do this, employees
must be compensated at or above market levels. Current or future laws or regulatory
or public scrutiny may restrict the ability to move staff from one jurisdiction to another
or change the way employees are remunerated. If the Issuer and its subsidiaries are
unable  to  continue  to  attract  and  retain  qualified  employees,  the  Issuer’s
performance, including its competitive position, could be materially adversely
affected.

Tax risk.  The Issuer’s business operations expose the Issuer to unforeseen potential(ix)
tax  liabilities  that  could  have  an  adverse  impact  on  the  Issuer’s  results  of  operation
and the Issuer’s reputation.

Reputational risk.  The Issuer is substantially dependent on its brand and reputation.(x)
If the Issuer suffers damage to its reputation, including damage to the brands used
by the Issuer and the funds it manages, for instance, as a result of a conflict of
interest, this could reduce business volume as clients might be reluctant to do
business with the Issuer due to negative perceptions. This would adversely impact
the Issuer's earnings.

Poor performance of funds.  The Issuer's financial condition and results of operation(xi)
are directly and indirectly affected by the results of the funds or the assets it and
other members of the Issuer group manage.   As such, poor performance of funds
may cause a decline in the Issuer's revenue and results of operations, may adversely
affect  the  ability  to  raise  capital  for  future  funds  and  may  also  affect  the  Issuer’s
brand and reputation.
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INFORMATION RELATING TO THE COMPANY

All information contained in this document regarding the Company, including, without limitation, its
financial information, is derived from publicly available information which appears on the web-site of
the SGX-ST at http://www.sgx.com. The Issuer has not independently verified any of such
information.

Yanlord Land Group Limited (“Yanlord Land”  or the “Company”)  was incorporated in Singapore on
13 February 2006 under the name Yanlord Land Group Pte Ltd and adopted its present name on 11
May 2006.

Yanlord Land Group Limited is a real estate developer based in China that focuses on developing
high-end residential property projects in selected key and high-growth cities in China, such as
Shanghai and Nanjing.

Since its establishment in 1993, Yanlord Land has grown from a start-up property developer with one
development project comprising 53,049 sq m of gross floor area to become one of the major players
in the high-end property development market in seven cities in China.

Yanlord Land has expanded the geographical reach of its residential property development business
into  Chengdu,  Tianjin,  Zhuhai,  Suzhou  and  Guiyang.  The  company’s  residential  property
developments are typically large-scale and multi-phased projects.

The Group has also recently begun the development of high-grade commercial properties, such as
office buildings, retail space and serviced apartments, for sale and lease. In addition, the Group also
provides property management services primarily for the projects it develops.

The information set out in Appendix I of this document relates to the unaudited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the first quarter ended 31 March 2012 and has
been extracted and reproduced from an announcement by the Company dated 14 May 2012 in
relation to the same. Further information relating to the Company may be located on the web-site of
the SGX-ST at http://www.sgx.com.

 

http://www.sgx.com
http://www.sgx.com
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INFORMATION RELATING TO THE DESIGNATED MARKET MAKER

Macquarie Capital Securities (Singapore) Pte. Limited (“MCSSP”) has been appointed the designated
market  maker  (“DMM”)  for  the  Warrants.  The  DMM will  provide  competitive  buy  and  sell  quotes  for
the Warrants continuously during the trading hours of the SGX-ST on the following basis:

(a) Maximum bid and offer spread : 10 times the minimum permitted price movement
in the Warrants in accordance with the rules of
the SGX-ST or SGD 0.20, whichever is the
greater

(b) Minimum quantity subject to bid and
offer spread

: 10,000 Warrants

(c) Last Trading Day for Market Making : The date falling five Business Days immediately
preceding the Expiry Date

Quotations will/may however not be provided by the DMM in the following circumstances:

during the pre-market opening and five minutes following the opening of the SGX-ST on any(i)
trading day;

if  the  Warrant  is  valueless  (where  the  Issuer’s  bid  price  is  below  the minimum bid size for(ii)
such securities as prescribed by the SGX-ST), the DMM will not provide the bid price. In such
an instance, the DMM will provide the offer price only;

when trading in the Shares is suspended or limited in a material way;(iii)

when the Issuer or DMM faces technical problems affecting the ability of the DMM to provide(iv)
the bid and offer prices;

when the ability of the Issuer to source a hedge or unwind an existing hedge, as determined(v)
by the Issuer in good faith, is materially affected by the prevailing market conditions. The
Issuer will inform the SGX-ST of its inability to do so as soon as practicable;

in cases where the Issuer has no Warrants to sell, the DMM will only provide the bid price;(vi)

when the stock market experiences exceptional price movements and volatility; and(vii)

when it is a public holiday in Singapore and the SGX-ST is not open for dealings.(viii)

History and Business

MCSSP holds a Capital Markets Services License issued by the Monetary Authority of Singapore and
is a trading member of SGX-ST as well as a Clearing Member of the CDP.  Under the Capital
Markets Services License, MCSSP is permitted to deal in securities and provide custodial services as
well as act as an exempt financial adviser.  Its principal activities are those relating to the provision of
stock and share broking services, prescribed under the rules and regulations of the SGX-ST, and
related securities research services. MCSSP is a wholly owned subsidiary of Macquarie NE Holdings
(Singapore) Pte. Limited and its ultimate holding company is Macquarie Group Limited.
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SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION RELATING TO THE ISSUER

The Macquarie Bank Limited 2012 Financial Report is set out in Appendix II of this document and has
been extracted from the Macquarie Bank 2012 Annual Report. References to page numbers in
Appendix II are to page numbers of the Macquarie Bank 2012 Annual Report. Copies of the
Macquarie Bank 2012 Annual Report can be obtained at the office of Macquarie Capital Securities
(Singapore) Pte. Limited at 10 Marina Boulevard, #17-01 Marina Bay Financial Centre Tower 2,
Singapore 018983, and viewed at www.macquarie.com.au.

On  12  March  2012,  Fitch  Ratings  changed  Macquarie  Bank  Limited’s  Long-Term  Issuer  Default
Rating (“IDR”) to 'A' from 'A+' and affirmed its Short-Term IDR at 'F-1'. The Outlook on the Long-Term
IDR is Stable.

On 16 March 2012, Moody's Investors Service changed Macquarie Bank Limited’s long-term rating to
'A2' from 'A1' and affirmed its short-term rating at 'P-1'. The Outlook for both the long-term rating and
the short-term rating is Stable.

For more information on the Issuer, please see www.macquarie.com.

Queries regarding the Warrants may be directed to 1800 288 2880 (Toll Free) or +65 6601 0289
(International) or info@warrants.com.sg.

 

http://www.macquarie.com.au
http://www.macquarie.com
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SALE

General

No action has been or will be taken by the Issuer that would permit a public offering of the
Warrants or possession or distribution of any offering material in relation to the Warrants in any
jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. No offers, sales or deliveries of any Warrants, or
distribution of any offering material relating to the Warrants may be made in or from any jurisdiction
except in circumstances which will result in compliance with any applicable laws or regulations and
will not impose any obligation on the Issuer. In the event that the Issuer contemplates a placing,
placing fees may be payable in connection with the issue and the Issuer may at its discretion allow
discounts to placees.

United Kingdom

In relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area (including the United
Kingdom) which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a “Relevant Member State”), with
effect from and including the date on which the Prospectus Directive is implemented in that Relevant
Member  State  (the  “Relevant Implementation Date”) no offer of Warrants to the public in that
Relevant Member State may be made prior to the publication of a prospectus in relation to
the Warrants which has been approved by the competent authority in that Relevant Member State or,
where appropriate, approved in another Relevant Member State and notified to the competent
authority in that Relevant Member State, all in accordance with the Prospectus Directive, except that,
with effect from and including the Relevant Implementation Date, an offer of Warrants to the public in
that Relevant Member State may be made at any time:

(a) to legal entities which are authorised or regulated to operate in the financial markets or, if not
so authorised or regulated, whose corporate purpose is solely to invest in securities;

(b) to any legal entity which has two or more of (1) an average of at least 250 employees during
the last financial year; (2) a total balance sheet of more than EUR 43,000,000 and (3) an annual net
turnover of more than EUR 50,000,000, as shown in its last annual or consolidated accounts; or

(c) in any other circumstances which do not require the publication by the Issuer of a prospectus
pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive.

For  the  purposes  of  this  provision,  the  expression  an  “offer of Warrants to the public”  in
relation to any Warrants in any Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by
any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Warrants to be offered so as to
enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe the Warrants, as the same may be varied in
that Member State by any measure implementing the Prospectus Directive in that Member State and
the  expression  “Prospectus Directive” means Directive 2003/71/EC (and amendments thereto,
including the 2010 PD Amending Directive, to the extent implemented in the Relevant Member
State), and includes any relevant implementing measure in the Relevant Member State, and the
expression “2010 PD Amending Directive” means Directive 2010/73/EU.

 
In  addition,  all  applicable  provisions  of  the  Financial  Services  and  Markets  Act  2000  (the  “

FSMA”)  must  be  complied  with  in  respect  of  anything  done  in  relation  to  any  Warrants  in,  from  or
otherwise involving the United Kingdom. An invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity
(within the meaning of Section 21 of the FSMA) may only be communicated or caused to be
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communicated in connection with the issue or sale of any Warrants in circumstances in which Section
21(1) of the FSMA would not, if the Issuer was not an authorised person, apply to the Issuer.

United States of America

The Warrants have not been, and will not be, registered under the Securities Act. Subject to
certain exceptions, Warrants, or interests therein, may not at any time be offered, sold, resold or
delivered, directly or indirectly, in the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, any U.S.
person or to others for offering, sale or resale in the United States or to any such U.S. person. Offers
and sales of Warrants, or interests therein, in the United States or to U.S. persons would constitute a
violation of United States securities laws unless made in compliance with registration requirements of
the Securities Act or pursuant to an exemption therefrom. As used herein, “United States” means the
United States of America (including the States and the District of Columbia), its territories, its
possessions  and  other  areas  subject  to  its  jurisdiction;  and  “U.S. person”  means  any  citizen  or
resident of the United States, including any corporation, partnership or other entity created or
organised in or under the laws of the United States or of any political subdivision thereof, any estate
or trust the income of which is subject to United States income taxation regardless of its source, and
any other “U.S. person” as such term is defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act.

Singapore

This document has not been registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of
Singapore. Accordingly, this document and any other document or material in connection with the
offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of Warrants may not be circulated or
distributed, nor may Warrants be offered or sold, or be made the subject of an invitation for
subscription or purchase, whether directly or indirectly, to persons in Singapore other than pursuant
to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any applicable provision of the Securities and Futures
Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore.

Hong Kong
Each distributor, purchaser or subscriber of the Warrants has represented and agreed that it

has not issued or had in its possession for the purposes of issue, and will not issue, or have in its
possession for the purposes of issue, whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere, any advertisement,
invitation or document relating to the Warrants, which is directed at, or the contents of which are likely
to be accessed or read by, the public in Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the securities
laws of Hong Kong) other than with respect to Warrants which are or are intended to be disposed of
only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to “professional investors” as defined in the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong and any rules made under that Ordinance.

Commonwealth of Australia

This document is not a prospectus, product disclosure statement or any other disclosure
document for  the  purposes  of the  Corporations  Act  2001  (Cth)  (the  “Act”).  This  document  has  not
been, and will not be, lodged with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, ASX
Limited or any other government agency in Australia.  Each Warrantholder will be required to
represent and agree that, unless the applicable final terms otherwise provides, it:

has not offered or invited applications, and will not make any offer, or invite applications, for(a)
the issue, sale or purchase of any Warrant in Australia (including an offer or invitation which
is received by a person in Australia); and
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has not distributed or published, and will not distribute or publish, this document, any(b)
addendum to the Base Listing Document and this document or any other offering material or
advertisement relating to any Warrant in Australia,

Unless:

(a) the  offeree  or  invitee  is  a  “wholesale  client”,  “sophisticated  investor”  or  “professional  investor”
(as defined in the Act);

(b) the minimum aggregate consideration payable by each offeree or invitee is at least A$500,000
(or its equivalent in other currencies but disregarding moneys lent by the offeror or its
associates); or

(c) the offer or invitation otherwise does not require disclosure to investors in accordance with Part
6D.2 or Chapter 7 of the Act.

Section 708(19) of the Act provides that an offer of debentures for issue or sale does not need
disclosure to investors under Part 6D.2 of the Act if the issuer is an Australian authorised deposit-
taking institution (“ADI”). As at the date of this document, the Issuer is an ADI.
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SUPPLEMENTAL GENERAL INFORMATION

The information set out herein is supplemental to, and should be read in conjunction with, the
information set out on page 110 of the Base Listing Document.

1. Settlement of trades done on a normal “ready basis” on the SGX-ST generally takes place on
the third Business Day following the transaction. Dealing in the Warrants will take place in
Board Lots in Singapore dollars. For further details on the transfer of Warrants and their
exercise, please refer to the section headed “Summary of the Issue” above.

2. It is not the current intention of the Issuer to apply for a listing of the Warrants on any stock
exchange other than the SGX-ST.

3. The Issuer is a subsidiary of Macquarie Group Limited. Macquarie Group Limited, with its
controlled entities ("Macquarie Group"), is a large diversified Australian-based financial
institution with a long and successful history. Like any financial institution, Macquarie Group
has been subject to legal claims most of which have lapsed without liability.

The Issuer has contingent liabilities in respect of actual and potential claims and proceedings
that have not been determined. An assessment of likely losses is made on a case-by-case
basis for the purposes of its financial statements and specific provisions that it considers
appropriate are made, as described in Note 36 to its 2012 annual financial statements.

On December 22, 2010, ASIC commenced legal proceedings in the Federal Court of Australia
against a number of banking institutions, including the Issuer. In one set of proceedings, ASIC
is seeking compensation for investors arising out of the collapse of Storm Financial Limited ("
Storm") for an alleged breach of contract, contravention of the statutory prohibitions against
unconscionable conduct and liability as linked credit providers of Storm under section 73 of the
Trade Practices Act 1974 of Australia. In another set of proceedings, ASIC alleges that there
was an unregistered managed investment scheme in which the relevant banks were involved.

Representative legal action has also been brought through a private law firm in the same court
claiming an unregistered managed investment scheme involving Storm on a similar basis as
ASIC’s action and claiming compensation for those investors. As at the date of the Base Listing
Document, the proceedings are progressing through a pre-trial process. The Issuer denies
liability with respect to these claims.

Save as disclosed in the preceding two paragraphs, there are no, nor have there been, any
governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any proceedings which are pending
or threatened of which the Issuer or the Macquarie Group is aware) in the 12 month period
prior to the date of the Base Listing Document which may have or have had a significant effect
on the financial position or profitability of the Issuer.

4. To the best of the Issuer's knowledge, there has been no adverse change, material in the
context of the issue of the Warrants, in the financial position of the Issuer since 31 March 2012.

5. The following contracts, relating to the issue of the Warrants, have been or will be entered into
by the Issuer and may be material to the issue of the Warrants:

(a) the Instrument; and
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(b) the Warrant Agent Agreement.

None of the directors of the Issuer has any direct or indirect interest in any of the above
contracts.

6. The Warrants are not fully covered by Shares held by Issuer or a trustee for and on behalf of
the Issuer. The Issuer has appropriate risk management capabilities to manage the issue of
the Warrants.

7. Copies of the following documents may be inspected during usual business hours on any
weekday (Saturdays, Sundays and holidays excepted) at the office of Macquarie Capital
Securities (Singapore) Pte. Limited at 10 Marina Boulevard, #17-01 Marina Bay Financial
Centre Tower 2, Singapore 018983, until the expiry of the Warrants:

the Constitution of the Issuer;(a)

the 2011 and 2012 annual reports of the Issuer;(b)

the Instrument;(c)

the Warrant Agent Agreement; and(d)

the Base Listing Document.(e)

 



APPENDIX I 
 

REPRODUCTION OF THE UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FIRST QUARTER ENDED 31 MARCH 2012 OF 

YANLORD LAND GROUP LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 

The information set out below is a reproduction of the unaudited consolidated financial 

statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the first quarter ended 31 March 2012 and 

has been extracted and reproduced from an announcement by the Company dated 14 May 

2012 in relation to the same. 
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 UNAUDITED FIRST QUARTER FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE PERIOD 

ENDED 31 MARCH 2012 

 

PART I – INFORMATION REQUIRED FOR ANNOUNCEMENTS OF QUARTERLY (Q1, Q2, Q3 

AND Q4), HALF YEAR AND FULL YEAR RESULTS 

 

1(a) An income statement (for the Group), together with a comparative statement for the 

corresponding period of the immediately preceding financial year. 

 

Unaudited Group Income Statements for the Period Ended 31 March 2012 

   % 

Change  1Q 2012 1Q 2011 Change 

 RMB’000 RMB’000 + / (-) 

Revenue 466,053 2,932,974 (84) 

Cost of sales (295,697) (1,989,374) (85) 

Gross profit 170,356 943,600 (82) 

Other operating income 173,340 48,658 256 

Selling expenses (31,926) (35,916) (11) 

Administrative expenses (89,348) (108,269) (17) 

Other operating expenses (1,014) (1,268) (20) 

Finance cost (35,985) (62,106) (42) 

Share of loss of jointly controlled entities (819) (498)  64 

Profit before income tax 184,604 784,201 (76) 

Income tax (48,043) (361,553) (87) 

Profit for the period 136,561 422,648 (68) 

    

Profit attributable to:    

Equity holders of the Company 135,637 267,882 (49) 

Non-controlling interests 924 154,766 (99) 

 136,561 422,648 (68) 
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 Profit before income tax was arrived at after charging / (crediting) the following: 

 1Q 2012 1Q 2011 

 RMB’000 RMB’000 

 (Unaudited) (Unaudited) 

Depreciation expense 8,207 6,899 

Fair value gain on held-for-trading investment (1,065) (94) 

Finance cost 35,985 62,106 

Interest income (8,463) (11,267) 

Net (gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (6,435) 35 

Net loss on disposal of investment properties 61 223 

Net foreign exchange gain (132,463) (34,843) 

 

Revenue and cost of sales 

Total pre-contracted sales grew by 28.8% or RMB1.549 billion to RMB6.927 billion as at 31 March 

2012 as compared with RMB5.378 billion as at 31 December 2011.  These pre-contracted sales are 

expected to be progressively recognised as revenue in the subsequent quarters. 

 

In line with the Group’s delivery schedule, a lower gross floor area (“GFA”) was delivered in 1Q 2012.  

As such, revenue of the Group, net of business tax, declined to RMB466 million in 1Q 2012 from 

RMB2.933 billion in 1Q 2011.  Average selling price (“ASP”) per square metre (“sqm”) was higher 

in 1Q 2012 over the corresponding period in 2011 mainly attributable to a change in composition of 

product mix to include higher priced projects such as Yanlord Townhouse (仁恒怡庭) in Shanghai 

and Yanlord Riverside Plaza (Phase 1) (海河广场一期) in Tianjin as compared to the inaugural 

delivery of Yanlord Yangtze Riverbay Town (Phase 1) (仁恒江湾城一期) in Nanjing in 1Q 2011. 

 

Cost of sales, which mainly included land, construction and capitalised borrowing costs, decreased 

to RMB296 million in 1Q 2012 from RMB1.989 billion in 1Q 2011, in tandem with the lower GFA 

delivered to customers. 

 

Another contributor to the revenue was from the rental of investment properties, provision of 

property management services and other ancillary services. 

 

Other operating income 

Other operating income, which mainly included net foreign exchange gain and government 

subsidies, grew by RMB125 million to RMB173 million in 1Q 2012 as compared to 1Q 2011.  The 
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 increase was primarily due to a net foreign exchange gain arising from a depreciation of the 

Company’s US$ denominated senior notes against its S$ functional currency as well as an increase 

in subsidies from various PRC government authorities in recognition of Yanlord’s outstanding 

contribution in product developments towards the local economy and efforts towards developing 

quality residential and commercial real estates, such as projects in Bamboo Gardens (翠竹园) in 

Nanjing and Yanlord Landmark (仁恒置地广场) in Chengdu. 

 

Selling expenses 

Selling expenses, which mainly included staff costs, advertising and promotion expenses, 

decreased by RMB4 million to RMB32 million in 1Q 2012 as compared to 1Q 2011 mainly 

attributable to lower marketing expenses. 

 

Administrative expenses 

Administrative expenses, which mainly included staff costs, utilities, entertainment, professional 

fees, other tax, rental and depreciation, decreased by RMB19 million to RMB89 million in 1Q 2012 

over the same period in 2011 principally attributable to the decline in staff bonuses. 

 

Other operating expenses 

Other operating expenses remained constant at RMB1 million in both 1Q 2012 and 1Q 2011. 

 

Finance cost 

Finance cost, net of capitalised interest, declined by RMB26 million to RMB36 million in 1Q 2012 

over the corresponding period in 2011.  The lower finance cost in 1Q 2012 was mainly a result of a 

decrease in the interest expense on senior notes due 2017 charged to the finance cost in the 

income statement as all the funds had been utilised to finance property development projects and 

thus capitalised in current reporting period.  In accordance with the Group’s accounting policy, the 

finance cost used to finance the development of the Group’s properties was capitalised.  Hence, 

the finance cost recorded in the income statements for a given period may not be reflective of the 

Group’s actual level of borrowings. 

 

Income tax 

The Group’s income tax, which included statutory enterprise income tax, land appreciation tax and 

dividend withholding tax, decreased by RMB314 million to RMB48 million in 1Q 2012 as compared 

to 1Q 2011, in line with the movement of gross profit and profit before income tax.
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 1(b)(i) A statement of financial position (for the issuer and Group), together with a 

comparative statement as at the end of the immediately preceding financial year. 

 

Statements of Financial Position as at 31 March 2012 

 GROUP COMPANY 

 31.03.2012 31.12.2011 31.03.2012 31.12.2011 

 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 

 (Unaudited) (Audited) (Unaudited) (Audited) 

ASSETS     

Non-current assets     

Property, plant and equipment 763,992 768,468 - - 

Investment properties 7,082,986 7,079,370 - - 

Properties for development 20,267,786 19,728,223 - - 

Investments in subsidiaries - - 2,585,201 2,508,521 

Investment in an associate - - - - 

Investments in jointly controlled entities 340,894 341,713 - - 

Available-for-sale investment 49,348 49,348 - - 

Intangible asset 613 613 - - 

Deferred tax assets 147,269 138,114 - - 

Total non-current assets 28,652,888 28,105,849 2,585,201 2,508,521 

     
Current assets     

Inventories 17,794 12,827 - - 

Completed properties for sale 1,908,942 2,125,680 - - 

Properties under development for sale 17,837,006 16,674,133 - - 

Trade receivables 31,666 31,571 - - 

Other receivables and deposits 329,112 233,804 4 268 

Non-trade amounts due from:     

Subsidiaries - - 12,115,569 12,024,249 

Associate 135 131 - - 

Jointly controlled entities 22 - - - 

Non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries 451,684 451,978 - - 

Other related party 567 486 - - 

Held-for-trading investment 5,777 4,712 - - 

Pledged bank deposits 2,565 5,092 - - 

Cash and cash equivalents 4,404,185 4,273,644 3,355 1,502 

Total current assets 24,989,455 23,814,058 12,118,928 12,026,019 

Total assets 53,642,343 51,919,907 14,704,129 14,534,540 
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  GROUP COMPANY 

 31.03.2012 31.12.2011 31.03.2012 31.12.2011 

 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 

 (Unaudited) (Audited) (Unaudited) (Audited) 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     

Capital and reserves     

Share capital 7,261,726 7,261,726 7,261,726 7,261,726 

Reserves 7,513,786 7,553,064 13,088 (179,022) 

Equity attributable to equity holders of      

  the Company 14,775,512 14,814,790 7,274,814 7,082,704 

Non-controlling interests 9,368,018 9,216,095 - - 

Total capital and reserves 24,143,530 24,030,885 7,274,814 7,082,704 

     

Non-current liabilities     

Bank loans – due after one year 7,615,761 7,362,137 - 284,653 

Senior notes 4,325,396 4,327,241 4,325,396 4,327,241 

Deferred tax liabilities 983,258 968,712 - - 

Non-trade amount due to: 

 

    

Non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries 216,000 216,000 - - 

Total non-current liabilities 13,140,415 12,874,090 4,325,396 4,611,894 

     

Current liabilities     

Bank loans – due within one year 3,217,404 2,947,693 447,169 147,900 

Convertible notes 1,719,397 1,790,388 1,719,397 1,790,388 

Trade payables 3,281,524 3,301,308 - - 

Other payables 5,231,789 3,868,406 106,143 157,144 

Non-trade amounts due to:     

Subsidiary - - 721,545 713,330 

Directors 32,666 31,222 32,633 31,180 

Shareholder 77,032 - 77,032 - 

Non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries 175,698 241,649 - - 

Income tax payable 2,622,888 2,834,266 - - 

Total current liabilities 16,358,398 15,014,932 3,103,919 2,839,942 

Total equity and liabilities 53,642,343 51,919,907 14,704,129 14,534,540 
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 1(b)(ii) Aggregate amount of Group’s borrowings and debt securities 

 GROUP 

 As at 31.03.2012 As at 31.12.2011 

 RMB’000 RMB’000 

 (Unaudited) (Unaudited) 

Amount repayable in one year or less, or on demand:-   

Secured 2,508,560 2,549,793 

Unsecured 2,630,148 2,314,181 

Sub-total 1 5,138,708 4,863,974 

   

Amount repayable after one year:-   

Secured  5,951,669 5,410,453 

Unsecured 6,185,488 6,474,925 

Sub-total 2 12,137,157 11,885,378 

   

Total debt 17,275,865 16,749,352 

 

Details of any collateral 

Secured borrowings are generally secured by the borrowing companies’ construction-in-progress, 

investment properties, properties for development, properties under development for sale and 

completed properties for sale. 
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 1(c) A statement of cash flows (for the Group), together with a comparative statement for the 

corresponding period of the immediately preceding financial year. 

 

Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Period Ended 31 March 2012 

 1Q 2012 1Q 2011 

 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Operating activities   

Profit before income tax 184,604 784,201 

Adjustments for:   

Depreciation expense 8,207 6,899 

Fair value gain on held-for-trading investment (1,065) (94) 

Finance cost 35,985 62,106 

Interest income (8,463) (11,267) 

Net (gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (6,435) 35 

Net loss on disposal of investment properties 61 223 

Payable written off (10,774) - 

Share of loss of jointly controlled entities 819 498 

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 202,939 842,601 

   

Properties for development (429,099) (754,233) 

Inventories (4,967) (2,964) 

Completed properties for sale 216,737 34,250 

Properties under development for sale (968,910) 903,568 

Trade and other receivables and deposits (89,261) 45,993 

Trade and other payables 1,384,690 (1,180,133) 

Cash generated from (used in) operations 312,129 (110,918) 

   

Interest paid (361,457) (152,212) 

Income tax paid (254,029) (285,191) 

Net cash used in operating activities (303,357) (548,321) 
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  1Q 2012 1Q 2011 

 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Investing activities   

Interest received 5,830 9,977 

Decrease in pledged bank deposits 2,527 353 

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 8,818 5,062 

Proceeds on disposal of investment properties 60,385 6,081 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (5,615) (7,859)  

Payment for investment properties (4,764) - 

Advance to jointly controlled entities (22) (28) 

Repayment from (Advance to) non-controlling shareholders of 

subsidiaries 93,283 (1,380) 

Net cash from investing activities 160,442 12,206 

   

Financing activities   

Dividend paid to a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary (150,187) (8,470) 

Net proceeds on issue of new shares under Pre-IPO Share  

Option Scheme - 3,847 

Net proceeds on issue of senior notes - 2,580,497 

Proceeds from bank loans 1,009,341 1,468,800 

Repayment of bank loans (507,964) (440,500) 

Redemption of convertible notes (119,489) - 

Advance from directors 1,444 8,191 

Advance from a shareholder 77,008 - 

(Repayment to) Advance from non-controlling shareholders of 

subsidiaries (55,911) 60 

Cash injection from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries 144,928 - 

Net cash from financing activities 399,170 3,612,425 

    

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 256,255 3,076,310 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 4,273,644 5,814,453 

Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in  

foreign currencies (125,714) (56,599) 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 4,404,185 8,834,164 
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 1(d) A statement of comprehensive income (for the issuer and Group), together with a 

comparative statement for the corresponding period of the immediately preceding 

financial year. 

 

Unaudited Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Period Ended 31 March 2012 

 

 GROUP COMPANY 

 1Q 2012 1Q 2011 1Q 2012 1Q 2011 

 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Profit (Loss) for the period 136,561 422,648 (24,219) (9,688) 

Other comprehensive (expense) 

income: 

   

 

Currency translation difference (167,950) (22,144) 216,329 108,130 

Other comprehensive (expense) 

income for the period (167,950) (22,144) 216,329 108,130 

Total comprehensive (expense) 

income for the period (31,389) 400,504 192,110 98,442 

     

Total comprehensive (expense) 

income attributable to: 

    

Equity holders of the Company (38,862) 245,738  192,110 98,442  

Non-controlling interests 7,473 154,766  - - 

 (31,389) 400,504 192,110 98,442 
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 1(e)(i) A statement (for the issuer and Group) showing either (i) all changes in equity or (ii) changes in equity other than those arising from 

capitalisation issues and distributions to shareholders, together with a comparative statement for the corresponding period of the immediately 

preceding financial year. 

 

Unaudited Group Statements of Changes in Equity for the Period Ended 31 March 2012 

  

 

Share 

capital 

 

Currency 

translation 

reserve 

 

 

Equity 

reserve 

 

 

Statutory 

reserve 

 

 

  Merger 

 deficit 

 

 

Other  

reserve 

 

 

Accumulated 

profits 

Attributable to 

equity holders  

of the 

 Company 

 

Non- 

controlling 

interests 

 

 

 

Total 

 RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000    RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Balance at 1 January 2012 7,261,726 (202,149) 408,041 556,575 (1,834,019) (336,814) 8,961,430 14,814,790 9,216,095 24,030,885 

Total comprehensive expense for the period - (174,499) - - - - 135,637 (38,862) 7,473 (31,389) 

Change of interest in a subsidiary - - - - - (416) - (416) (478) (894) 

Capital injection by non-controlling 

shareholders - - - - - - - - 144,928 144,928 

Appropriations - - - 953 - - (953) - - - 

Balance at 31 March 2012 7,261,726 (376,648) 408,041 557,528 (1,834,019) (337,230) 9,096,114 14,775,512 9,368,018 24,143,530 
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 Unaudited Group Statements of Changes in Equity for the Period Ended 31 March 2011 

  

 

Share 

capital 

 

Currency 

translation 

reserve 

 

 

Equity 

reserve 

 

 

Statutory 

reserve 

 

 

Merger 

deficit 

 

 

Other  

reserve 

 

 

Accumulated 

profits 

Attributable to 

equity holders 

of the 

Company 

 

Non- 

controlling 

interests 

 

 

 

Total 

 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Balance at 1 January 2011 7,231,236 (547,905) 416,737 263,315 (1,834,019) (336,747) 7,894,678 13,087,295 6,743,089 19,830,384 

Total comprehensive income for the period - (22,144) - - - - 267,882 245,738 154,766 400,504 

Issuance of shares under Pre-IPO Share 

Option Scheme 5,370 - (1,523) - - - - 3,847 - 3,847 

Dividend declared to a non-controlling 

shareholder 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

(8,470) 

 

(8,470) 

Balance at 31 March 2011 7,236,606 (570,049) 415,214 263,315 (1,834,019) (336,747) 8,162,560 13,336,880 6,889,385 20,226,265 
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 Unaudited Company Statements of Changes in Equity for the Period Ended 31 March 2012 

 

 
 

Share 

capital 

Currency 

translation 

reserve 

 

Equity  

reserve 

Accumulated 

losses 

 

 

Total 

 
RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Balance at 1 January 2012 7,261,726 (151,630) 408,041 (435,433) 7,082,704 

Total comprehensive income for the period - 216,329 - (24,219) 192,110 

Balance at 31 March 2012 7,261,726 64,699 408,041 (459,652) 7,274,814 

 

 

Unaudited Company Statements of Changes in Equity for the Period Ended 31 March 2011 

 

 
 

 Share 

capital 

Currency 

translation 

reserve 

 

Equity 

reserve 

 Accumulated 

losses 

 

 

Total 

 
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 

Balance at 1 January 2011 7,231,236 163,457 416,737 (636,888) 7,174,542 

Total comprehensive income for the period - 108,130 - (9,688) 98,442 

Issuance of shares under Pre-IPO Share 

Option Scheme 5,370 - (1,523) - 3,847 

Balance at 31 March 2011 7,236,606 271,587 415,214 (646,576) 7,276,831 
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 1(e)(ii) Details of any changes in the Company’s share capital arising from rights issue, 

bonus issue, share-buy-backs, exercise of share options or warrants, conversion of 

other issues of equity securities, issue of shares for cash or as consideration for 

acquisition or for any other purpose since the end of the previous period reported on. 

State also the number of shares that may be issued on conversion of all the outstanding 

convertibles, as well as the number of shares held as treasury shares, if any, against the 

total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares of the issuer, as at the end of 

the current financial period reported on and as at the end of the corresponding period of 

the immediately preceding financial year. 

 

Share Capital 

As at 31 March 2012, the issued and fully paid-up share capital of the Company, net of 

expenses, was RMB7.262 billion (31 December 2011: RMB7.262 billion).  Movements in the 

Company’s issued ordinary shares during the financial period were as follows: 

 

 Number of  

ordinary shares 

’000 

 

 

RMB’000 

As at 31 December 2011 1,948,736 7,261,726 

   

As at 1 January 2012 and 31 March 2012 1,948,736 7,261,726 

 

Convertible Notes Due 2012 

The Company had in February 2007 issued S$477 million convertible notes due 2012 (“Notes 

2012” and each, a “Note 2012”) at a conversion price of S$2.7531 per share.  With effect from 

1 June 2007, the conversion price was adjusted from S$2.7531 to S$2.71 per share and with 

effect from 5 June 2009, from S$2.71 to S$2.65 per share.  With effect from 1 June 2010, the 

conversion price was further adjusted from S$2.65 to S$2.62 per share and with effect from 6 

June 2011, from S$2.62 to S$2.59 per share. 

 

As of 31 December 2011, S$24 million Notes 2012 remained outstanding for conversion into 

ordinary shares.  In February 2012, the Company had fully redeemed the outstanding Notes 

2012 in accordance with the terms set out in the Indenture dated 6 February 2007.  No Notes 

2012 was converted into ordinary shares during the current financial period. 
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 Based on the conversion price of S$2.62 per share as at 31 March 2011 and assuming the 

Notes 2012 are fully converted, the number of new ordinary shares to be issued would be 

approximately 9,064,885 shares as at 31 March 2011. 

 

Convertible Notes Due 2014 

The Company had in July 2009 issued S$375 million convertible notes due 2014 (“Notes 2014” 

and each, a “Note 2014”) at a conversion price of S$2.6208 per share.  With effect from 1 June 

2010, the conversion price was adjusted from S$2.6208 to S$2.59 per share and with effect 

from 6 June 2011, from S$2.59 to S$2.56 per share. 

 

As of 31 March 2012, RMB1.881 billion (equivalent to S$375 million) Notes 2014 remained 

outstanding for conversion into ordinary shares.  No Note 2014 was converted into ordinary 

shares during the current financial period. 

 

Based on the conversion price of S$2.56 per share (31 March 2011: S$2.59) and assuming the 

Notes 2014 are fully converted, the number of new ordinary shares to be issued would be 

approximately 146,484,375 shares as at 31 March 2012 (31 March 2011: 144,787,644 shares). 

 

Treasury Shares 

The Company did not hold any treasury shares as at 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011. 

 

1(e)(iii) To show the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares as at the 

end of the current financial period and as at the end of the immediately preceding year. 

 

Please refer to Note 1(e)(ii). 

 

1(e)(iv) A statement showing all sales, transfers, disposal, cancellation and/or use of 

treasury shares as at the end of the current financial period reported on. 

 

Not applicable. 

 

2. Whether the figures have been audited or reviewed, and in accordance with which 

auditing standard or practice 

 

The figures for the first quarter ended 31 March 2012 have neither been audited nor reviewed 

by the auditors. 
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 3. Where the figures have been audited or reviewed, the auditor’s report (including any 

qualifications or emphasis of a matter) 

 

Not applicable. 

 

4. Whether the same accounting policies and methods of computation as in the issuer’s 

most recently audited annual financial statements have been applied 

 

The Group has applied the same accounting policies and methods of computation in the 

unaudited financial statements for the current financial period as those of the audited financial 

statements for the year ended 31 December 2011, as well as all the applicable Singapore 

Financial Reporting Standards (“FRSs”) which became effective for the financial year beginning 

on or after 1 January 2012.  The adoption of these new and revised FRSs has no material 

effect on the unaudited financial statements for the current financial period. 

 

5. If there are any changes in the accounting policies and methods of computations, 

including any required by an accounting standard, what has changed, as well as the 

reasons for, and the effect of, the change 

 

There have been no changes in accounting policies and methods of computation. 

 

6. Earnings per ordinary share (EPS) of the Group for the current financial period 

reported on and the corresponding period of the immediately preceding financial year, 

based on  profit after tax and non-controlling interests attributable to the equity holders 

of the Company after deducting any provision for preference dividends. 

 

 GROUP 

 1Q 2012 1Q 2011 

 (Unaudited) (Unaudited) 

EPS based on Group’s profit attributable to equity holders 

of the Company:   

(i) On the weighted average number of shares (RMB) 6.96 cents 13.78 cents 

- Weighted average number of shares (’000) 1,948,736 1,944,412 

(ii) On a fully diluted basis (RMB) 6.47 cents 12.77 cents 

- Adjusted weighted average number of shares (’000) 2,098,848 2,099,988 
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 7. Net asset value (for the issuer and Group) per ordinary share based on the total 

number of issued shares excluding treasury shares of the issuer at the end of the:- 

(i) current financial period reported on; and 

(ii) immediately preceding financial year 

 

 GROUP COMPANY 

 31.03.2012 31.12.2011 31.03.2012 31.12.2011 

 (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) 

Net asset value per share based 

on issued share capital at the 

end of the period/year (RMB) 7.58 7.60 3.73 3.63 

 

8. A review of the performance of the Group, to the extent necessary for a reasonable 

understanding of the Group’s business.  It must include a discussion of the following:- 

 

(a) any significant factors that affected the turnover, costs, and earnings of the Group 

for the current financial period reported on, including (where applicable) seasonal 

or cyclical factors; and 

 

1Q 2012 vs. 1Q 2011 

Revenue of the Group recorded at RMB466 million in 1Q 2012 as compared to RMB2.933 

billion in 1Q 2011 as a result of the decrease in GFA delivered to customers partly offset by the 

increased ASP per sqm in 1Q 2012 over the respective period in 2011.  The GFA delivered in 

1Q 2012 was in line with the Group’s planned delivery schedule.  Revenue in 1Q 2012 

generated mainly from the delivery of Yanlord Townhouse (仁恒怡庭) and Yunjie Riverside 

Gardens (Phase 2) (运杰河滨花园二期) in Shanghai, as well as Yanlord Riverside Plaza (Phase 

1) (海河广场一期) in Tianjin which accounted for 58.6%, 8.6% and 17.7% respectively of the 

Group’s gross revenue from the sales of properties in 1Q 2012. 

 

Gross profit reported at RMB170 million in 1Q 2012 as compared to RMB944 million in 1Q 2011 

in tandem with the movement of revenue stream.  Driven by the delivery of higher priced 

projects in Yanlord Townhouse (仁恒怡庭) in Shanghai and Yanlord Riverside Plaza (Phase 1) 

(海河广场一期) in Tianjin, the Group achieved a higher gross profit margin of 36.6% in 1Q 2012 

as compared to 32.2% in 1Q 2011 representing a 4.4 percentage point increase.  Attributable 

to the lower gross profit in 1Q 2012, profit before income tax and profit for the period decreased 

to RMB185 million and RMB137 million in 1Q 2012 respectively from RMB784 million and 

RMB423 million in 1Q 2011 respectively. 
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 Driven by the improved gross profit margin as well as the substantial increase in net foreign 

exchange gain mentioned in Note 1(a) above, the Group’s profit before income tax margin and 

profit for the period margin grew by 12.9 and 14.9 percentage points respectively to 39.6% and 

29.3% in 1Q 2012 respectively over the same period in 2011. 

 

b) any material factors that affected the cash flows, working capital, assets or 

liabilities of the Group during the current financial period reported on. 

 

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

 

Convertible notes 

As at 31 March 2012, convertible notes reported at RMB1.719 billion as compared with 

RMB1.790 billion as at 31 December 2011.  The difference between the nominal value of 

convertible notes of RMB1.881 billion as mentioned in Note 1(e)(ii) for Notes 2014 and the book 

value of RMB1.719 billion (as recorded herein) was mainly attributable to the fair value of 

conversion options (recorded as “Reserves” in the statements of financial position in 

accordance with the relevant accounting standards). 

 

Other payables 

Other payables, which mainly included advances received from customers, increased by 35.2% 

or RMB1.363 billion to RMB5.232 billion as at 31 March 2012 from RMB3.868 billion as at 31 

December 2011 mainly due to an increase in pre-sales proceeds received from customers. 

 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

 

Net cash used in operating activities 

The Group’s net cash used in operating activities decreased by RMB245 million to RMB303 

million in 1Q 2012 as compared to 1Q 2011 primarily attributable to the increase in pre-sales 

proceeds received from customers, partly offset by the lower operating profit as mentioned in 

Note 8(a) above and a relatively higher construction payment in current reporting period over 

the same period in 2011.   

 

Net bank loan drawdown 

The net bank loan drawdown decreased by RMB527 million to RMB501 million in 1Q 2012 as 

compared to 1Q 2011 mainly due to a decrease in drawdown in current reporting period over 

the respective period in 2011. 
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 9. Where a forecast, or a prospect statement, has been previously disclosed to 

shareholders, any variance between it and the actual results 

 

No forecast or prospect statement for the current financial period has been previously disclosed 

to shareholders. 

 

10. A commentary at the date of the announcement of the significant trends and 

competitive conditions of the industry in which the Group operates and any known 

factors or events that may affect the Group in the next reporting period and the next 12 

months 

 

INDUSTRY OUTLOOK 

 

Near-term market sentiments in the People’s Republic of China (”PRC”) property sector 

continues to be volatile following austerity measures introduced by the PRC central government 

in 2010.  However, the Group remains confident about the long-term potential of PRC real 

estate sector which continues to be driven by a long-term economic growth.  Based on data 

released by the World Bank in its “Global Economic Prospects 2012” report, the PRC economy 

is expected to expand 8.4% in 2012 and 8.3% in 2013. 

 

COMPANY OUTLOOK 

 

Based on existing sales contracts of the pre-sold units, the total pre-contracted sales amounting 

to RMB6.927 billion as at 31 March 2012 are expected to be progressively recognised as 

revenue in the subsequent quarters.  The Group has received advances for pre-sold 

properties (recorded as “Other payables” in the statements of financial position), amounting to 

RMB4.466 billion. 

 

The Group will continue to launch a new project and new batches of its existing projects in 2Q 

2012, namely, Yanlord Yangtze Riverbay Town (Phase 2) (仁恒江湾城二期) in Nanjing, Yanlord 

Sunland Gardens (Phase 1) (仁恒森兰雅苑一期) in Shanghai, Yanlord Lakeview Bay - Land 

Parcels A2 and A6 (仁恒双湖湾 – A2及A6地块) in Suzhou, Yanlord Riverside Plaza (Phase 2) 

(海河广场二期) and Yanlord Riverside Gardens (Phase 1) (仁恒河滨花园一期) in Tianjin. 
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 Outlook 

Given the challenges posed by the volatilities in the global economy and the austerity measures 

introduced by the PRC central government, the Group will continue to capitalise on its prudent 

financial policies and maintain a strong cash position to better drive its sustained development.  

Led by an experienced and dedicated management team with extensive industry knowledge of 

the PRC real estate sector, we will continue to focus on our business strategies and 

comparative advantages in the development of quality residential apartments in prime locations 

within high growth PRC cities.  This will best allow for the sustainable growth of our core 

business segments and capitalise on the long-term growth prospects of the PRC real estate 

sector. 

 

Barring any further significant deterioration in the global economy and any other unforeseen 

circumstances, the Board of Directors is confident of the Group’s performance relative to the 

industry trend for the next reporting period and the next 12 months based on the number of 

units pre-sold to-date, expected delivery schedules and on-schedule construction works in 

progress. 

 

11. Dividend 

(a) Any dividend declared for the current financial period reported on? Nil. 

(b) Any dividend declared for the corresponding period of the immediately preceding financial 

year? Nil. 

(c) Date payable: Not applicable. 

(d) Books closure date: Not applicable. 

 

12. If no dividend has been declared/recommended, a statement to that effect 

 

No dividend has been declared or recommended for the period under review. 

 

13. If the Group has obtained a general mandate from shareholders for Interested Person 

Transactions (“IPTs”), the aggregate value of such transactions as required under Rule 

920(1)(a)(ii).  If no IPT mandate has been obtained, a statement to that effect. 

 

The Group does not have a shareholders’ general mandate for IPTs. 
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 14. Confirmation of the Board of Directors (“Board”) 

 

We refer to the requirement under Rule 705(5) of the SGX-ST Listing Manual. 

We, Zhong Sheng Jian and Chan Yiu Ling, directors of the Company, hereby confirm on 

behalf of the Board that, to the best of our knowledge, nothing has come to the attention of 

the Board, which may render the unaudited first quarter financial results of the Group for the 

period ended 31 March 2012 to be false or misleading in any material aspects. 

 

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD  

 

Zhong Sheng Jian        Chan Yiu Ling 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer    Director 

 

 

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD  

 

 

 

 

 

Zhong Sheng Jian 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

14 May 2012 
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 Notes 
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2012 

$m 

Consolidated  
2011 

$m 

Bank 
2012 

$m 

Bank 
2011 
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Interest and similar income  5,157 5,141 3,735 3,856 
Interest expense and similar charges  (3,554) (3,490) (2,836) (2,812) 
Net interest income 2 1,603 1,651 899 1,044 

Fee and commission income 2 1,344 1,522 85 95 
Net trading income 2 999 1,300 895 615 
Share of net profits of associates and joint ventures 
accounted for using the equity method 2 37 45 – – 
Other operating income and charges 2 728 513 625 659 
Net operating income  4,711 5,031 2,504 2,413 

Employment expenses 2 (1,507) (1,553) (850) (853) 
Brokerage, commission and trading-related expenses 2 (611) (669) (339) (362) 
Occupancy expenses 2 (149) (139) (88) (84) 
Non-salary technology expenses 2 (96) (98) (47) (59) 
Other operating expenses 2 (1,465) (1,467) (882) (1,010) 
Total operating expenses  (3,828) (3,926) (2,206) (2,368) 

Operating profit before income tax  883 1,105 298 45 
Income tax expense 4 (243) (272) – (15) 

Profit after income tax   640 833 298 30 
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests:      

Macquarie Income Preferred Securities 5 (4) (4) – – 
Other non-controlling interests  (1) – – – 

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests  (5) (4) – – 

Profit attributable to equity holders of  
Macquarie Bank Limited 

 
 635 829 298 30 

Distributions paid or provided for on:      
Macquarie Income Securities 5 (26) (26) – – 
Convertible debentures 5 – – (4) (4) 

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of 
Macquarie Bank Limited  609 803 294 

 
26 

The above income statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
Income statements 
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Profit after income tax for the financial year  640 833 298 30 
Other comprehensive (expense)/income:      

Available for sale investments, net of tax 31 (232) 115 (264) 56 
Cash flow hedges, net of tax 31 (10) 21 7 21 
Share of other comprehensive income of associates and 
joint ventures, net of tax 31 1 – – – 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations, 
net of tax 

 
(15) (406) (4) 23 

Total other comprehensive (expense)/income for the financial year (256) (270) (261) 100 
Total comprehensive income for the financial year 384 563 37 130 

Total comprehensive income for the financial year is attributable to:     
Ordinary equity holders of Macquarie Bank Limited 353 537 33 126 
Macquarie Income Securities holders 26 26 – – 
Macquarie Income Preferred Securities holders 4 – – – 
Convertible debenture holders – – 4 4 
Other non-controlling interests 1 – – – 

Total comprehensive income for the financial year  384 563 37 130 

The above statements of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
Statements of comprehensive income 

 

 



Macquarie Bank Limited and its subsidiaries 2012 Annual Report macquarie.com.au 

Statements of financial position 
as at 31 March 2012 
 

 Notes 
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2012 

$m 

Consolidated  
2011 

$m 

Bank 
2012 

$m 

Bank 
2011 

$m 
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Assets      
Receivables from financial institutions 6 8,316 7,579 6,492 6,256 
Cash collateral on securities borrowed and reverse 
repurchase agreements 7 7,024 7,418 6,900 7,370 
Trading portfolio assets 8 11,545 14,423 9,070 13,543 
Derivative assets  21,951 21,145 18,918 18,551 
Investment securities available for sale 9 16,285 15,003 17,207 13,948 
Other assets 10 7,444 6,839 3,960 3,702 
Loan assets held at amortised cost 11 44,095 45,382 17,929 17,299 
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 13 5,962 10,607 4,857 9,940 
Life investment contracts and other unitholder investment 
assets 14 5,908 5,062 – – 
Due from related body corporate entities 33 1,118 2,443 981 2,230 
Due from subsidiaries 33 – – 18,927 20,134 
Property, plant and equipment 15 4,835 2,363 4 16 
Interests in associates and joint ventures accounted for 
using the equity method 16 707 856 232 471 
Intangible assets 17 874 866 66 40 
Investments in subsidiaries 18 – – 4,263 3,781 
Deferred tax assets 20 105 376 41 61 
Total assets  136,169 140,362 109,847 117,342 

Liabilities      
Cash collateral on securities lent and repurchase 
agreements 21 4,779 6,103 5,881 6,099 
Trading portfolio liabilities 22 3,507 5,732 3,468 5,621 
Derivative liabilities  20,897 21,455 17,967 18,191 
Deposits  37,014 35,106 36,781 34,827 
Current tax liabilities  46 67 – 15 
Other liabilities 23 7,720 7,463 4,271 4,049 
Payables to financial institutions 24 4,299 1,580 1,685 1,011 
Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 25 1,688 2,909 1,265 2,122 
Life investment contracts and other unitholder liabilities  5,897 5,055 – – 
Due to related body corporate entities 33 3,022 6,471 2,709 6,212 
Due to subsidiaries 33 – – 8,374 10,607 
Debt issued at amortised cost 26 35,068 36,943 16,213 17,697 
Provisions 27 99 80 56 56 
Deferred tax liabilities 20 536 393 124 57 
Total liabilities excluding loan capital  124,572 129,357 98,794 106,564 

Loan capital      
Subordinated debt at amortised cost  2,176 1,430 2,176 1,430 
Subordinated debt at fair value through profit  
or loss  150 467 150 467 
Total loan capital 29 2,326 1,897 2,326 1,897 
Total liabilities   126,898 131,254 101,120 108,461 
Net assets  9,271 9,108 8,727 8,881 

Statements of financial position 
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Equity      
Contributed equity      

Ordinary share capital 30 7,578 7,278 7,578 7,278 
Equity contribution from ultimate parent entity 30 108 102 79 75 
Macquarie Income Securities 30 391 391 391 391 
Convertible debentures 30 – – 107 107 

Reserves 31 (617) (436) (35) 351 
Retained earnings 31 1,743 1,701 607 679 
Total capital and reserves attributable to ordinary equity 
holders of Macquarie Bank Limited  9,203 9,036 8,727 8,881 

Non-controlling interests      
Macquarie Income Preferred Securities 31 63 63 – – 
Other non-controlling interests 31 5 9 – – 
Total equity 9,271 9,108 8,727 8,881 

The above statements of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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$m 

Total 
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Statements of changes in equity 

Consolidated 

Balance at 1 April 2010  6,986 (170) 1,533 8,349 85 8,434 
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the 
financial year  – (266) 829 563 – 563 
Transactions with equity holders in their capacity 
as equity holders:        

Contributions of equity, net of transaction 
costs 30 770 – – 770 – 770 
Contributions from ultimate parent entity in 
relation to share-based payments 30 15 – – 15 – 15 
Dividends and distributions paid or provided for 5 – – (661) (661) – (661) 

Non-controlling interests:        
Distributions of equity, net of transaction costs 31 – – – – (9) (9) 
Distributions paid or provided for  – – – – (4) (4) 

  785 – (661) 124 (13) 111 

Balance at 31 March 2011  7,771 (436) 1,701 9,036 72 9,108 
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the 
financial year  – (256) 635 379 5 384 
Transactions with equity holders in their capacity 
as equity holders:        

Contributions of equity, net of transaction 
costs 30 300 – – 300 – 300 
Contribution from ultimate parent entity in 
relation to share-based payments 30 6 – – 6 – 6 
Dividends and distributions paid or provided for 5 – – (517) (517) – (517) 
Reserves arising from group restructure of 
combining entities under common control 31 – (1) – (1) – (1) 

Non-controlling interests:        
Distributions of equity, net of transaction costs 31 – – – – (4) (4) 
Distributions paid or provided for   – – – – (5) (5) 

Other equity movements:        
Transfer from share-based payments reserve 
to retained earnings 31 – (186) 186 – – – 
Transfer from reserves arising from group 
restructure of combining entities under 
common control to retained earnings 31 – 262 (262) – – – 
  306 75 (593) (212) (9) (221) 

Balance at 31 March 2012  8,077 (617) 1,743 9,203 68 9,271 
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Bank 

Balance at 1 April 2010  7,073 251 1,288 8,612 – 8,612 
Total comprehensive income for the financial 
year  – 100 30 130 – 130 
Transactions with equity holders in their 
capacity as equity holders:        

Contributions of equity, net of transaction 
costs 30 770 – – 770 – 770 
Contribution from ultimate parent entity 
in relation to share-based payments 30 8 – – 8 – 8 
Dividends and distributions paid or  
provided for 5 – – (639) (639) – (639) 

  778 – (639) 139 – 139 

Balance at 31 March 2011  7,851 351 679 8,881 – 8,881 
Total comprehensive income for the financial 
year  – (261) 298 37 – 37 
Transactions with equity holders in their 
capacity as equity holders:        

Contributions of equity, net of transaction 
costs 30 300 – – 300 – 300 
Contribution from ultimate parent entity 
in relation to share-based payments 30 4 – – 4 – 4 
Dividends and distributions paid or  
provided for 5 – – (495) (495) – (495) 

Other equity movements:        
Transfer from share-based payments 
reserve to retained earnings 31 – (186) 186 – – – 
Transfer from reserves arising from group 
restructure of combining entities under 
common control to retained earnings 31 – 61 (61) – – – 
  304 (125) (370) (191) – (191) 

Balance at 31 March 2012  8,155 (35) 607 8,727 – 8,727 

The above statements of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Cash flows from operating activities      
Interest received  5,119 5,004 3,973 3,793 
Interest and other costs of finance paid  (3,512) (3,531) (2,784) (2,839) 
Dividends and distributions received  65 220 356 451 
Fees and other non-interest income received  1,919 2,029 233 683 
Fees and commissions paid  (525) (677) (241) (366) 
Net receipts from/(payments for) trading portfolio assets and 
other financial assets/liabilities  2,634 (2,899) 9,634 (3,752) 
Payments to suppliers  (1,349) (1,640) (3,252) (1,138) 
Employment expenses paid  (1,609) (1,318) (950) (713) 
Income tax paid  (170) (148) (79) (83) 
Life investment contract receipts  359 126 – – 
Life investment contract premiums received and other 
unitholder contributions  3,287 2,575 – – 
Life investment contract payments  (3,282) (2,411) – – 
Net loan assets granted  (1,720) (3,674) (4,672) (5,506) 
Loan facility repaid by ultimate parent entity  737 512 737 512 
Recovery of loans previously written off  19 12 11 4 
Net increase in amounts due to other financial institutions, 
deposits and other borrowings  1,193 10,066 1,134 11,028 
Net cash flows from operating activities 32 3,165 4,246 4,100 2,074 

Cash flows from investing activities      
Net payments for investment securities available for sale   (99) (3,778) (2,202) (1,950) 
Net proceeds from/(payments for) the acquisition and 
disposal of associates  99 (207) 54 (137) 
Payments for the acquisition of subsidiaries and businesses, 
excluding disposal groups, net of cash acquired   (642) (33) (587) (223) 
Proceeds from the disposal of subsidiaries and businesses 
excluding disposal groups, net of cash deconsolidated  21 42 – – 
Payments for life investment contracts and other unitholder 
investment assets  (7,681) (6,374) – – 
Proceeds from the disposal of life investment contracts and 
other unitholder investment assets  7,386 6,145 – – 
Payments for property, plant and equipment, leased assets 
and intangible assets  (263) (1,830) – (4) 
Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and 
equipment, leased assets and intangible assets  – – 4 – 
Net cash flows used in investing activities  (1,179) (6,035) (2,731) (2,314) 

Statements of cash flows 
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Cash flows from financing activities      
Proceeds from the issue of ordinary shares  300 770 300 770 
Payments to non-controlling interests  (4) (8) – – 
Net proceeds from issue of subordinated debt  460 551 456 551 
Dividends and distributions paid  (522) (664) (495) (640) 
Net cash flows from financing activities  234 649 261 681 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  2,220 (1,140) 1,630 441 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial 
year  10,025 11,165 8,673 8,232 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial 
year 32 12,245 10,025 10,303 8,673 

The above statements of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Notes  to the financial statements  

Note 1  
1 Summary of significant accounting policies 

(i) Basis of preparation 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation 
of this financial report and that of the previous financial year 
are set out below. These policies have been consistently 
applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated. 

This financial report is a general purpose financial report which 
has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards (which includes Australian Interpretations by virtue 
of AASB 1048 Interpretation and Application of Standards) and 
the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) and the Banking Act 1959.  

Compliance with IFRS as issued by the IASB 
Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures 
that the financial report complies with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB). Consequently, this 
financial report has also been prepared in accordance with 
and complies with IFRS as issued by the IASB. 

Historical cost convention 
This financial report has been prepared under the historical 
cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of investment 
securities available for sale and certain other assets and 
liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value. 
Critical accounting estimates and significant judgements 
The preparation of the financial report in conformity with 
Australian Accounting Standards requires the use of certain 
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to 
exercise judgement in the process of applying the accounting 
policies. The notes to the financial statements set out areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions are significant to the Company and its 
subsidiaries (Consolidated Entity) and the consolidated 
financial report such as: 

– fair value of financial assets and liabilities (note 41); 
– impairment of loan assets held at amortised cost, 

investment securities available for sale, interests in 
associates and joint ventures and held for sale 
investments (notes 1(xii), 1(xiii), 12 and 40.1); 

– acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates 
and joint ventures and assets and disposal groups 
classified as held for sale (notes 1(ii), 1(xii), 16 and 43); 

– distinguishing between whether assets or a business is 
acquired (note 1(iii)); 

– determination of control of Special Purpose Entities 
(SPEs) (notes 1(ii), 11 and 24); 

– determination of whether dividends and distributions 
received are recognised as income or a return of capital 
(note 1(vi)); 

– recoverability of deferred tax assets and measurement of 
current and deferred tax liabilities (notes 1(vii), 4 and 20); and 

– the impairment of goodwill and other identifiable intangible 
assets with indefinite useful lives (notes 1(xvi) and 17). 

 

 

 

 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are 
based on historical experience and other factors, including 
reasonable expectations of future events.  

Management believes the estimates used in preparing the 
financial report are reasonable. Actual results in the future 
may differ from those reported and therefore it is reasonably 
possible, on the basis of existing knowledge, that outcomes 
within the next financial year that are different from our 
assumptions and estimates could require an adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities reported. 

New Accounting Standards and amendments to Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations that are effective in the 
current year 

AASB 2010-3 and AASB 2010-4 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements 
Project were issued in June 2010 and became applicable in 
the current period.  

AASB 2010-3 amendments confirm that: 

– contingent consideration arising in a business combination 
that had been accounted for in accordance with AASB 3 
(2004) that has not been settled or otherwise resolved at the 
adoption date of AASB 3 (2008) continues to be accounted 
for in accordance with AASB 3 (2004); 

– the accounting policy choice to measure non-controlling 
interests (NCI) upon initial recognition either at fair value or at 
the NCI’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable 
net assets is limited to instruments that give rise to a present 
ownership interest and which currently entitle the holder to a 
share of net assets in the event of liquidation. The 
accounting policy choice does not apply to other 
instruments, such as written options classified as equity 
instruments or options granted under share-based payment 
arrangements – these are generally measured at fair value or 
otherwise in accordance with the relevant Standards; 

– AASB 3 (2008) application guidance applies to unreplaced 
and voluntarily replaced share-based payment awards; and 

– consequential amendments to AASB 121, AASB 128 and 
AASB 131 as a result of the issue of AASB 127 (2008) 
relating to disposals of all or part of a foreign operation 
and accounting for a loss of significant influence/joint control 
is applied prospectively.  

AASB 2010-4 makes amendments to various disclosure 
requirements relating to AASB 7 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures, AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements 
and AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting. 

The application of these amendments in the current year has 
had an immaterial impact. 
New Accounting Standards and amendments to Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations that are not yet effective 

When a new Accounting Standard is first adopted, any change 
in accounting policy is accounted for in accordance with the 
specific transitional provisions (if any), otherwise retrospectively.  

The Company’s and Consolidated Entity’s assessment of the 
impact of the key new Accounting Standards and Interpretations, 
and amendments to Accounting Standards is set out on the 
following page.  
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AASB 2010-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Disclosures on Transfers of Financial Assets 

AASB 2010-6 was issued by the AASB in November 2010 
and is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 July 2011. The Standard adds and amends disclosure 
requirements about transfers of financial assets. The standard 
requires disclosures to be made of transfers of financial assets 
that are either not derecognised in their entirety, or for which 
a continuing involvement is retained. The Consolidated Entity 
will first apply the Standard in the financial year beginning  
1 April 2012. Comparative information is not required.  

Whilst the new standard will not affect any of the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements, it will increase 
disclosures of transferred assets. 

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 9  

In December 2010, the AASB re-issued AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments, which is effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2015. Early adoption is 
permitted if all the requirements are applied at the same 
time. The revised AASB 9 includes the classification and 
measurement requirements for financial liabilities, and the 
recognition and derecognition requirements for financial 
instruments, in addition to the classification and 
measurement requirements for financial assets that 
appeared in the December 2009 version of the Standard.  

Under the new guidance, a financial asset is to be measured 
at amortised cost only if it is held within a business model 
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows and the 
contractual terms of the asset give rise to cash flows on 
specified dates that are payments solely of principal and 
interest (on the principal amount outstanding). All other 
financial assets are to be measured at fair value. 

Changes in the fair value of investments in equity securities 
that are not part of a trading activity may be reported directly 
in other comprehensive income (OCI), but upon realisation 
those accumulated changes in value are not recycled to 
the income statement. Dividends on such investments are 
recognised in profit or loss, rather than OCI, unless they 
clearly represent a recovery of the cost of the investment. 
Changes in the fair value of all other financial assets carried 
at fair value are reported in the income statement. The 
Consolidated Entity is currently assessing the impact of the 
new Standard, and it is likely that some financial assets: 
– carried at fair value through profit or loss (e.g. quoted bonds 

outside of trading book) will change to be carried 
at amortised cost; 

– carried at amortised cost (e.g. beneficial interests) will 
change to be carried at fair value through profit or loss; and 

– containing embedded derivatives (e.g. capital protected 
products) will no longer be separated, and the entire product 
will change to be carried at fair value through the income 
statement. 

In respect of financial liabilities, the change in fair value (for 
financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss) 
due to changes in an entity’s own credit risk is to be presented 
in OCI, unless such presentation would create an accounting 
mismatch. If a mismatch is created or enlarged, all changes in 
fair value (including the effects of changes in the credit risk of the 
liability) are presented in profit or loss. All other key requirements 
for classification and measurement of financial liabilities have 
been carried forward unamended from AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The recognition 
and derecognition requirements in AASB 139 have also been 
retained and relocated to the revised AASB 9 unamended. 
The Consolidated Entity will first apply AASB 9 in the financial 
year beginning 1 April 2015. The impact of AASB 9 on the 
Consolidated Entity’s financial statements on initial application 
has not yet been assessed. 
AASB 2011-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards to Remove Individual Key Management 
Personnel Disclosure Requirements  

The AASB has decided to remove the individual Key 
Management Personnel (KMP) disclosure requirements from 
AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures. While this will reduce 
the disclosures that are currently required in the notes to the 
financial statements, it will not affect any of the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements. The amendments are 
effective for annual reporting periods on or after 1 July 2013 
and cannot be adopted early.  

AASB 2011-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards - Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive 
Income.  

The amendment requires items in other comprehensive income 
to be segregated into two categories, based on whether they 
may be recycled to income statement in the future. Items that 
will never recycle (such as revaluation reserve) will be presented 
separately from items that may recycle in the future (such as 
cash flow hedge reserves and the foreign currency translation 
reserve). The amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2012.  

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, AASB 11 Joint 
Arrangements, AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other 
Entities and revised AASB 127 Separate Financial 
Statements and AASB 128 Investments in Associates and 
Joint Ventures 

The AASB has issued a suite of five new and amended 
standards which address the accounting for joint arrangements, 
consolidated financial statements and associated disclosures.  

These new standards are effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2013 and are applied on a modified 
retrospective basis. Early adoption is permitted, however 
these standards must be adopted as a package, that is, all 
as of the same date, except that an entity may early adopt the 
disclosure provisions for AASB 12 (without adopting the other 
new standards). The Consolidated Entity currently intends to 
first apply these Standards in the financial year beginning  
1 April 2013.  
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Note 1 
Summary of significant accounting policies continued 

AASB 10 replaces the guidance on control and consolidation 
in AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, 
and Interpretation 112 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. 
The core principle that a consolidated entity presents a parent 
and its subsidiaries as if they are a single economic entity 
remains unchanged, as do the mechanics of consolidation. 
However the standard introduces a single definition of control 
that applies to all entities. It focuses on the need to have power, 
rights or exposure to variable returns and ability to use the 
power to affect the returns. Power is the current ability to direct 
the activities that significantly influence returns. Returns must 
vary and can be positive, negative or both. There is also new 
guidance on participating and protective rights, de-facto control 
and on agent versus principal relationships. The impact of 
AASB 10 on the Consolidated Entity’s financial statements 
on initial application is being assessed. 

AASB 11 introduces a principles based approach to accounting 
for joint arrangements. The focus is no longer on the legal 
structure, but rather on how rights and obligations are shared 
by the parties to the joint arrangement. Based on the 
assessment of rights and obligations, a joint arrangement will 
be classified as either a joint operation or joint venture. Joint 
ventures are accounted for using the equity method, and the 
choice to proportionately consolidate will no longer be permitted. 
Parties to a joint operation will account their share of revenues, 
expenses, assets and liabilities in much the same way as under 
the previous standard. AASB 11 also provides guidance for 
parties that participate in joint arrangements but do not share 
joint control. The impact of AASB 11 on the Consolidated 
Entity’s financial statements on initial application has not yet 
been assessed. 

AASB 12 sets out the required disclosures for interests in 
entities that are subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures and 
unconsolidated structured entities. Application of this standard 
by the Consolidated Entity will not affect any of the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements, but will impact the type 
of information disclosed in relation to the Consolidated Entity’s 
investments. Systems may need to be modified to capture all 
the necessary information. 

Whilst the new standard will not affect any of the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements, it will require additional 
disclosures of interests in subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures 
and unconsolidated structured entities. 

AASB 127 is renamed Separate Financial Statements and now 
deals solely with separate financial statements. Initial application 
of this standard by the Consolidated Entity and the Company is 
not expected to result in any material impact.  

Amendments to AASB 128 clarify that an entity continues to 
apply the equity method for its retained interest where on a 
change of ownership a joint venture becomes an associate, 
and vice versa. The amendments also clarify that where part 
of an associate or joint venture is to be sold, an entity accounts 
for the part to be sold under AASB 5 Non-current Assets Held 
for Sale and Discontinued Operations, and continues to apply 
the equity method on the retained portion until the portion held 
for sale is sold. The Consolidated Entity is still assessing the 
impact of these amendments, although it is not expected to 
result in any material impact.  

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement  

AASB 13 has been issued by the AASB and is effective for 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 

AASB 13 provides a single source of guidance for assets and 
liabilities measured at fair value, explains how to measure fair 
value, and aims to enhance fair value disclosures. No material 
impact is expected.  

The Consolidated Entity intends to first apply the Standard 
prospectively from 1 April 2013. 

(ii) Principles of consolidation 

Subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial report comprises the financial report 
of the Consolidated Entity. Subsidiaries are all those entities 
(including SPEs) over which the Company has the power to 
govern (directly or indirectly) decision-making in relation to 
financial and operating policies, so as to require that entity 
to conform to the Company’s objectives. The effects of all 
transactions between entities in the Consolidated Entity are 
eliminated in full. NCI in the results and equity of subsidiaries, 
where the Company owns less than 100 per cent of the issued 
capital, are shown separately in the consolidated income 
statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
and consolidated statement of financial position, respectively. 
Where control of an entity was obtained during the financial year, 
its results are included in the consolidated income statement 
from the date on which control commenced. Where control of 
an entity ceased during the financial year, its results are included 
for that part of the financial year during which control existed. 

The Company and Consolidated Entity determine the dates 
of obtaining control (i.e. acquisition date) and losing control 
(i.e. disposal date) of another entity based on an assessment 
of all pertinent facts and circumstances that affect the ability 
to govern the financial and operating policies of that entity. 
Facts and circumstances that have the most impact include 
the contractual arrangements agreed with the counterparty, the 
manner in which those arrangements are expected to operate in 
practice and whether regulatory approval is required to complete. 
The acquisition or disposal date does not necessarily occur 
when the transaction is closed or finalised under law.  

Subsidiaries held by the Company are carried in its separate 
financial statements at cost less impairment in accordance with 
AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. 

Impairment of subsidiaries 

Investments in subsidiaries are reviewed annually for indicators 
of impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by 
which the investment’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount (which is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use). At each balance date, investments in subsidiaries 
that have been impaired are reviewed for possible reversal of the 
impairment. 
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Securitisations 

Securitised positions are held through a number of SPEs. These 
are generally categorised as Mortgage SPEs and Other SPEs, 
and include certain managed funds andre-packaging vehicles. 
As the Consolidated Entity is exposed to the majority of the 
residual risk associated with these SPEs, their underlying 
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses are reported in the 
consolidated statement of financial position and consolidated 
income statement.  

When assessing whether the Consolidated Entity controls (and 
therefore consolidates) an SPE, judgement is required about 
whether the Consolidated Entity has the risks and rewards as 
well as the ability to make operational decisions for the SPE. 
The range of factors that are considered in assessing control 
include whether: 

– the majority of the benefits of the SPE’s activities are 
obtained; 

– the majority of the residual ownership risks related to the 
SPE’s assets are obtained; 

– the decision-making powers of the SPE vest with the 
Consolidated Entity; and  

– the SPE’s activities are being conducted on behalf of the 
Consolidated Entity and according to its specific business 
needs. 

Interests in associates and joint ventures accounted for 
using the equity method 
Associates and joint ventures are entities over which the 
Consolidated Entity has significant influence or joint control, 
but not control, and are accounted for under the equity method 
except those which are classified as held for sale (see note 1(xii)). 
The equity method of accounting is applied in the consolidated 
financial report and involves the recognition of the Consolidated 
Entity’s share of its associates’ and joint ventures’ post-
acquisition profits or losses in the consolidated income 
statement, and its share of post-acquisition movements in 
reserves.  

The Company and Consolidated Entity determine the dates of 
obtaining or losing significant influence or joint control of 
another entity based on an assessment of all pertinent facts 
and circumstances that affect the ability to significantly influence 
or jointly control the financial and operating policies of that entity. 
Facts and circumstances that have the most impact include 
the contractual arrangements agreed with the counterparty, 
the manner in which those arrangements are expected to 
operate in practice, and whether regulatory approval is 
required to complete. The acquisition or disposal date does 
not necessarily occur when the transaction is closed or 
finalised under law. 

Associates and joint ventures held by the Company are carried 
in its separate financial statements at cost in accordance with 
AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. 

(iii) Business combinations 

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for all 
business combinations (excepting business combinations 
involving entities or businesses under common control) which 
occurred before 1 April 2010. From 1 April 2010, business 
combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. 
Cost is measured as the aggregate of the fair values (at the date 
of exchange) of assets acquired, equity instruments issued or 
liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange plus, for 
business combinations occurring before 1 April 2010, any costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition. Transaction costs arising 
on the issue of equity instruments are recognised directly in 
equity, and those arising on borrowings are capitalised and 
included in interest expense using the effective interest method. 

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent 
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured at 
their fair value on the acquisition date. The Consolidated Entity 
can elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure 
any NCI either at fair value or at the NCI’s proportionate share 
of the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities. The 
excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the 
Consolidated Entity’s share of the identifiable net assets 
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is 
less than the Consolidated Entity’s share of the fair value of the 
identifiable net assets of the business acquired, the difference is 
recognised directly in the consolidated income statement, but 
only after a reassessment of the identification and measurement 
of the net assets acquired. For contingent consideration given in 
business combinations occurring from 1 April 2010, the amount 
is subsequently remeasured to its fair value with changes 
recognised in the consolidated income statement.  

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, 
the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their 
present values as at the date of exchange. The discount rate 
used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at 
which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an 
independent financier under comparable terms and conditions. 

Distinguishing between whether assets or a business is acquired 
involves judgement. Some of the factors that the Consolidated 
Entity uses in identifying a business combination are: 

– the nature of the Consolidated Entity’s industry and business 
model, which affects the nature of an input, process or 
output; 

– whether the acquisition included at least a majority of 
the critical inputs (e.g. tangible or intangible assets, and 
intellectual property) and a majority of the critical processes 
(e.g. strategic processes, skilled and experienced 
workforce); 

– the relative ease of replacing the critical processes not 
acquired by either integrating within the Consolidated 
Entity’s existing processes or sub-contracting them to 
third parties; and 

– the presence of goodwill. 
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Note 1 
Summary of significant accounting policies continued 

(iii) Business combinations continued 
Combinations between entities or businesses under 
common control 
Combinations between entities under common control 
are business combinations in which all of the combining 
entities or businesses ultimately are controlled by the same 
party or parties both before and after the combination and that 
control is not transitory. In the consolidated financial statements 
of the Bank, assets and liabilities of the acquired entities are 
measured at the carrying amounts recognised previously in 
the seller’s consolidated financial statements at the date of 
the combination. In the separate financial statements of the 
Bank, assets and liabilities of the acquired businesses are 
measured at the carrying amounts recognised previously in the 
seller’s financial statements at the date of the combination. Any 
difference between the fair value of the consideration given over 
the carrying amounts recognised is recorded directly in equity. 

(iv) Segment reporting  

Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal reports 
to senior management about components of the Consolidated 
Entity that are regularly reviewed by senior management who 
have been identified as the chief operating decision makers, in 
order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its 
performance. Information reported to the senior management 
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of 
performance is specifically focused on core products and 
services offered, comprising eight reportable segments 
as disclosed in note 3. Information about products and 
services and geographical segments are based on the 
financial information used to produce the Consolidated 
Entity’s financial statements. 

(v) Foreign currency translation  

Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements of foreign operations 
are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the foreign operation operates (the 
functional currency). The Company’s and Consolidated 
Entity’s financial statements are presented in Australian 
dollars (the presentation currency), which is also the 
Company’s functional currency. 
Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are recorded in the functional 
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of 
the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting 
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation 
at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the 
income statement, except when deferred in OCI as a result 
of meeting cash flow hedge or net investment hedge 
accounting requirements (see note 1(xi)). 
Translation differences on non-monetary items (such as equities) 
held at fair value through profit or loss, are reported as part of 
the fair value gain or loss in the income statement. Translation 
differences on non-monetary items (such as equities) classified 
as available for sale financial assets are included in the available 
for sale reserve in equity, unless they form part of fair value 
hedge relationships in which case the translation differences 
are recognised in the income statement (see note 1(xi)). 

Subsidiaries and other entities 
The results and financial position of all foreign operations that 
have a functional currency other than Australian dollars are 
translated into Australian dollars as follows: 

– assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position 
presented are translated at the closing exchange rate at the 
date of that statement of financial position; 

– income and expenses for each income statement are 
translated at actual exchange rates at the dates of the 
transactions; and 

– all resulting exchange differences are recognised in OCI 
within a separate component of equity – the foreign currency 
translation reserve. 

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the 
translation of any net investment in foreign operations and of 
borrowings and other foreign currency instruments designated 
as hedges of such investments, are taken directly to the foreign 
currency translation reserve through OCI. When a foreign 
operation is disposed of or any borrowings forming part of the 
net investment are repaid, such exchange differences are 
recognised in the income statement as part of the gain or loss 
on disposal.  

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of 
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign 
entities and translated at the closing rate. 

(vi) Revenue recognition  

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for each major 
revenue stream as follows: 

Interest income 
Interest income is brought to account using the effective interest 
method. The effective interest method calculates the amortised 
cost of a financial instrument and allocates the interest income 
or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash 
receipts or payments through the expected life of the financial 
instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net 
carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. Fees and 
transaction costs associated with loans are capitalised and 
included in the effective interest rate and recognised in the 
income statement over the expected life of the instrument. 
Interest income on finance leases is brought to account 
progressively over the life of the lease consistent with the 
outstanding investment balance.  
Fee and commission income 
Fee and commission income and expenses that are integral 
to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or liability are 
capitalised and included in the effective interest rate and 
recognised in the income statement over the expected life 
of the instrument. 

Other fee and commission income, including fees from fund 
management, brokerage, account servicing, corporate advisory, 
underwriting and securitisation arrangements is recognised as 
the related services are performed. Where commissions and 
fees are subject to clawback or meeting certain performance 
hurdles, they are recognised as income at the point when those 
conditions can no longer affect the outcome. 

Fees charged for performing a significant act in relation to funds 
managed by the Consolidated Entity are recognised as revenue 
when that act has been completed. 
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Net trading income 
Net trading income comprises gains and losses related 
to trading assets and liabilities and include all realised and 
unrealised fair value changes, dividends and foreign exchange 
differences.  

Dividends and distributions 
Dividends and distributions are recognised as income when 
the Consolidated Entity becomes entitled to the dividend or 
distribution. Dividends from subsidiaries, associates and joint 
ventures are recognised in the income statement when the 
Company’s right to receive the dividend is established. 

When accounting for a dividend or distribution, judgement is 
required about whether it is recognised as income or a return 
of capital. The range of factors that are considered include: 

– whether the payment follows a legal process to reduce either 
the number of outstanding shares or the amount of share 
capital;  

– whether evidence exists clearly demonstrating that the 
distribution is a return of capital originally invested by the 
investor (e.g. the timing of a distribution relative to the 
acquisition of the investment); 

– the substance of the payment, including the existence 
of non-discretionary evidence, that may identify its nature. 
A director declaration of the nature is given a low weighting 
in the analysis; 

– other transactions occur with the same counterparty at 
the same time as, or in contemplation of, the payment; 

– whether the payment is from profits in proportion to the 
investors’ particular class of capital; 

– when a dividend is paid in the form of additional equity of the 
investee, whether all investors retain their same relative 
ownership interest in the investee; 

– whether the criteria for derecognising part, or all, of an 
investment in a financial asset under AASB139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are met, and 
in particular if substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership have transferred; and  

– the basis for the amendment in May 2008 to the ‘cost 
method’ description in AASB 127 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements so as to remove an approach 
solely relying upon determining post-acquisition retained 
earnings. 

(vii) Income tax 
The income tax expense for the financial year is the tax payable 
on the current period’s taxable income based on the national 
income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted for changes in 
deferred tax assets and liabilities and unused tax losses. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised when temporary differences 
arise between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their 
respective carrying amounts which give rise to a future tax 
benefit, or where a benefit arises due to unused tax losses. 
In both cases, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable amounts will be 
available to utilise those temporary differences or tax losses. 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised when such temporary 
differences will give rise to taxable amounts being payable 
in future periods. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
recognised at the tax rates expected to apply when the 
assets are recovered or the liabilities are settled under 
currently enacted tax law.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a 
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities 
and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation 
authority. Current tax assets and liabilities are offset when there 
is a legally enforceable right to offset and an intention to either 
settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. Current and deferred taxes attributable to 
amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised 
directly in equity.  

The Company and Consolidated Entity exercise judgement in 
determining whether deferred tax assets, particularly in relation 
to tax losses, are probable of recovery. Factors considered 
include the ability to offset tax losses within the tax consolidated 
group in Australia or groups of entities in overseas jurisdictions, 
the nature of the tax loss, the length of time that tax losses are 
eligible for carry forward to offset against future taxable profits 
and whether future taxable profits are expected to be sufficient 
to allow recovery of deferred tax assets.  

The Consolidated Entity undertakes transactions in the ordinary 
course of business where the income tax treatment requires the 
exercise of judgement. The Consolidated Entity estimates its tax 
liability based on its understanding of the tax law. 

Tax consolidation 
The Consolidated Entity’s Australian tax liabilities are determined 
according to tax consolidation legislation. The Company 
together with all eligible Australian resident wholly-owned 
subsidiaries of the Company comprise a tax consolidated group 
with the Company as the head entity. As a consequence, the 
relevant subsidiaries are not liable to make income tax payments 
and do not recognise any current tax balances or any deferred 
tax assets arising from unused tax losses. Under the terms and 
conditions of a tax funding agreement, the Company charges 
each subsidiary for all current tax liabilities incurred in respect 
of their activities and reimburses each subsidiary for any tax 
assets arising from unused tax losses. 

Should the Company be in default of its tax payment obligations, 
or a default is probable, the current tax balances of the 
subsidiaries will be determined in accordance with the terms 
and conditions of a tax sharing agreement between the 
Company and entities in the tax consolidated group. 

(viii) Cash collateral on securities borrowed/lent and reverse 
repurchase/repurchase agreements 

As part of its trading activities, the Consolidated Entity borrows 
and lends securities on a collateralised basis. The securities 
subject to the borrowing or lending are not derecognised from 
the statements of financial position of the relevant parties, as 
the risks and rewards of ownership remain with the initial holder. 
Where cash is provided as collateral, the cash paid to third 
parties on securities borrowed is recorded as a receivable, 
while cash received from third parties on securities lent is 
recorded as a borrowing. 
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Note 1 

Summary of significant accounting policies continued 
(viii) Cash collateral on securities borrowed/lent and reverse 
repurchase/repurchase agreements continued 

Reverse repurchase transactions, where the Consolidated 
Entity purchases securities under an agreement to resell, and 
repurchase transactions, where the Consolidated Entity sells 
securities under an agreement to repurchase, are also 
conducted on a collateralised basis. The securities subject to 
the reverse repurchase and repurchase agreements are not 
derecognised from the statements of financial position of the 
relevant parties, as the risks and rewards of ownership remain 
with the initial holder. Where cash is provided as collateral, the 
cash paid to third parties on the reverse repurchase agreement 
is recorded as a receivable, while cash received from third 
parties on the repurchase agreement is recorded as a borrowing.  

The Consolidated Entity continually reviews the fair values of 
the securities on which the above transactions are based and, 
where appropriate, requests or provides additional collateral to 
support the transactions, in accordance with the underlying 
agreements. 

(ix) Trading portfolio assets and liabilities 

Trading portfolio assets (long positions) comprise debt and 
equity securities, bank bills, treasury notes, bullion and 
commodities purchased with the intent of being actively 
traded. Trading portfolio liabilities (short positions) comprise 
obligations to deliver assets across the same trading 
categories, which the Company and Consolidated Entity 
have short-sold and are actively traded. 

Assets and liabilities included in the trading portfolio are 
carried at fair value (see note 41). Realised gains and losses, 
and unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the 
fair value of the trading portfolio are recognised as net trading 
income in the income statement in the period in which they 
arise. Dividend income or expense on the trading portfolio is 
recognised in the income statement as net trading income. 

The Consolidated Entity uses trade date accounting when 
recording regular way purchases and sales of financial assets. 
At the date the transaction is entered into (trade date), the 
Consolidated Entity recognises the resulting financial asset or 
liability and any subsequent unrealised profits or losses arising 
from revaluing that contract to fair value in the income statement. 
When the Consolidated Entity becomes party to a sale contract 
of a financial asset, it derecognises the asset and recognises a 
trade receivable from trade date until settlement date. 

(x) Derivative instruments  

Derivative instruments entered into by the Consolidated Entity 
include futures, forwards and forward rate agreements, swaps 
and options in the interest rate, foreign exchange, commodity 
and equity markets. These derivative instruments are principally 
used for the risk management of existing financial assets and 
financial liabilities. 

All derivatives, including those used for statement of financial 
position hedging purposes, are recognised on the statement of 
financial position and are disclosed as an asset where they have 
a positive fair value at balance date or as a liability where the fair 
value at balance date is negative. 

 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date 
a derivative contract is entered into and subsequently  
re-measured to their fair value. Fair values are obtained 
from quoted market prices in active markets including 
recent market transactions, and valuation techniques including 
discounted cash flow models and option pricing models, as 
appropriate. Movements in the carrying amounts of derivatives 
are recognised in the income statement in net trading income, 
unless the derivative meets the requirements for hedge 
accounting. 

The best evidence of a derivative’s fair value at initial recognition 
is its transaction price, unless its fair value is evidenced by 
comparison with other observable current market transactions 
in the same instrument, or based on a valuation technique for 
which variables include only data from observable markets. 
Where such alternative evidence exists, the Consolidated Entity 
recognises profit or loss immediately when the derivative is 
recognised. 

(xi) Hedge accounting 

The Consolidated Entity designates certain derivatives or 
financial instruments as hedging instruments in qualifying 
hedge relationships. On initial designation of the hedge, the 
Consolidated Entity documents the hedge relationship between 
hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk 
management objectives and strategies. The Consolidated 
Entity also documents its assessment, both at hedge 
inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether hedging 
relationships have been and will continue to be highly 
effective. Derivatives or financial instruments can be 
designated in one of three types of hedge relationships: 

Cash flow hedges 
For a derivative or financial instrument designated as hedging 
the variability in cash flows attributable to a particular risk 
associated with a recognised asset or liability (or a highly 
probable forecast transaction), the gain or loss on the derivative 
or financial instrument associated with the effective portion of 
the hedge is initially recognised in OCI in the cash flow hedging 
reserve and subsequently released to the income statement 
when the hedged item affects the income statement. The gain 
or loss relating to the ineffective portion of the hedge is 
recognised immediately in the income statement.  

Fair value hedges 
For a derivative or financial instrument designated as hedging 
the change in fair value of a recognised asset or liability (or 
an unrecognised firm commitment), the gain or loss on the 
derivative or financial instrument is recognised in the income 
statement immediately, together with the loss or gain on the 
hedged asset or liability that is attributable to the hedged risk. 

Net investment hedges 
For a derivative or borrowing designated as hedging a net 
investment in a foreign operation, the gain or loss on revaluing 
the derivative or borrowing associated with the effective portion 
of the hedge is recognised in the foreign currency translation 
reserve and subsequently released to the income statement 
when the foreign operation is disposed of. The ineffective 
portion is recognised in the income statement immediately. 

The fair values of various financial instruments used for hedging 
purposes are disclosed in note 39. Movements in the cash flow 
hedging reserve in equity are shown in note 31. 
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(xii) Investments and other financial assets 

With the exception of trading portfolio assets, derivatives and 
investments in associates and joint ventures, which are classified 
separately in the statement of financial position, the remaining 
investments in financial assets are classified into the following 
categories: loans and receivables (loan assets held at amortised 
cost and amounts due from subsidiaries), other financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss, investment securities available 
for sale and non-current assets and assets of disposal groups 
classified as held for sale. The classification depends on the 
purpose for which the financial asset was acquired, which is 
determined at initial recognition and, except for other financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss, is re-evaluated at each 
balance date. 

Loans and receivables 
Loan assets held at amortised cost and amounts due from 
subsidiaries are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.  

Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  
This category includes only those financial assets which have 
been designated by management as held at fair value through 
profit or loss on initial recognition.  

The policy of management is to designate a financial asset as 
such if: the asset contains embedded derivatives which must 
otherwise be separated and carried at fair value; it is part of a 
group of financial assets managed and evaluated on a fair value 
basis; or doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a 
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise 
arise. Interest income on debt securities designated as at fair 
value through profit or loss is recognised in the income 
statement in interest income using the effective interest method 
as disclosed in note 1(vi). 

Investment securities available for sale 
Investment securities available for sale comprise securities that 
are not actively traded and are intended to be held for an 
indefinite period. Such securities are available for sale and may 
be sold should the need arise, including purposes of liquidity, or 
due to the impacts of changes in interest rates, foreign 
exchange rates or equity prices. 

Investment securities available for sale are initially carried at fair 
value plus transaction costs. Gains and losses arising from 
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised directly in the 
available for sale reserve in equity until the asset is derecognised 
or impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is 
recognised in the income statement. Fair values of quoted 
investments in active markets are based on current bid prices.  
If the relevant market is not considered active (or the securities 
are unlisted), fair value is established by using valuation 
techniques, including recent arm’s length transactions, 
discounted cash flow analysis and other valuation techniques 
commonly used by market participants. 
Interest income on debt securities available for sale is 
recognised in the income statement in interest income using the 
effective interest method as disclosed in note 1(vi). 

 

(xiii) Impairment 
Loan assets held at amortised cost  
Loan assets are subject to regular review and assessment for 
possible impairment. Provisions for impairment on loan assets 
are recognised based on an incurred loss model and re-
assessed at each balance date. A provision for impairment is 
recognised when there is objective evidence of impairment, and 
is calculated based on the present value of expected future cash 
flows, discounted using the original effective interest rate. 

Individually assessed provisions for impairment are recognised 
where impairment of individual loans are identified. Where 
individual loans are found not to be impaired, they are placed 
into pools of assets with similar risk profiles and collectively 
assessed for losses that have been incurred but are not yet 
specifically identifiable. 

The Consolidated Entity makes judgements as to whether 
there is any observable data indicating that there is a significant 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio 
of loans before the decrease can be identified with an individual 
loan in that portfolio. This evidence may include observable 
data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the 
payment status of the borrowers in a group, or national or local 
economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in 
the group. Management uses estimates based on historical 
loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and 
objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio 
when scheduling its future cash flows. The methodology and 
assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing 
of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any 
differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. 
Changes in assumptions used for estimating future cash 
flows could result in a change in the estimated provisions for 
impairment on loan assets at the end of the reporting period. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment losses 
decrease and the decrease can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment losses were recognised, 
the previously recognised impairment losses are reversed 
through the income statement to the extent of what the 
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not 
been recognised.  

Investment securities available for sale  
The Consolidated Entity performs an assessment at each 
balance date to determine whether there is any objective 
evidence that available for sale financial assets have been 
impaired. Impairment exists if there is objective evidence 
of impairment as a result of one or more events (loss event) 
which have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of 
the financial asset that can be reliably estimated. 

For equity securities classified as available for sale, the main 
indicators of impairment are: significant changes in the market, 
economic or legal environment and a significant or prolonged 
decline in fair value below cost. 

In making this judgement, the Consolidated Entity evaluates 
among other factors, the normal volatility in share price and 
the period of time for which fair value has been below cost.  

In the case of debt securities classified as available for sale, 
observable data that relates to loss events are considered, 
including adverse changes in the payment status of the issuer 
and national or local economic conditions that correlate with 
defaults on those assets.  
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Note 1 

Summary of significant accounting policies continued 
(xiii) Impairment continued 
Investment securities available for sale continued  

In addition, impairment may be appropriate when there is 
evidence of deterioration in the financial condition of the 
investee, industry and sector performance, operational and 
financing cash flows or changes in technology. 

When the fair value of an available for sale financial asset is 
less than its initial carrying amount and there is objective 
evidence that the asset is impaired, the cumulative loss 
recognised directly in OCI is removed from equity and 
recognised in the income statement. 

Impairment losses recognised in the income statement for 
equity securities classified as available for sale are not 
subsequently reversed through the income statement. 
However impairment losses recognised for debt investment 
securities classified as available for sale are subsequently 
reversed through the income statement if the fair value increases 
and the increase can be objectively related to an event after the 
impairment loss was recognised in the income statement.  

Interests in associates and joint ventures 
The Consolidated Entity performs an assessment at each 
balance date to determine whether there is any objective 
evidence that its interests in associates and joint ventures are 
impaired. The entire carrying amount of each investment in 
associate and joint venture is considered in the assessment. 
The main indicators of impairment are as for equity securities 
classified as available for sale, disclosed above. 

If there is an indication that an investment in an associate or 
joint venture may be impaired, then the entire carrying amount 
of the investment in associate or joint venture is tested for 
impairment by comparing the recoverable amount (higher of 
value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying 
amount. Impairment losses recognised in the income 
statement for investments in associates and joint ventures 
are subsequently reversed through the income statement if 
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
recoverable amount since the impairment loss was recognised. 

(xiv) Life insurance business 

The life insurance business is comprised of insurance contracts 
and investment contracts as defined in AASB 4 Insurance 
Contracts. The following are key accounting policies in relation 
to the life insurance business: 

Disclosure 
The consolidated financial statements include the assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses of the life insurance business 
conducted by a subsidiary of the Company in accordance 
with AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement, and AASB 1038 Life Insurance Contracts 
which apply to investment contracts and assets backing 
insurance liabilities, respectively. These amounts represent 
the total life insurance business of the subsidiary, including 
underlying amounts that relate to both policyholders and 
shareholders of the life insurance business. 
 

 

 

Investment assets 

Investment assets are carried at fair value through profit or loss. 
Fair values of quoted investments in active markets are based 
on current bid prices. If the relevant market is not considered 
active (and for unlisted securities), fair value is established by 
using valuation techniques, including recent arm’s length 
transactions, discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing 
models and other valuation techniques commonly used by 
market participants. Changes in fair values are recognised in 
the income statement in the period in which the changes occur. 
Restriction on assets 

Investments held in the Life Funds can only be used within the 
restrictions imposed under the Life Insurance Act 1995 (Cth). 
The main restrictions are that the assets in a fund can only 
be used to meet the liabilities and expenses of the fund, 
acquire investments to further the business of the fund or 
pay distributions when solvency and capital adequacy 
requirements allow. Shareholders can only receive a 
distribution when the capital adequacy requirements of 
the Life Insurance Act 1995 (Cth) have been met. 

Policy liabilities 
Life insurance liabilities are measured as the accumulated 
benefits to policyholders in accordance with AASB 139 
and AASB 1038, which apply to investment contracts and 
assets backing insurance liabilities, respectively. 

(xv) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, 
if any. Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for 
impairment at each reporting date. Historical cost includes 
expenditure directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. 
Property, plant and equipment includes assets leased out under 
operating leases. 
Depreciation on assets is calculated on a straight-line basis to 
allocate the difference between cost and residual values over 
their estimated useful lives, at the following rates: 
Furniture and fittings 10 to 20 per cent 
Leasehold improvements1 20 per cent  
Communication equipment 33 per cent 
Computer equipment  33 to 50 per cent  
Infrastructure assets 5 to 20 per cent 
Aviation  3 to 4 per cent 
Meters 5 to 10 per cent 
Rail cars 2 to 3 per cent  
Other operating lease assets 2 to 50 per cent 

11 Where remaining lease terms are less than five years, leasehold 
improvements are depreciated over the remaining lease term. 
Useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually 
and reassessed in light of commercial and technological 
developments. If an asset’s carrying value is greater than 
its recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written down 
immediately to its recoverable amount. Adjustments arising 
from such items and on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment are recognised in the income statement. 
Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing 
proceeds with the asset’s carrying amount and are recognised 
in the income statement. 
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(xvi) Goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets 

Goodwill 
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over 
the fair value of the Consolidated Entity’s share of the identifiable 
net assets of the acquired entity at the date of acquisition. 
Goodwill arising from business combinations is included in 
intangible assets on the face of the statement of financial 
position. Goodwill arising from acquisitions of associates is 
included in the carrying amount of investments in associates.  

Other identifiable intangible assets  
An intangible asset is considered to have an indefinite useful life 
where it is expected to contribute to the Consolidated Entity’s 
net cash inflows indefinitely. 

Licences and trading rights are carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses. These assets are not amortised because 
they are considered to have an indefinite useful life. 

Management rights have a finite useful life and are carried at 
cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to 
allocate the cost of management rights over the estimated 
useful life, usually a period not exceeding 20 years. 

Customer and servicing contracts acquired with a finite useful 
life are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any 
impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated based on the 
timing of projected cash flows of the relationships over their 
estimated useful lives. 

Customer and servicing contracts with an indefinite useful life 
are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.  

Software 
Certain internal and external costs directly incurred in acquiring 
and developing certain software are capitalised and amortised 
over the estimated useful life, usually a period of three years. 
Costs incurred on software maintenance are expensed as 
incurred.  

Impairment 

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful 
life are not subject to amortisation but are tested annually 
for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. For intangible assets that have a finite useful life, 
an assessment is made at each reporting date for indications 
of impairment. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount 
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair 
value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of 
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels 
for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are 
largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or 
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Intangible assets (other 
than goodwill) that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible 
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 

(xvii) Financial liabilities 

The Consolidated Entity has on issue debt securities and 
instruments which are initially recognised at fair value net of 
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of 
transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised 
in the income statement over the period of the borrowings 
using the effective interest method.  

Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit  
or loss 
This category includes only those financial liabilities which have 
been designated by management as held at fair value through 
profit or loss on initial recognition. The policy of management is 
to designate a financial liability as such if: the liability contains 
embedded derivatives which must otherwise be separated and 
carried at fair value; the liability is part of a group of financial 
assets and financial liabilities managed and evaluated on a fair 
value basis; or doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a 
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise 
arise. Interest expense on such items is recognised in the 
income statement in interest expense using the effective interest 
method. 

(xviii) Provisions 

Employee benefits 
A liability for employee benefits is recognised by the entity that 
has the obligation to the employee. Generally, this is consistent 
with the legal position of the parties to the employment contract. 

Liabilities for unpaid salaries, salary related costs and provisions 
for annual leave are recorded in the statement of financial 
position at the salary rates which are expected to be paid when 
the liability is settled. Provisions for long service leave and other 
long-term benefits are recognised at the present value of 
expected future payments to be made.  

In determining this amount, consideration is given to expected 
future salary levels and employee service histories. Expected 
future payments are discounted to their net present value using 
discount rates on high quality corporate bonds, except where 
there is no deep market, in which case rates on Commonwealth 
Government securities are used. Such discount rates have 
terms that match as closely as possible the expected future 
cash flows. 

Provisions for unpaid employee benefits are derecognised 
when the benefit is settled, or is transferred to another entity 
and the Company and Consolidated Entity are legally released 
from the obligation and do not retain a constructive obligation. 

Dividends 
Provisions for dividends to be paid by the Company are 
recognised on the statement of financial position as a liability 
and a reduction in retained earnings when the dividend has 
been declared. 
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Note 1 

Summary of significant accounting policies continued 
(xix) Performance based remuneration  

Share-based payments 

The Consolidated Entity operates share-based compensation 
plans, which include options granted to employees and 
shares (including those delivered through the Macquarie 
Group Employee Retained Equity Plan (MEREP)) granted to 
employees under share acquisition plans. Information relating 
to these schemes is set out in note 35. The Consolidated 
Entity recognises an expense (and equity reserve) for its 
shares and options granted to employees. The shares and 
options are measured at the grant dates based on their fair 
value and using the number of equity instruments expected 
to vest. This amount is recognised as an expense evenly over 
the respective vesting periods.  

Performance hurdles attached to options, and Performance 
Share Units (PSUs) under the MEREP, that are issued to the 
Executive Committee members are not taken into account when 
determining the fair value of the options and PSUs at grant date. 
Instead, these vesting conditions are taken into account by 
adjusting the number of equity instruments expected to vest. 

The fair value of each option granted in prior years was 
estimated on the date of grant using standard option pricing 
techniques based on the Black-Scholes theory. No grants 
have been made in the previous two financial years.  

In December 2009, the Consolidated Entity established a 
new equity plan, the MEREP. Restricted Share Units (RSUs), 
Deferred Share Units (DSUs) and PSUs for Executive Committee 
members, have been granted in the current year in respect of 
2011. The fair value of each of these grants is estimated using 
the Company’s share price on the date of grant, and for each 
PSU also incorporates a discounted cash flow method using 
the following key assumptions: 

– risk free interest rate: 5.71 per cent (weighted average); 
– expected life of PSU: four years; and 
– dividend yield: 5.20 per cent per annum. 

While RSUs, DSUs, and PSUs for Executive Committee 
members, in respect of the current year’s performance will be 
granted in the following financial year, the Consolidated Entity 
begins recognising an expense (based on an initial estimate) 
from 1 April of the current financial year related to these future 
grants. The expense is estimated using the Company’s share 
price as at 31 March 2012 (and for PSUs, also incorporates a 
risk free interest rate of 4.37 per cent; an expected life of four 
years; and a dividend yield of 4.22 per cent per annum) and 
the number of equity instruments expected to vest. In the 
following financial year, the Consolidated Entity will adjust the 
accumulated expense recognised for the final determination 
of fair value for each RSU/DSU and PSU when granted, and 
will use this valuation for recognising the expense over the 
remaining vesting period. 

Where options and shares are issued by the Company to 
employees of subsidiaries and the Company is not subsequently 
reimbursed by those subsidiaries, the Company recognises 
the equity provided as a capital contribution to the subsidiaries. 
Where the Company is reimbursed, the Company recognises 
any amount received in advance (of the share-based payment 
to be recognised as an expense over the future vesting period) 
as a liability to those subsidiaries. 

Executive Directors’ retained profit share that is no longer to be 
paid in cash is reversed in the current year and recognised in 
profit, and the equity granted are accounted for as a share-
based payment from the grant date. 
The Consolidated Entity annually revises its estimates of the 
number of shares (including those delivered through MEREP) 
and options that are expected to vest. It recognises the impact 
of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the income 
statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. 

Profit share remuneration 

The Consolidated Entity recognises a liability and an expense for 
profit share remuneration to be paid in cash, based on a formula 
that takes into consideration the Consolidated Entity’s profit after 
income tax and its earnings over and above the estimated cost 
of capital. 

(xx) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise: 

– cash and balances with central banks and short-term 
amounts included in receivables from financial institutions; 
and 

– trading portfolio assets and debt securities with contractual 
maturity of three months or less. 

(xxi) Leases 

Where finance leases are granted to third parties, the present 
value of the lease receipts is recognised as a receivable and 
included in loan assets held at amortised cost. The difference 
between the gross receivable and the present value of the 
receivable is unearned interest income. Lease receipts are 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. Lease 
income is recognised over the term of the lease using the 
effective interest method, which reflects a constant rate of return.  

Leases entered into by the Company and Consolidated Entity as 
lessee are primarily operating leases. The total fixed payments 
made under operating leases are charged to the income 
statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 

Purchased assets, where the Consolidated Entity is the lessor 
under operating leases, are carried at cost and depreciated 
over their useful lives which vary depending on each class of 
asset and range from 2 to 50 years. Operating lease income is 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease 
unless another systematic basis is more appropriate. Assets 
leased out under operating leases are included in property, plant 
and equipment. 

(xxii) Offsetting financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net 
amount reported on the statement of financial position when 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, 
or realise the financial asset and settle the financial liability 
simultaneously. 
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(xxiii) Loan capital 

Loan capital is debt issued by the Consolidated Entity with 
terms and conditions that qualify for inclusion as capital 
under APRA Prudential Standards. Loan capital debt issues 
are initially recorded at fair value plus directly attributable 
transaction costs and thereafter at either amortised cost using 
the effective interest method (for debt host component of 
convertible preference securities and subordinated debt at 
amortised cost) or at fair value through profit or loss (for 
subordinated debt at fair value through profit or loss). 

(xxiv) Contributed equity 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs 
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are 
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

(xxv) Changes in ownership interests 

When acquiring additional interests of a financial asset (such 
that it becomes an associate, joint venture or subsidiary) or 
an investment in an associate or joint venture (such that it 
becomes a subsidiary), previously held interests are revalued 
to their current fair value and any gain or loss is immediately 
recognised in profit or loss. For acquisitions occurring on or 
before 31 March 2010, previously held interests were not 
revalued for such transactions.  

Similarly, when selling ownership interests of a subsidiary (such 
that control is lost), or an investment in associate or joint venture 
(such that it becomes a financial asset), retained ownership 
interests are revalued to their current fair value and any gain or 
loss is immediately recognised in the income statement. For 
acquisitions occurring on or before 31 March 2010, retained 
ownership interests were not revalued for such transactions. 

When increasing or decreasing the ownership interests 
of a subsidiary that remains a subsidiary afterwards, the 
consideration exchanged is recognised directly in equity. For 
acquisitions occurring on or before 31 March 2010, transactions 
with NCI were recognised using the parent-entity approach, 
which resulted in a gain recognised in the income statement 
when securities held by NCI were acquired by the Consolidated 
Entity at a price less than their carrying amount. 

(xxvi) Comparatives 

Where necessary, comparative information has been restated 
to conform with changes in presentation in the current year. 

(xxvii) Rounding of amounts 

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 
98/0100 (as amended), relating to the rounding off of amounts 
in the financial report. Amounts in the financial report have been 
rounded off in accordance with that Class Order to the nearest 
million dollars unless otherwise indicated. 
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Note 2  
2 Profit for the financial year  

Net interest income     
Interest and similar income received/receivable 5,157 5,141 3,735 3,856 
Interest expense and similar charges paid/payable (3,554) (3,490) (2,836) (2,812) 
Net interest income 1,603 1,651 899 1,044 

Fee and commission income     
Base fees 594 598 10 13 
Performance fees 30 25 – – 
Mergers and acquisitions, advisory and underwriting fees 43 50 19 26 
Brokerage and commissions 308 338 54 56 
Other fee and commission income 298 433 2 – 
Income from life investment contracts and other unitholder investment 
assets (note 14) 71 78 – – 
Total fee and commission income 1,344 1,522 85 95 

Net trading income1     
Equities 230 366 224 313 
Commodities 566 553 144 238 
Foreign exchange products 283 191 266 (376) 
Interest rate products (80) 190 261 440 
Net trading income 999 1,300 895 615 

Share of net profits of associates and joint ventures accounted 
for using the equity method 37 45 – – 

1 Included in net trading income are fair value gains of $393 million (2011: $393 million) relating to financial assets and financial liabilities 
designated as held at fair value through profit or loss. Fair value changes relating to derivatives are also reported in net trading income 
which partially offsets the fair value changes relating to the financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair value. This also 
includes fair value changes on derivatives used to hedge the Consolidated Entity’s economic interest rate risk where hedge 
accounting requirements are not met – refer to note 1(xi) – Summary of significant accounting policies. 
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Note 2 
Profit for the financial year continued 

Other operating income and charges     
Net gains on sale of investment securities available for sale 180 205 161 196 
Impairment charge on investment securities available for sale (53) (29) (49) (9) 
Net gains/(loss) on sale of associates and joint ventures 8 13 (9) – 
Impairment (charge)/reversal on interest in associates and 
joint ventures (50) (18) (90) 4 
Impairment charge on subsidiaries – – (142) (130) 
Gain/(loss) on acquiring, disposing and change in ownership 
interest in subsidiaries 15 41 – (156) 
Gain on re-measurement of retained investments1 37 18 – – 
Impairment charge on non-financial assets (40) (6) (3) – 
Gain on sale of non-financial assets 104 13 – 13 
Net operating lease income2 381 151 – – 
Dividends/distributions received/receivable:     

Investment securities available for sale 21 30 6 29 
Subsidiaries (note 33) – – 372 407 

Management fees, group service charges and cost recoveries (1) (18) 417 370 
Collective allowance for credit losses (provided for)/written back 
during the financial year (note 11) (3) 18 12 21 
Individually assessed provisions:      
Loan assets provided for during the financial year (note 11) (83) (89) (60) (75) 
Other receivables provided for during the financial year (13) – (11) (1) 

Recovery of loans previously provided for (note 11) 30 16 21 15 
Recovery of other receivables previously provided for – 11 – 11 
Loan losses written off (78) (70) (40) (46) 
Recovery of loans previously written off 19 12 11 4 

Other income 254 215 29 6 
Total other operating income and charges 728 513 625 659 
Net operating income 4,711 5,031 2,504 2,413 

1 Includes gains on re-measurement of retained ownership interests to fair value on the loss of control of investments in subsidiaries 
and the loss of significant influence on investments in associates. 

2 Includes rental income of $636 million (2011: $257 million) less depreciation of $255 million (2011: $106 million) in relation 
to operating leases where the Consolidated Entity is the lessor. 
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Note 2  
Profit for the financial year continued 

Employment expenses         
Salary and salary related costs including commissions, 
superannuation and performance-related profit share (1,391) (1,437) (784) (795) 
Share-based payments (106) (101) (62) (50) 
Provision for annual leave (9) (12) (3) (5) 
Provision for long service leave (1) (3) (1) (3) 
Total employment expenses (1,507) (1,553) (850) (853) 

Brokerage, commission and trading-related expenses     
Brokerage and other trading-related expenses (469) (473) (283) (303) 
Other fee and commission expenses (142) (196) (56) (59) 
Total brokerage, commission and trading-related expenses (611) (669) (339) (362) 

Occupancy expenses     
Operating lease rentals (80) (72) (49) (42) 
Depreciation: furniture, fittings and leasehold improvements 
(note 15) (18) (19) (3) (6) 
Other occupancy expenses (51) (48) (36) (36) 
Total occupancy expenses (149) (139) (88) (84) 

Non-salary technology expenses     
Information services (55) (57) (32) (34) 
Depreciation: computer equipment (note 15) (7) (2) (5) (4) 
Other non-salary technology expenses (34) (39) (10) (21) 
Total non-salary technology expenses (96) (98) (47) (59) 

Other operating expenses     
Professional fees (136) (141) (55) (69) 
Auditor’s remuneration (note 42) (15) (12) (5) (6) 
Travel and entertainment expenses (65) (68) (37) (37) 
Advertising and promotional expenses (50) (50) (17) (19) 
Communication expenses (20) (20) (8) (9) 
Amortisation of intangibles (note 17) (69) (56) (7) – 
Other expenses1 (1,110) (1,120) (753) (870) 
Total other operating expenses (1,465) (1,467) (882) (1,010) 
Total operating expenses (3,828) (3,926) (2,206) (2,368) 

1  Other expenses include recharges from Macquarie Group Services Australia Pty Limited (MGSA) which provides administration and 
central support functions. 
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Note 3  
3 Segment reporting 

(i) Operating segments 

For internal reporting and risk management purposes, the Consolidated Entity is divided into six operating groups, one operating 
division and a corporate group. These segments have been set up based on the different core products and services offered. 

Since 31 March 2011 there have been a number of asset transfers between Operating Groups and the Corporate segment. 
These transfers were undertaken to better align the relevant assets with the expertise in each Operating Group. In addition, 
certain assets not aligned with any of the Operating Groups were transferred to the Corporate segment.  

This restructure is effective from 1 April 2011. Segment information has been prepared in conformity with the Consolidated 
Entity’s segment accounting policy. In accordance with AASB 8 Operating Segments, comparative information has been 
restated to reflect current reportable operating segments. 

Macquarie Funds Group is Macquarie Group Limited’s (MGL) funds management business. It is a full-service asset 
manager, offering a diverse range of capabilities and products including investment management, infrastructure and real 
asset management and fund and equity based structured products. 

Corporate and Asset Finance is the lending and leasing business of Macquarie Group. 

Banking and Financial Services Group is the primary relationship manager for Macquarie Group’s retail client base. The 
group brings together the retail banking and financial services businesses providing a diverse range of wealth management 
products and services to financial advisers, stockbrokers, mortgage brokers, professional service industries and the end consumer. 

Macquarie Securities Group activities include institutional and retail derivatives, structured equity finance, arbitrage trading, 
synthetic products, capital management, collateral management and securities borrowing and lending. It is a full-service institutional 
cash equities broker in the Asia Pacific region and South Africa, and offers specialised services in other regions. It also provides an 
equity capital markets service through a joint venture with Macquarie Capital. 

Macquarie Capital comprises MGL’s corporate advisory, equity underwriting, debt structuring and distribution businesses, private 
equity placements and principal products. Due to the non-banking nature of Macquarie Capital, its activities in the Consolidated Entity 
have ceased. 

Fixed Income, Currencies and Commodities provides a variety of trading, research, sales and financing services across the globe 
with an underlying specialisation in interest rate, commodity and foreign exchange related institutional trading, marketing, lending and 
clearing or platform provision.  

Real Estate Banking Division activities include real estate investment, development management and asset management. 

Corporate includes Group Treasury, head office and central support functions. It holds certain central investments. Costs within 
Corporate include unallocated head office costs, employment related costs, earnings on capital, non-trading derivative volatility 
and income tax expense. Corporate is not considered an operating group. 

Any transfers between segments are determined on an arm’s length basis and eliminate on consolidation. 
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Note 3 
Segment reporting continued 

(i) Operating segments continued 

The following is an analysis of the Consolidated Entity’s revenue and results by reportable segment for the financial year: 

 
Revenues from external customers 1,299 1,952 2,238 
Inter-segmental (expense)/revenue1 (119)  (560) 1,288 
Interest revenue  315 1,604 1,396 
Interest expense (55) (262) (1,988) 
Depreciation and amortisation (18) (262) (21) 
Share of net (losses)/profits of associates and joint ventures 
accounted for using the equity method (2) 5 (1) 
Reportable segment profit/(loss) 372 699 265 
Reportable segment assets 10,833 21,567 27,132 

 

Revenues from external customers 1,164 1,499 2,416 
Inter-segmental (expense)/revenue1 (113) (497) 856 
Interest revenue 279 1,441 1,477 
Interest expense (55) (186) (1,658) 
Depreciation and amortisation (23) (108) (37) 
Share of net profits/(losses) of associates and joint ventures 
accounted for using the equity method 16 10 1 
Reportable segment profit/(loss) 251 505 278 
Reportable segment assets 10,974 18,284 27,816 

1  Internal reporting systems do not enable the separation of inter-segmental (expense)/revenue. The net position is disclosed above. 
The key inter-segmental item is internal interest and funding costs charged to businesses for funding of their business net assets. 

 



 

 
 
 

Macquarie 
Securities Group 

$m 

 
Macquarie 

Capital 
$m 

Fixed Income, 
Currencies and 

Commodities 
$m 

Real Estate 
Banking Division  

$m 
Corporate 

$m 
Total 

$m 
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Consolidated 2012 

228 – 1,925 25 1,108 8,775 
(67) – (348) (21) (173) – 
119 – 616 16 1,091 5,157 
(67) – (262) – (920) (3,554) 
(7) – (42) – 1 (349) 

 
 

– – 17 14 4 37 
(205) – 480 (40) (936) 635 

14,658 – 41,192 229 20,558 136,169 

Consolidated 2011 

330 – 1,844 71 1,556 8,880 
(124) – (225) (29) 132 – 
102 – 625 16 1,201 5,141 
(38) – (363) – (1,190) (3,490) 

– – (20) – 5 (183) 
 

– – 15 (5) 8 45 
(132) – 549 (40) (582) 829 

17,510 – 42,978 458 22,342 140,362 
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Note 3 
Segment reporting continued 

(ii) Products and services 

For the purposes of preparing a segment report based on products and services, the activities of the Consolidated Entity have been 
divided into four areas: 

Asset and Wealth Management: distribution and manufacture of funds management products; 

Financial Markets: trading in fixed income, equities, currency, commodities and derivative products; 

Capital Markets: corporate and structured finance, advisory, underwriting, facilitation, broking and property development; and 

Lending: banking activities, mortgages, and leasing.  

 

Asset and 
Wealth 

Management 
$m 

Financial  
Markets 

$m 

Capital  
Markets 

$m 
Lending 

$m 
Total 

$m 

Consolidated 2012 

Revenues from external customers 1,850 3,120 69 3,736 8,775 

Consolidated 2011 

Revenues from external customers 1,877 3,339 67 3,597 8,880 
 

(iii) Geographical areas 

Geographical segments have been determined based on where the transactions have been booked. The operations of the 
Consolidated Entity are headquartered in Australia. 

 

Revenues from 
external  

customers  
$m 

Non-current  
assets1 

$m 

Consolidated 2012 

Australia 5,193 719 
Asia Pacific 216 338 
Europe, Middle East and Africa 1,181 3,816 
Americas 2,185 1,993 
Total 8,775 6,866 

Consolidated 2011 

Australia 5,929 1,599 
Asia Pacific 238 39 
Europe, Middle East and Africa 1,069 1,873 
Americas 1,644 1,810 
Total 8,880 5,321 

1  Non-current assets consist of intangible assets, interests in associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity 
method, property, plant and equipment, property held for sale and development and certain amounts due from related 
body corporate entities. 

 
(iv) Major customers 

The Consolidated Entity does not rely on any major customer. 
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Note 4  
4 Income tax expense 

(i) Income tax expense     
Current tax benefit/(expense) 129 (155) 46 184 
Deferred tax expense (372) (117) (46) (199) 
Total (243) (272) – (15) 

Deferred tax (expense)/benefit included in  
income tax expense comprises:     

(Decrease)/increase in deferred tax assets (95) (51) 144 (248) 
(Increase)/decrease in deferred tax liabilities (277) (66) (190) 49 

Total (372) (117) (46) (199) 

(ii) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable  
Prima facie income tax expense on operating profit1 (265) (331) (89) (13) 
Tax effect of amounts which are (not deductible)/non-assessable in 
calculating taxable income:     

Rate differential on offshore income 75 57 7 5 
Distribution provided on Macquarie Income Preferred Securities and 
related distributions 1 1 – – 
Share-based payments expense (9) (8) (1) (2) 
Intra-group dividends – – 107 122 
Impairment charge on controlled entities – – (27) (127) 
Other items (45) 9 3 – 

Total income tax expense (243) (272) – (15) 

(iii) Tax benefit/(expense) relating to items of other comprehensive income  
Available for sale reserve 91 (44) 97 (19) 
Cash flow hedges 2 (10) (2) (9) 
Foreign currency translation reserve (7) 54 – 26 
Share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint 
ventures (1) – – – 
Total tax benefit/(expense) relating to items of other 
comprehensive income 85 – 95 (2) 

1  Prima facie income tax on operating profit is calculated at the rate of 30 per cent (2011: 30 per cent). The Australian tax consolidated 
group has a tax year ending on 30 September. 

Revenue authorities undertake risk reviews and audits as part of their normal activities. The Consolidated Entity has assessed these 
and other taxation claims and litigation, including seeking advice where appropriate, and considers that it holds appropriate 
provisions. 
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Note 5  
5 Dividends paid and distributions paid or provided for 

(i) Dividends paid 

Ordinary share capital     
Interim dividend paid  194 185 194 185 
2011 final dividend paid  297 450 297 450 
Total dividends paid (note 31) 491 635 491 635 
 

(ii) Dividends not recognised at the end of the financial year 

Since the end of the financial year, the Directors have recommended the payment of a dividend. The aggregate amount of the 
proposed dividend expected to be paid on 2 July 2012 from retained profits at 31 March 2012, but not recognised as a liability 
at the end of the financial year, is $455 million (2011: $297 million).  
 
(iii) Distributions paid or provided for 

Macquarie Income Securities     
Distributions paid (net of distributions previously provided) 21 20 – – 
Distributions provided for 5 6 – – 
Total distributions paid or provided for (note 31) 26 26 – – 

The Macquarie Income Securities (MIS) are stapled arrangements, which include a perpetual preference share issued by the Bank. 
No dividends are payable under the preference shares until the Bank exercises its option to receive future payments of interest and 
principal under the other stapled security. Upon exercise, dividends are payable at the same rate, and subject to similar conditions, 
as the MIS. Dividends are also subject to Directors’ discretion. The distributions paid or provided for in respect of the MIS are 
recognised directly in equity in accordance with AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation. Refer to note 30 – Contributed 
equity for further details on these instruments. 

 

Macquarie Income Preferred Securities     
Distributions paid (net of distributions previously provided) 2 2 – – 
Distributions provided for 2 2 – – 
Total distributions paid or provided for (note 31) 4 4 – – 

The Macquarie Income Preferred Securities (MIPS) represent the NCI of a subsidiary. Accordingly, the distributions paid or provided 
for in respect of the MIPS are recorded as movements in NCI, as disclosed in note 31 – Reserves, retained earnings and non-
controlling interests. The Bank can redirect the payments of distributions under the convertible debentures to be paid to itself. For 
each debenture 500 Bank preference shares may be substituted at the Bank’s discretion at any time, in certain circumstances (to 
meet capital requirements), or on maturity. Refer to note 31 – Reserves, retained earnings and non-controlling interests, for further 
details on these instruments. 

 
Convertible Debentures     
Distributions paid (net of distributions previously provided) – – 2 2 
Distributions provided for – – 2 2 
Total distributions paid or provided for (note 31) – – 4 4 
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Note 6  
6 Receivables from financial institutions 

Cash at bank1 8,190 7,112 6,442 5,976 
Other loans to banks 77 295 2 202 
Due from clearing houses 49 172 48 78 
Total receivables from financial institutions 8,316 7,579 6,492 6,256 

1 Included within this balance is $27 million (2011: $6 million) provided as security over payables. 

The majority of the above amounts are expected to be recovered within 12 months of the balance date by the Consolidated Entity 
and the Bank. 

 

Note 7  
7 Cash collateral on securities borrowed and reverse 

repurchase agreements 

Governments1 – 43 – – 
Financial institutions 7,017 7,372 6,897 7,367 
Other 7 3 3 3 
Total cash collateral on securities borrowed and reverse 
repurchase agreements 7,024 7,418 6,900 7,370 

1  Governments include federal, state and local governments and related enterprises. 

The Consolidated Entity and the Bank enter into stock borrowing and reverse repurchase transactions with counterparties which 
require lodgement of non-cash collateral. The fair value of collateral held as at 31 March 2012 is $7,424 million (2011: $7,610 million). 
Under certain transactions, the Consolidated Entity and the Bank are allowed to resell or repledge the collateral held.  

The above amounts are expected to be recovered within 12 months of the balance date by the Consolidated Entity and the Bank. 
 

Note 8  
8 Trading portfolio assets 

Equities1     
Listed 5,249 6,305 4,792 6,169 
Unlisted 36 71 31 72 

Commodities 2,010 2,002 1,413 1,701 
Foreign government bonds1 1,325 508 565 488 
Corporate bonds 1,317 2,915 895 2,799 
Other government securities2 1,094 197 1,094 196 
Promissory notes 235 508 26 242 
Treasury notes 223 58 223 58 
Commonwealth government bonds1 31 1,818 31 1,818 
Bank bills 17 40 – – 
Certificates of deposit 8 1 – – 
Total trading portfolio assets3 11,545 14,423 9,070 13,543 

1 Included within these balances are assets provided as security over issued notes and payables to other external investors 
and financial institutions. The value of assets provided as security is $nil (2011: $8 million). 

2 Other government securities include state and local governments and related enterprises, predominantly in Australia. 
3 Included within this balance are trading assets of $2,014 million (2011: $3,721 million) pledged as collateral to secure liabilities under 

repurchase agreements and stock lending agreements. 
The above amounts are expected to be recovered within 12 months of the balance date by the Consolidated Entity and the Bank.
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Note 9  
9 Investment securities available for sale 

Equity securities      
Listed1 422 511 391 470 
Unlisted 214 394 106 111 

Debt securities2, 3, 4 15,649 14,098 16,710 13,367 
Total investment securities available for sale5 16,285 15,003 17,207 13,948 

1 Included within this balance is $2 million (2011: $2 million) provided as security over payables to other financial institutions. 
2 Includes $3,070 million (2011: $2,314 million) of Negotiable Certificates of Deposit (NCD) receivable from financial institutions and 

$120 million (2011: $43 million) of bank bills. 
3 Included within this balance is $757 million (2011: $238 million) provided as security over payables to other financial institutions. 
4 Included within this balance are debt securities of $121 million (2011: $107 million) which are recognised as a result of total return 

swaps which meet the pass through test of AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The Consolidated 
Entity does not have legal title to these assets, but has full economic exposure to them. 

5 Included within this balance is $286 million (2011: $136 million) pledged as collateral to secure liabilities under repurchase 
agreements and stock lending agreements. 

Of the above amounts, $6,654 million (2011: $5,721 million) is expected to be recovered within 12 months of the balance date by 
the Consolidated Entity and $6,531 million (2011: $5,424 million) is expected to be recovered by the Bank. 

 

Note 10  
10 Other assets 

Debtors and prepayments 4,992 5,338 3,138 3,047 
Security settlements1 1,941 889 817 654 
Property held for sale and development 360 506 – 1 
Other 151 106 5 – 
Total other assets2 7,444 6,839 3,960 3,702 

1 Security settlements are receivable within three working days of the relevant trade date. 
2 Included within this balance is $34 million (2011: $20 million) of assets which are provided as security over amounts payable 

to other financial institutions. 
The majority of the above amounts are expected to be recovered within 12 months of the balance date by the Consolidated Entity 
and the Bank. 
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Note 11  
11 Loan assets held at amortised cost 

Due from clearing houses 1,101 1,789 504 642 
Due from governments1 71 538 2 450 
Due from other entities     

Other loans and advances 38,985 39,564 17,838 16,561 
Less individually assessed provisions for impairment (349) (312) (281) (253) 

 38,636 39,252 17,557 16,308 
Lease receivables 4,503 4,017 27 72 
Less individually assessed provisions for impairment (3) (2) – – 

Total due from other entities 43,136 43,267 17,584 16,380 
Total loan assets before collective allowance for credit losses 44,308 45,594 18,090 17,472 
Less collective allowance for credit losses (213) (212) (161) (173) 
Total loan assets held at amortised cost2, 3 44,095 45,382 17,929 17,299 

1 Governments include federal, state and local governments and related enterprises, predominantly in Australia. 
2 Included within this balance are loans of $12,935 million (2011: $13,463 million) held by consolidated Special Purpose Entities 

(SPEs), which are available as security to note holders and debt providers. 
3 Included within this balance are other loans of $689 million (2011: $614 million) provided as security over issued notes and 

payables to other external investors and financial institutions. 

Of the above amounts, $12,012 million (2011: $11,428 million) is expected to be recovered within 12 months of the balance date 
by the Consolidated Entity and $5,058 million (2011: $3,950 million) is expected to be recovered by the Bank. 

 

Individually assessed provisions for impairment     
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 314 337 253 293 
Provided for during the financial year (note 2)  83 89 60 75 
Loan assets written off, previously provided for  (16) (79) (13) (72) 
Recovery of loans previously provided for (note 2) (30) (16) (21) (15) 
Transfer to related body corporate entities – – – (14) 
Impact of foreign currency translation 1 (17) 2 (14) 
Balance at the end of the financial year 352 314 281 253 
Individually assessed provisions as a percentage of total gross 
loan assets 0.79% 0.68% 1.53% 1.43% 

Collective allowance for credit losses      
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 212 227 173 189 
Provided for/(written back) during the financial year (note 2) 3 (18) (12) (21) 
Loan assets written off, previously provided for – (5) – (4) 
Attributable to acquisitions during the financial year – 9 – 9 
Impact of foreign currency translation (2) (1) – – 
Balance at the end of the financial year 213 212 161 173 

The collective allowance for credit losses is intended to cover losses in the existing overall credit portfolio which are not yet 
individually identifiable. 
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Note 12  
12 Impaired financial assets 

Impaired debt investment securities available for sale before individually 
assessed provisions for impairment  11 117 3 – 
Less individually assessed provisions for impairment (10) (86) (2) – 
Debt investment securities available for sale after individually assessed 
provisions for impairment 1 31 1 – 
Impaired loan assets and other financial assets before individually 
assessed provisions for impairment 737 723 585 608 
Less individually assessed provisions for impairment (380) (359) (306) (297) 
Loan assets and other financial assets after individually assessed 
provisions for impairment 357 364 279 311 
Total net impaired financial assets 358 395 280 311 
 

Note 13  
13 Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Investment securities     
Equity securities 2,131 2,384 1,126 1,873 
Debt securities 2,025 5,748 1,979 5,577 

Loan assets 1,806 2,475 1,752 2,490 
Total other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss1 5,962 10,607 4,857 9,940 

1 Included within this balance is $668 million (2011: $907 million) provided as security over payables to other financial institutions. 
Of the above amounts, $677 million (2011: $1,436 million) is expected to be recovered within 12 months of the balance date by 
the Consolidated Entity and $609 million (2011: $1,504 million) by the Bank. 
 

Note 14  
14 Life investment contracts and other unitholder investment assets 

Cash and receivables from financial institutions 77 144 – – 
Debt securities 550 514 – – 
Units in unit trusts 5,152 4,254 – – 
Equity securities 129 150 – – 
Total life investment contracts and other unitholder investment 
assets 5,908 5,062 – – 

Investment assets are held to satisfy policy and unitholder liabilities, which are predominantly investment linked. 

The majority of the above assets are recoverable within 12 months of the balance date. 

Income from life investment contracts and other unitholder investment assets   

Premium income, investment revenue and management fees 346 324 – – 
Life investment contract claims, reinsurance and changes in policy 
liabilities (233) (199) – – 
Direct fees (42) (47) – – 
Total income from life investment contracts and other unitholder 
investment assets (note 2) 71 78 – – 

Solvency requirements for the life investment contracts business have been met at all times during the financial year. 

As at 31 March 2012, the life investment contracts business had investment assets in excess of policy holder liabilities of  
$14 million (2011: $10 million). 
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Note 15  
15 Property, plant and equipment 

Furniture, fittings and leasehold improvements      
Cost 131 191 16 32 
Less accumulated depreciation (48) (47) (13) (18) 
Total furniture, fittings and leasehold improvements 83 144 3 14 

Communication equipment     
Cost 2 2 – 1 
Less accumulated depreciation (2) (2) – (1) 
Total communication equipment – – – – 

Computer equipment     
Cost 23 23 4 16 
Less accumulated depreciation (18) (16) (3) (14) 
Total computer equipment 5 7 1 2 

Infrastructure assets     
Cost 6 9 – – 
Less accumulated depreciation – – – – 
Total infrastructure assets 6 9 – – 
Total  94 160 4 16 
 

Assets under operating leases 

Aviation      
Cost 3,660 1,823 – – 
Less accumulated depreciation (241) (63) – – 
Total aviation 3,419 1,760 – – 

Meters     
Cost 730 211 – – 
Less accumulated depreciation (75) (38) – – 
Total meters 655 173 – – 

Rail cars     
Cost 489 157 – – 
Less accumulated depreciation (29) (20) – – 
Total rail cars 460 137 – – 

Other     
Cost 254 185 – – 
Less accumulated depreciation (47) (52) – – 
Total other 207 133 – – 
Total assets under operating lease 4,741 2,203 – – 
Total property, plant and equipment 4,835 2,363 4 16 

The majority of the above amounts are expected to be recovered after 12 months of the balance date by the Consolidated Entity 
and the Bank. 
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Note 15 
Property, plant and equipment continued 

Reconciliation of the movement in the Consolidated Entity’s property, plant and equipment at their written-down value: 

 Furniture, 
fittings and 

leasehold 
improvements 

$m 

Communication 
equipment 

$m 

Computer 
equipment 

$m 

Infrastructure 
assets 

$m 
Total 

$m 

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 144 – 7 9 160 
Acquisitions 32 – 6 – 38 
Disposals (68) – (1) (1) (70) 
Reclassification – – – – – 
Impairments (7) – – (2) (9) 
Foreign exchange movements – – – – – 
Depreciation expense (note 2) (18) – (7) – (25) 
Balance at the end of the financial year 83 – 5 6 94 

Included in the balance of property, plant and equipment are assets pledged as security over payables to other financial institutions. 
The terms preclude these assets from being sold or being used as security for further liabilities without the permission of the financial 
institution. The carrying value of assets pledged is $8 million (2011: $10 million). 

Assets under operating lease 

 
Aviation 

$m 
Meters 

$m 
Rail cars 

$m 
Others 

$m 
Total 

$m 
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 1,760 173 137 133 2,203 
Acquisitions 2,175 516 337 120 3,148 
Disposals (346) – (6) (6) (358) 
Reclassification1 – – – (11) (11) 
Impairments (7) – – – (7) 
Foreign exchange movements 13 5 2 1 21 
Depreciation expense (176) (39) (10) (30) (255) 
Balance at the end of the financial year 3,419 655 460 207 4,741 

1  Over the financial year, $11 million of operating assets have been reclassified to finance leases. 

Included in the balance of operating leases are assets pledged as security over payables to other financial institutions. The terms 
preclude these assets from being sold or being used as security for further liabilities without the permission of the financial institution. 
The carrying value of assets pledged is $2,284 million (2011: $219 million). 

The future minimum lease payments expected to be received under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 

Assets under operating lease 

  

Consolidated 
2012 

$m 

Consolidated 
2011  

$m 

Bank 
 2012 

$m 

Bank 
 2011 

$m 

Not later than one year  493 293 – – 
Later than one year, not later than five years  1,231 789 – – 
Later than five years  212 189 – – 
Total future minimum lease payments receivable  1,936 1,271 – – 
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Note 16  
16 Interests in associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method 

Loans and investments without provisions for impairment 513 665 153 220 
Loans and investments with provisions for impairment 339 323 195 291 
Less provision for impairment (145) (132) (116) (40) 
Loans and investments at recoverable amount 194 191 79 251 
Total interests in associates and joint ventures accounted for 
using the equity method 707 856 232 471 

The above amounts are expected to be recovered after 12 months of the balance date by the Consolidated Entity and the Bank. 

 Consolidated  
2012 
 $m 

Consolidated  
2011 

 $m 

(i) Reconciliation of movement in the Consolidated Entity’s interests in  
 associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method: 

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 856 915 
Transfer as part of restructure – (58) 
Associates acquired/equity invested 123 187 
Share of pre-tax profits of associates and joint ventures 53 64 
Share of tax expense of associates and joint ventures (16) (19) 
Dividends received from associates (note 33) (65) (165) 
Associates disposed of (150) (112) 
Impairment of investments in associates  (50) (18) 
Foreign exchange and other adjustments 24 (38) 
Transferred (to)/from other asset categories (68) 100 
Balance at the end of the financial year 707 856 
 
(ii) Summarised information of interests in material associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method 

is as follows: 

Name of entity 
Country of 

incorporation 
Reporting  

date 

Ownership interest 
2012 2011 

% % 
MGPA Limited1, a Bermuda 30 June 56 56 

1 Significant influence arises due to the Consolidated Entity’s voting power and board representation. 
a  Property development/management 
 

 

Consolidated  
2012 

$m 

Consolidated  
2011 

$m 

Bank 
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$m 

Bank 
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$m 

(iii) Contingent liabilities of associates and joint  
 ventures are as follows: 

Share incurred jointly with other investors 33 15 – – 
For which the Consolidated Entity is severally liable 17 8 – –  
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Note 16 
Interests in associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method continued 

(iv) Financial information of interests in associates and joint ventures are as follows: 

Consolidated Entity’s share of:      
Assets  1,267 1,246 344 558 
Liabilities  903 763 201 276 
Revenues  165 211 77 70 
Profit after tax  32 41 29 14 
 

Note 17  
17 Intangible assets 

Goodwill 336 332 – – 
Customer and servicing contracts 111 139 – – 
Intangible assets with indefinite lives 224 236 – – 
Other identifiable intangible assets 203 159 66 40 
Total intangible assets 874 866 66 40 

The majority of the above amounts are expected to be recovered after 12 months of the balance date by the Consolidated Entity and 
the Bank. 

Reconciliation of the Consolidated Entity’s movement in intangible assets:  

 
Goodwill 

$m 

Customer 
and servicing 

contracts 
$m 

Intangible 
assets with 

indefinite 
lives 

$m 

Other 
identifiable 
intangible 

assets 
$m 

 
Total 

$m 

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 332 139 236 159 866 
Acquisitions during the financial year 16 2 – 111 129 
Reclassifications during the financial year 1 – – (1) – 
Adjustments to purchase consideration1 (3) – – (4) (7) 
Disposals during the financial year (2) – – (1) (3) 
Impairment during the financial year (6) (2) (12) (1) (21) 
Amortisation expense for the financial year – (22) – (47) (69) 
Currency translation difference arising during the 
financial year (2) (6) – (13) (21) 
Balance at the end of the financial year 336 111 224 203 874 

1 These balances relate to adjustments to purchase considerations and allocations. 
In relation to businesses acquired and held for disposal, the individual business is treated as a cash generating unit. Assets 
associated with strategic business acquisitions are allocated to each of the operating segments (refer to note 3 – Segment reporting) 
and assessed for impairment on a regional legal entity operating group basis. 

The recoverable amount of goodwill is determined using the higher of value-in-use and fair value less costs to sell.  

Value-in-use calculations are based upon discounting estimated post-tax cashflows at a risk-adjusted interest rate appropriate 
to the cash generating unit to which the goodwill applies. The determination of both cashflows and discount rates require the 
exercise of judgement. The calculations use cash flow estimations based on financial budgets and forecasts reviewed by 
management. These cashflows are discounted at rates that have been determined by reference to historical company and 
industry experience and publicly available data.  

Fair value less cost to sell calculations are determined using an earnings multiple approach applicable to that type of business. 
These have been determined by reference to historical company and industry experience and publicly available data. 
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Note 18  
18 Investments in subsidiaries 

Investments at cost without provisions for impairment – – 3,545 3,600 
Investments at cost with provisions for impairment – – 1,251 609 
Less provisions for impairment – – (533) (428) 
Investments at recoverable amount – – 718 181 
Total investments in subsidiaries – – 4,263 3,781 

The above amounts are expected to be recovered after 12 months of the balance date by the Bank. 

The material subsidiaries of the Bank, based on contribution to the Consolidated Entity’s profit after income tax, the size of the 
investment made by the Bank or the nature of activities conducted by the subsidiary, are: 

– Delaware Management Company (United States) 
– Macquarie Affiliated Managers (USA) Inc. (United States) 
– Macquarie Affiliated Managers Holdings (USA) Inc. (United States) 
– Macquarie Agricultural Funds Management Limited 
– Macquarie Alternative Assets Management Limited 
– Macquarie Bank International Limited (United Kingdom) 
– Macquarie Corporate and Asset Finance Limited 
– Macquarie Equities Limited 
– Macquarie FG Holdings Inc. (United States) 
– Macquarie Financial Holdings (USA) LLC (United States) 
– Macquarie Financial Limited/Financiere Macquarie Ltee. (Canada) 
– Macquarie Financial Products Management Limited 
– Macquarie Funding Holdings Inc. (United States) 
– Macquarie Funding Inc. (Canada) 
– Macquarie Investment Management Limited 
– Macquarie Investment Services Limited 
– Macquarie Life Limited 
– Macquarie Securitisation Limited 
– MQ Portfolio Management Limited 

 Note: All material entities are incorporated in Australia unless otherwise stated. 
 

Overseas subsidiaries conduct business predominantly in their place of incorporation, unless otherwise stated. 

Beneficial interest in all entities is 100 per cent. 

All material entities have a 31 March reporting date. 

 

In accordance with an ASIC instrument, Macquarie Bank Limited is required to disclose that it has been granted relief from 
synchronising the year-end of one of its consolidated Australian Funds, being “Pareto Global Risk Adjusted Alpha Trust” 
ARSN 134 011 313 (Pareto Fund). This is of no consequence to the consolidation as, while the Pareto Fund year end is different 
to that of Macquarie Bank Limited, the results and balances included in the consolidation are at the reporting date of 31 March.
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Note 19  
19 Deed of cross guarantee 

On 26 March 2009 MBL, Macquarie Americas Holdings Pty Limited, Macquarie Corporate and Asset Finance Limited, Macquarie 
Property Investment Management Holdings Limited and Pacific Rim Operations Limited entered into a deed of cross guarantee under 
which each company guarantees the debts of the others. On 25 February 2010, Macquarie Australia Pty Limited entered into the 
deed and on 22 March 2010, Boston Australia Pty Limited and MTF Holdings Pty Limited entered the deed. By entering into the deed, 
the wholly-owned entities have been relieved from the requirement to prepare a financial report and directors’ report under Class 
Order 98/1418 (as amended) issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission. 

Consolidated income statement and a summary of movements in consolidated retained earnings 

The above entities represent a ‘Closed Group’ (the Closed Group) for the purpose of the Class Order, and as there are no other 
parties to the Deed of cross guarantee that are controlled by the Bank they also represent the ‘Extended Closed Group’. 

Consolidated income statement of the Closed Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2012 

 
2012 
 $m 

2011 
 $m 

Interest and similar income 3,859 3,962 
Interest expense and similar charges (2,859) (2,812) 
Net interest income 1,000 1,150 

Fee and commission income 85 95 
Net trading income 917 561 
Share of net profits of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method 9 20 
Other operating income and charges 1,336 595 
Net operating income 3,347 2,421 

Employment expenses (850) (853) 
Brokerage, commission and trading-related expenses (339) (363) 
Occupancy expenses (88) (84) 
Non-salary technology expenses (54) (59) 
Other operating expenses (844) (964) 
Total operating expenses (2,175) (2,323) 

Operating profit before income tax 1,172 98 
Income tax expense (39) (150) 
Gain/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the Closed Group 1,133 (52) 

Summary of movements in consolidated retained earnings   
Retained earnings at the beginning of the financial year 586 1,277 
Profit/(loss) attributable to equity holder of the Closed Group 1,133 (52) 
Dividends paid or provided (495) (639) 
Retained earnings at the end of the financial year 1,224 586 
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Note 19 
Deed of cross guarantee continued 
Consolidated statement of financial position of the Closed Group as at 31 March 2012 

 
2012 
 $m 

2011 
 $m 

Assets   
Receivables from financial institutions 6,493 6,255 
Cash collateral on securities borrowed and reverse repurchase agreements 6,900 7,370 
Trading portfolio assets 9,069 13,543 
Derivative assets 18,917 18,551 
Investment securities available for sale 17,207 13,996 
Other assets  3,960 3,707 
Loan assets held at amortised cost 17,929 17,299 
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4,857 9,940 
Due from related body corporate entities 984 2,243 
Due from subsidiaries 17,239 16,668 
Property, plant and equipment  4 16 
Interests in associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method 338 476 
Intangible assets 66 40 
Investments in subsidiaries 5,939 5,224 
Deferred tax assets – 13 
Total assets 109,902 115,341 

Liabilities   
Cash collateral on securities lent and repurchase agreements 5,881 6,099 
Trading portfolio liabilities 3,468 5,621 
Derivative liabilities 17,967 18,191 
Deposits 35,028 34,481 
Current tax liabilities – 15 
Other liabilities 4,271 4,046 
Payables to financial institutions 3,438 1,359 
Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 1,265 2,122 
Due to related body corporate entities 2,714 6,212 
Due to subsidiaries 7,765 8,749 
Debt issued at amortised cost 16,278 17,698 
Provisions 56 58 
Deferred tax liabilities 98 – 
Total liabilities excluding loan capital 98,229 104,651 

Loan capital   
Subordinated debt at amortised cost 2,176 1,430 
Subordinated debt at fair value through profit or loss 150 467 
Total loan capital 2,326 1,897 
Total liabilities 100,555 106,548 
Net assets 9,347 8,793 

Equity   
Contributed equity   

Ordinary share capital 7,578 7,278 
Equity contribution from ultimate parent entity  79 75 
Macquarie Income Securities 391 391 
Convertible debentures 107 107 

Reserves (32) 356 
Retained earnings 1,224 586 
Total equity 9,347 8,793 
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Note 20  
20 Deferred tax (liabilities)/assets 

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:      
Tax losses 209 152 42 2 
Fixed assets 63 19 46 37 
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 2 139 14 23 
Set-off of deferred tax liabilities (169) 66 (61) (1) 
Total deferred tax assets 105 376 41 61 

Intangible assets (111) (139) – – 
Financial instruments (467) (101) (37) 109 
Other liabilities (126) 6 (163) (87) 
Tax effect of reserves (1) (93) 15 (80) 
Set-off of deferred tax assets 169 (66) 61 1 
Total deferred tax liabilities (536) (393) (124) (57) 
Net deferred tax (liabilities)/assets (431) (17) (83) 4 

The majority of the above amounts are expected to be recovered after 12 months of the balance date by the Consolidated Entity and 
the Bank. 
Potential tax assets of approximately $21 million (2011: $17 million) attributable to tax losses carried forward by subsidiaries have not 
been brought to account in the subsidiaries and in the Consolidated Entity as the Directors do not believe the realisation of the tax 
assets is probable. 
The principles of the balance sheet method of tax effect accounting have been adopted whereby the income tax expense for the 
financial year is the tax payable on the current year’s taxable income, adjusted for changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities 
attributable to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial 
statements and unused tax losses. Deductible temporary differences and tax losses give rise to deferred tax assets. Deferred tax 
assets are not recognised unless the benefit is probable of realisation.  
The deferred tax assets have been applied against deferred tax liabilities to the extent that they are expected to be realised in the 
same period and within the same tax paying entity. 
 
 

Note 21  
21 Cash collateral on securities lent and repurchase agreements 

Central banks – 190 – 190 
Governments – 344 – 344 
Financial institutions 4,773 5,562 5,878 5,562 
Other 6 7 3 3 
Total cash collateral on securities lent and repurchase 
agreements 4,779 6,103 5,881 6,099 
 

Note 22  
22 Trading portfolio liabilities 

Listed equity securities 2,541 4,424 2,541 4,325 
Commonwealth government securities 551 340 551 340 
Corporate securities 213 472 183 460 
Other government securities 202 496 193 496 
Total trading portfolio liabilities 3,507 5,732 3,468 5,621 
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Note 23  
23 Other liabilities 

Creditors 4,621 4,901 2,721 2,636 
Due to brokers and customers 2,217 1,374 1,132 628 
Accrued charges and sundry provisions 729 737 332 419 
Other 153 451 86 366 
Total other liabilities 7,720 7,463 4,271 4,049 

The majority of the above amounts are expected to be settled within 12 months of the balance date by the Consolidated Entity and 
the Bank. 

 

Note 24  
24 Payables to financial institutions 

OECD banks 2,417 600 793 412 
Clearing houses1 – 3 – 3 
Other 1,882 977 892 596 
Total payable to financial institutions 4,299 1,580 1,685 1,011 

1 Amounts due to clearing houses are settled on the next business day. 

 

Note 25  
25 Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Equity linked notes 1,638 2,907 1,219 2,120 
Debt issued at fair value 50 2 46 2 
Total other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 1,688 2,909 1,265 2,122 
 

Note 26  
26 Debt issued at amortised cost 

Debt issued at amortised cost1 35,068 36,943 16,213 17,697 
Total debt issued at amortised cost 35,068 36,943 16,213 17,697 

1  Included within this balance are amounts payable to SPE note holders of $11,474 million (2011: $11,679 million). 
The Consolidated Entity has not had any defaults of principal, interest or other breaches with respect to its debt during the years 
reported. 

Reconciliation of debt issued at amortised cost and  
other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or  
loss by major currency: 
(In Australian dollar equivalent): 

United States dollars 13,013 14,298 10,341 12,284 
Australian dollars 12,638 14,257 4,067 4,683 
Canadian dollars 7,192 7,242 72 46 
Japanese yen 1,551 1,384 1,551 1,384 
Euro 1,394 2,284 873 1,142 
Great British pounds  476 135 240 70 
Korean won 171 – 78 – 
Singapore dollars 121 62 119 42 
Hong Kong dollars 88 164 88 164 
Others 112 26 49 4 
Total by currency 36,756 39,852 17,478 19,819 
 
The Bank’s and Consolidated Entity’s primary sources for domestic and international debt funding are its multi-currency, multi-
jurisdictional Debt Instrument Program and domestic NCD issuance. Securities can be issued for terms varying from one day to 
30 years.  
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Note 27  
27 Provisions 

Provision for annual leave 49 44 27 26 
Provision for long service leave 27 28 27 28 
Provision for other employee entitlements 16 – – – 
Provision for dividends 7 8 2 2 
Total provisions 99 80 56 56 

The majority of the above amounts are expected to be settled after 12 months of the balance date by the Consolidated Entity and 
the Bank. 
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Note 28  
28 Capital management strategy 

The Bank and Consolidated Entity’s capital management strategy is to maximise shareholder value through optimising the level and 
use of capital resources, whilst also providing the flexibility to take advantage of opportunities as they may arise. 

– The Consolidated Entity’s capital management objectives are to: 
– continue to support the Consolidated Entity’s credit rating; 
– ensure sufficient capital resource to support the Consolidated Entity’s business and operational requirements; 
– maintain sufficient capital to exceed externally imposed capital requirements; and 
– safeguard the Consolidated Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.  
– The Consolidated Entity’s capital management strategy uses both internal and external measures of capital. Internally, 

Macquarie’s Economic Capital Model (ECAM) has been developed to quantify the Consolidated Entity’s aggregate level of risk. 
The ECAM is used in the Consolidated Entity to support business decision making, including deciding the required level of capital, 
the setting of risk appetite and as a risk adjusted performance measure. 

The Consolidated Entity is subject to minimum capital requirements externally imposed by APRA, following the guidelines developed 
by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision. The Bank reports to APRA under Basel II capital requirements and has been 
granted accreditation by APRA to adopt the Basel II Foundation Internal Ratings Based Approach for credit risk, the Advanced 
Measurement Approach for operational risk, the internal model approach for market risk and the internal model approach for 
interest rate risk in the banking book. 

Regulatory capital requirements are measured for the Bank and certain subsidiaries which meet the definition of extended licensed 
entities (Level 1 reporting), and for the Banking Group (Level 2 reporting). Level 2 consists of the Bank, its subsidiaries and its 
immediate parent less certain subsidiaries of the Bank which are deconsolidated for APRA reporting purposes. These include 
entities conducting insurance, fund management, non-financial operations and special purpose vehicles. APRA requires ADIs to 
have a minimum ratio of capital to risk weighted assets of 8 per cent at both Level 1 and Level 2, with at least 4 per cent of this 
capital in the form of Tier 1 capital. In addition, APRA imposes ADI specific minimum capital ratios which may be higher than these 
levels. The Consolidated Entity internal capital policy set by the Board requires capital floors above this regulatory required level.  

The Banking Group’s Tier 1 capital consists of share capital, retained earnings, certain reserves, hybrid instruments and deductions. 
The hybrid instruments include Macquarie Income Securities, Macquarie Income Preferred Securities and Exchangeable Capital 
Securities. Deductions from Tier 1 capital include intangibles, certain capitalised expenses and deferred tax assets. In addition, Basel 
II requires that equity investments over prescribed limits and investments in subsidiaries that are insurance entities, fund management 
entities, special purpose securitisation entities and non-financial entities are deducted 50 per cent from Tier 1 capital and 50 per cent 
from Tier 2 capital. The Banking Group’s Tier 2 capital includes term subordinated debt, certain reserves and deductions. Deductions 
from Tier 2 capital include the 50 per cent of equity investments above limits and investments in subsidiaries as noted above. 

The Bank and Consolidated Entity have complied with all internal and external capital management requirements throughout the year.
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Note 29  
29 Loan capital 

Subordinated debt 

Agreements between the Consolidated Entity and the lenders provide that, in the event of liquidation, entitlement of such lenders 
to repayment of the principal sum and interest thereon is, and shall at all times be and remain, subordinated to the rights of all other 
present and future creditors of the Consolidated Entity. 

Exchangeable Capital Securities 

On 26 March 2012, the Bank, acting through its London Branch, issued US$250 million of Exchangeable Capital Securities (ECS). 

The ECS, being unsecured subordinated notes, pay non-cumulative interest of 10.25 per cent per annum, payable semi annually in 
arrears, with the rate to be reset on 20 June 2017 (and each fifth anniversary thereafter) if the ECS remain outstanding after this time. 
The interest payments are subject to payment tests, including the discretion of the Bank as to whether payments should be made. 
If interest is not paid on the ECS on an interest payment date, the Bank and MGL will be restricted from paying dividends or returning 
capital on their ordinary shares until the next interest payment date. 

Subject to certain conditions being met, the ECS will be exchanged for a variable number of fully paid MGL ordinary shares on  
20 June 2017, or on any interest payment date thereafter, with exchange to occur no later than 20 June 2057. The ECS may also be 
exchanged earlier on an acquisition event (where a person acquires control of the Bank or MGL), where the Bank’s common equity 
Tier 1 capital ratio falls below 5.125 per cent, or where APRA determines the Bank would be non-viable without an exchange or a 
public sector injection of capital (or equivalent support). 

If exchange occurs, a variable number of MGL ordinary shares will be issued at a 5 per cent discount to the MGL share price, as 
quoted on the ASX and converted to US dollars, determined over a period immediately prior to the date of that exchange. There is no 
additional amount payable by an ECS holder on an exchange. No ECS were exchanged during the financial year. The total number of 
MGL ordinary shares that would be issued if ECS were exchanged at 31 March 2012 would be 8,730,560. The maximum total 
number of MGL ordinary shares that can be issued on an exchange is 17,689,525.  

The ECS will only be redeemable, subject to APRA’s written approval, at the discretion of the Bank in limited circumstances, 
including following a change in law that has an impact on the regulatory or tax treatment of the ECS. 

As at 31 March 2012, the remaining principal liability related to the ECS was US$250 million ($241 million). 

Maturity and currency profiles of loan capital instruments 
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The dates upon which the Consolidated Entity has committed to repay the principal sum to the lenders are as follows: 

Less than 12 months 59 26 59 26 
19 September 2016 – 306 – 306 
6 December 2016 – 441 – 441 
31 May 2017 299 308 299 308 
21 September 2020 767 816 767 816 
7 April 2021 963 – 963 – 
Subordinated debt 2,088 1,897 2,088 1,897 
The instrument where the Consolidated Entity has a conditional repayment obligation is shown below: 
ECS 241 – 241 – 
Total loan capital1 2,329 1,897 2,329 1,897 

Reconciliation of loan capital by major currency: (In Australian dollar equivalent) 
United States dollars 1,230 – 1,230 – 
Euro 791 1,283 791 1,283 
Australian dollars 308 306 308 306 
Great British pounds – 308 – 308 
Total loan capital by currency1 2,329 1,897 2,329 1,897 

1 Balance disclosed excludes $3 million (2011: $nil) of directly attributable costs related to the issue of Exchangeable Capital Securities. 

The Consolidated Entity has not had any defaults of principal, interest or other breaches with respect to its loan capital during the 
years reported. 

The carrying value of subordinated debt at fair value through profit or loss at 31 March 2012 is equal to the contractual amount at 
maturity (2011: $5 million higher).  

In accordance with APRA guidelines, the Consolidated Entity includes the applicable portion of its loan capital principal as Tier 2 
capital. 
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Note 30  
30 Contributed equity 

Ordinary share capital     
Opening balance of fully paid ordinary shares 485,069,369 444,085,965 7,278 6,508 
Issue of shares to Macquarie B.H. Pty Ltd on 29 June 2010 at $18.70 
per share – 3,743,316 – 70 
Issue of shares to Macquarie B.H. Pty Ltd on 30 July 2010 at $18.87 
per share – 13,248,543 – 250 
Issue of shares to Macquarie B.H. Pty Ltd on 29 September 2010 at 
$18.78 per share – 15,974,441 – 300 
Issue of shares to Macquarie B.H. Pty Ltd on 29 March 2011 at 
$18.71 per share – 8,017,104 – 150 
Issue of shares to Macquarie B.H. Pty Ltd on 30 June 2011 at $18.19 
per share 16,492,579 – 300 – 
Closing balance of fully paid ordinary shares 501,561,948 485,069,369 7,578 7,278 
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Equity contribution from ultimate parent entity     
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 102 87 75 67 
Additional paid up capital 6 15 4 8 
Balance at the end of the financial year 108 102 79 75 

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the ultimate parent entity, MGL, introduced MEREP, which grants RSUs, DSUs and PSUs 
to eligible staff of the Consolidated Entity. Under MEREP the staff retained profit share is held in the shares of MGL by the 
Macquarie Group Employee Retained Equity Plan Trust (MEREP Trust). Where MEREP awards are issued by MGL to employees 
of the Consolidated Entity and MGL is not subsequently reimbursed by the Consolidated Entity, the Consolidated Entity recognises 
the equity provided as a capital contribution from MGL. During the year ended 31 March 2012, compensation expense relating to 
MEREP which has been treated as paid up capital in the Consolidated Entity totalled $1,628,818 (2011: $2,532,976) and in the Bank 
$747,807 (2011: $180,581). For further information regarding the terms and conditions of MEREP refer to note 35 – Employee equity 
participation. 

In November 1995, the Bank introduced an Employee Option Plan, as a replacement for the Bank’s then closed partly paid 
share scheme. On 13 November 2007, the date of the restructure of the Macquarie Group, all MBL options were cancelled and 
replacement options over shares in the new ultimate parent entity, MGL, were issued on the same terms on a one-for-one basis 
under the Macquarie Group Employee Share Option Plan (MGESOP). Staff eligible to participate were those of Associate Director 
level and above and consultants to the Consolidated Entity. The options are measured at their grant dates based on their fair value 
and the number expected to vest. This amount is recognised as an expense evenly over the respective vesting periods. Since 
13 November 2007 the equity provided has been treated as an equity contribution from MGL. For the year ended 31 March 2012, 
compensation expense relating to MGESOP which has been treated as additional paid up capital in the Consolidated Entity totalled 
$3,591,240 (2011: $11,445,656) and in the Bank $2,287,030 (2011: $7,300,282). In addition, pursuant to an amendment to the 
terms of the Macquarie Group Staff Share Acquisition Plan (MGSSAP) and Employee Share Plan (ESP) to allow the issue of new 
shares as an alternative to acquiring existing shares on-market, compensation expense relating to these plans which has been 
recognised as additional paid up capital in the Consolidated Entity totalled $447,104 (2011: $667,121) and in the Bank $442,223 
(2011: $658,369). Details of the MGESOP, MGSSAP and ESP are disclosed in note 35 – Employee equity participation. 
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Note 30 
Contributed equity continued 

Macquarie Income Securities     
4,000,000 Macquarie Income Securities of $100 each 400 400 400 400 
Less transaction costs for original placement (9) (9) (9) (9) 
Total Macquarie Income Securities 391 391 391 391 

The Macquarie Income Securities are classified as equity in accordance with AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation. 
Interest is paid quarterly at a floating rate of Bank Bill Swap Rate (BBSW) plus 1.7 per cent p.a. Payment of interest to holders 
is subject to certain conditions, including the profitability of the Bank. They are a perpetual instrument with no conversion rights. 
They were listed for trading on the ASX on 19 October 1999 and became redeemable (in whole or in part) at the Bank’s discretion 
on 19 November 2004. 

Convertible debentures     
850 convertible debentures of £50,000 each – – 107 107 
Total convertible debentures – – 107 107 

As part of the issue of the Macquarie Income Preferred Securities (detailed in note 31 – Reserves, retained earnings and 
non-controlling interests), the London branch of the Bank issued 7,000 reset subordinated convertible debentures, each 
with a face value of £50,000, to Macquarie Capital Funding LP, a subsidiary of the Bank. The convertible debentures, which 
eliminate on consolidation, currently pay a 6.177 per cent (2011: 6.177 per cent) semi-annual cumulative fixed rate distribution. 
The debentures mature on 15 April 2050, but may be redeemed, at the Bank’s discretion, on 15 April 2020 or on any reset date 
thereafter. If redemption is not elected, then on 15 April 2020 and on each fifth anniversary thereafter, the debenture coupon 
will be reset to 2.35 per cent (2011: 2.35 per cent) per annum above the then prevailing five year benchmark sterling gilt rate. 
Following the redemption of 6,150 convertible debentures on 29 September 2009, 850 convertible debentures remain on issue. 

The distribution policies for these instruments are included in note 5 – Dividends paid and distributions paid or provided for.  

 

 



 

 
 
 

 

Consolidated  
2012 

$m 

Consolidated  
2011 

$m 

Bank 
2012 

$m 

Bank 
2011 

$m 
 

89 

Note 31  
31 Reserves, retained earnings and non-controlling interests 

Reserves     
Foreign currency translation reserve     
Balance at the beginning of the financial year (643) (241) (34) (57) 
Currency translation differences arising during the financial year, net 
of hedge and net of tax (15) (402) (4) 23 
Balance at the end of the financial year (658) (643) (38) (34) 

Available for sale reserve     
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 307 192 266 210 
Revaluation movement for the financial year, net of tax (91) 174 (126) 116 
Transfer to income statement upon impairment, net of tax 1 (6) 1 (6) 
Transfer to income statement on realisation (142) (53) (139) (54) 
Balance at the end of the financial year 75 307 2 266 

Share-based payments reserve     
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 186 186 186 186 
Transfer to retained earnings1 (186) – (186) – 
Balance at the end of the financial year – 186 – 186 

Cash flow hedging reserve     
Balance at the beginning of the financial year  (26) (47) (6) (27) 
Revaluation movement for the financial year, net of tax (10) 21 7 21 
Balance at the end of the financial year (36) (26) 1 (6) 

Share of reserves of interests in associates and joint ventures 
accounted for using the equity method     
Balance at the beginning of the financial year  1 1 – – 
Share of other comprehensive income during the financial year 1 – – – 
Balance at the end of the financial year 2 1 – – 
Reserves arising from group restructure of combining entities 
under common control     
Balance at the beginning of the financial year (261) (261) (61) (61) 
Arising from acquisition of subsidiaries from the  
Non-Banking Group (note 43) (1) – – – 
Transfer to retained earnings2 262 – 61 – 
Balance at the end of the financial year – (261) – (61) 
Total reserves at the end of the financial year (617) (436) (35) 351 

1 Includes $186 million (March 2011: $nil) transferred to retained earnings in respect of expired and lapsed options. 
2 Reserves arising from group restructure of combining entities under common control relate predominantly to transactions in the 

31 March 2007 and 31 March 2008 financial years where these reserves and ordinary share capital were disclosed on a gross 
basis to explain the impacts of restructures of entities under the control of MGL. While the presentation was relevant to those 
reporting periods, there is no continuing value to the users of the accounts in carrying forward the gross disclosures and as such, 
these reserves have been transferred to retained earnings.

Retained earnings     
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 1,701 1,533 679 1,288 
Profit attributable to equity holders of MBL 635 829 298 30 
Distributions paid or provided for on Macquarie Income Securities 
(note 5) (26) (26) – – 
Distributions paid or provided on convertible debentures (note 5) – – (4) (4) 
Dividends paid on ordinary share capital (note 5) (491) (635) (491) (635) 
Transfer from share-based payments reserves1 186 – 186 – 
Transfer from reserves arising from group restructure of combining 
entities under common control2 (262) – (61) – 
Balance at the end of the financial year 1,743 1,701 607 679 
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Note 31 
Reserves, retained earnings and non-controlling interests continued 

Non-controlling interests     
Macquarie Income Preferred Securities3     
Proceeds on issue of Macquarie Income Preferred Securities 107 107 – – 
Less issue costs (1) (1) – – 
 106 106 – – 

Current year profit 4 4 – – 
Distribution provided for on Macquarie Income Preferred Securities 
(note 5) (4) (4) – – 
Foreign currency translation reserve (43) (43) – – 
Total Macquarie Income Preferred Securities 63 63 – – 

Other non-controlling interests     
Ordinary share capital 5 13 – – 
Retained earnings – (4) – – 
Total other non-controlling interests 5 9 – – 
Total non-controlling interests 68 72 – – 

3 On 22 September 2004, Macquarie Capital Funding LP, a subsidiary of the Bank, issued £350 million of Macquarie Income Preferred 
Securities (the Securities). The Securities – guaranteed non-cumulative step-up perpetual preferred securities – currently pay a 6.177 
per cent (2011: 6.177 per cent) per annum semi-annual non-cumulative fixed rate distribution. They are perpetual securities and have 
no fixed maturity but may be redeemed on 15 April 2020, at the Bank’s discretion. If redemption is not elected on this date, the 
distribution rate will be reset to 2.35 per cent (2011: 2.35 per cent) per annum above the then five-year benchmark sterling gilt rate. 
The Securities may be redeemed on each fifth anniversary thereafter at the Bank’s discretion. The first coupon was paid on 15 April 
2005. The instruments are reflected in the Consolidated Entity’s financial statements as a NCI, with distribution entitlements being 
included with the NCI share of profit after tax. Following the cancellation of £307.5 million MIPS in September 2009, £42.5 million 
MIPS remain on issue. 
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Note 32  
32 Notes to the statements of cash flows 

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown 
in the statements of cash flows are reconciled to related items in the 
statements of financial position as follows:     

Receivables from financial institutions1 8,288 7,548 6,491 6,254 
Trading portfolio assets and debt securities2 3,957 2,477 3,812 2,419 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 12,245 10,025 10,303 8,673 
1 Includes cash at bank, overnight cash at bank, other loans to financial institutions and amounts due from clearing houses as per  

note 1(xx) – Summary of significant accounting policies. 
2 Includes certificates of deposit, bank bills, treasury notes and other short-term debt securities as per note 1(xx) – Summary of 

significant accounting policies. 
Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash flows from operating activities 

Profit after income tax 640 833 298 30 
Adjustments to profit after income tax:     

Depreciation and amortisation 349 183 15 10 
Fair value changes on financial assets and liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss and realised investment securities available for 
sale (248) (106) (381) (90) 
(Gain)/loss on acquiring, disposing and change in ownership interest 
in subsidiaries and businesses held for sale (15) (41) – 156 
Gain on sale of non-financial assets (104) (13) – (13) 
Provision and impairment charge on financial and non-financial 
assets 290 167 362 210 
Interest on available for sale financial assets (100) (137) 186 (59) 
Net gains on sale of investment securities available for sale and 
associates and joint ventures (225) (236) (152) (196) 
Share-based payment expense (note 30) 6 15 4 8 
Share of net profits of associates and joint ventures accounted for 
using the equity method (37) (45) – – 

Changes in assets and liabilities:     
Change in dividends receivable (21) 25 (22) 15 
Change in values of associates due to dividends received  65 165 96 – 
Change in fees and non-interest income receivable (241) 102 (298) 199 
Change in fees and commissions payable 87 10 98 (4) 
Change in tax balances 73 124 (79) (68) 
Change in provisions for employee entitlements 3 10 2 4 
Change in loan assets (1,720) (3,674) (4,672) (5,506) 
Change in loan receivable from ultimate parent entity 737 512 737 512 
Change in debtors, prepayments, accrued charges and creditors 110 91 (2,357) 127 
Change in net trading portfolio assets and liabilities and net 
derivative financial instruments 1,930 (3,974) 9,025 (4,257) 
Change in net interest payable, amounts due to other financial 
institutions, deposits and other borrowings 1,296 10,026 1,238 10,996 
Change in life investment contract receivables 290 209 – – 

Net cash flows from operating activities 3,165 4,246 4,100 2,074 
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Note 33  
33 Related party information 

Ultimate and immediate parent entities 
The Bank's ultimate parent entity is MGL. The Bank's immediate parent entity is Macquarie B.H. Pty Ltd. Both MGL and 
Macquarie B.H. Pty Ltd are incorporated in Australia. MGL produces financial statements that are available for public use. 

Transactions between the Consolidated Entity and the ultimate and immediate parent entities principally arise from the provision 
and repayment of loans and the provision of management and administration services. 

In the financial year ended 31 March 2008 the Bank provided a $10.1 billion intra-group loan to MGL of which $737 million was 
outstanding at 31 March 2011. This facility was repaid on 27 April 2011. 

MGL as the ultimate parent entity of the Macquarie Group is the head entity of the Australian tax consolidated group. The terms and 
conditions of the tax funding agreement are set out in note 1(vii) – Summary of significant accounting policies. During the year ended 
31 March 2012, current tax of the Consolidated Entity and the Bank attributed to MGL as the head entity of the tax consolidated 
group amounted to $58 million liabilities (2011: $249 million liabilities) and $80 million assets (2011: $79 million liabilities), respectively. 

Balances outstanding with MGL are included in Due from related body corporate entities and Due to related body corporate entities, 
as appropriate, in the statement of financial position. The following balances with the ultimate parent entity were outstanding as at 
financial year end: 

        

Consolidated  
2012 

$m 

Consolidated  
2011 

$m 

Bank 
2012 

$m 

Bank 
2011 

$m 

Amounts receivable1 137 791 92 758 
1 As described in note 1(xix) – Summary of significant accounting policies, the amounts receivable by the Bank includes $68 million 

(2011: $44 million) for amounts paid in advance for MEREP offered to their employees and yet to be recognised as a share-based 
payment expense. 

Subsidiaries 
Transactions between the Bank and its subsidiaries principally arise from the provision of banking and other financial services, the 
granting of loans and acceptance of funds on deposit, derivative transactions, the provision of management and administration 
services and the provision of guarantees. 

All transactions with subsidiaries are in accordance with regulatory requirements, the majority of which are on commercial terms. 
All transactions undertaken during the financial year with subsidiaries are eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. 
Amounts due from and due to subsidiaries are presented separately in the statement of financial position of the Bank except 
when the parties have the legal right and intention to offset. 

Balances arising from lending and borrowing activities between the Bank and subsidiaries are typically repayable on demand, but 
may be extended on a term basis and where appropriate may be either subordinated or collateralised. 

The Bank has entered into derivative transactions with its subsidiaries to hedge their operations. The fair value of derivative financial 
instruments relating to transactions between the Bank and its subsidiaries at 31 March 2012 are $1,607 million (2011: $825 million) 
positive value and $954 million (2011: $1,389 million) negative value. 

A list of material subsidiaries is set out in note 18 – Investments in subsidiaries. 
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Note 33 
Related party information continued 
Subsidiaries continued 

The following income/(expense) resulted from transactions with subsidiaries during the financial year: 

 

Consolidated  
2012 

$m 

Consolidated  
2011 

$m 

Bank 
2012 

$m 

Bank 
2011 

$m 

Interest income received/receivable  – – 457 476 
Interest expense paid/payable – – (244) (288) 
Fee and commission income – – 186 336 
Other operating income/(expense) – – 47 (5) 
Dividends and distributions received/receivable (note 2) – – 372 407 
Management fees, group service charges and cost recoveries – – 419 388 
Brokerage, commission and trading-related expenses – – 1 (252) 

The following balances with subsidiaries were outstanding  
as at the financial year end: 
Amounts receivable – – 18,927 20,134 
Amounts payable – – (8,374) (10,607) 

Other related body corporate entities 
Transactions between the Consolidated Entity and other related body corporate entities under common control principally arise from 
the provision of banking and other financial services, the granting of loans and acceptance of funds on deposit, the provision of 
management and administration services, facilities and accommodation and the provision of guarantees. 

Balances arising from lending and borrowing activities between the Consolidated Entity and other related body corporate entities are 
typically repayable on demand, but may be extended on a term basis and where appropriate may be either subordinated or 
collateralised. 

The following income/(expense) resulted from transactions with other related body corporate entities during the financial year: 

 

Consolidated  
2012 

$m 

Consolidated  
2011 

$m 

Bank 
2012 

$m 

Bank 
2011 

$m 

Interest income received/receivable  42 105 39 116 
Interest expense paid/payable (154) (216) (134) (208) 
Management fees, group service charges and cost recoveries (1) (19) (1) (18) 
Fee and commission expense (284) (455) (322) (479) 
Other operating expenses (937) (786) (711) (602) 
Other income – 51 – – 

The following balances with other related body corporate  
entities were outstanding as at financial year end: 
Amounts receivable 981 1,652 889 1,472 
Amounts payable (3,022) (6,471) (2,709) (6,212) 
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Note 33 
Related party information continued 
Associates and joint ventures 
Transactions between the Consolidated Entity and its associates and joint ventures principally arise from the provision of corporate 
advisory services, the granting of loans, derivative transactions and the provision of management services. All transactions 
undertaken with associates and joint ventures are eliminated where they are unrealised, to the extent of ownership interests held by 
the Consolidated Entity, in the consolidated income statement. 

During the financial year, the following amounts of income or expense resulted from transactions with associates and joint ventures: 

 

Consolidated  
2012 

$m 

Consolidated  
2011 

$m 

Bank 
2012 

$m 

Bank 
2011 

$m 

Interest income received/receivable 2 3 – – 
Fee and commission income/(expense)1 41 13 (23) (18) 
Other income 4 2 1 3 
Gains on sale of securities2 6 13 (2) – 
Dividends and distributions3 (note 16) 65 165 – 3 

1 Fee and commission income includes all fees charged to associates.  
2 Gains on sale of securities are shown after elimination of unrealised profits/losses calculated by reference to the Consolidated Entity’s 

ownership interest in the associate. 
3 Dividends and distributions are shown as gross amounts. Under the equity method, these amounts are not taken up as profit but are 

recorded as a reduction of the carrying amount of the investment. 
The following balances with associates and joint ventures were outstanding as at financial year end (these exclude amounts which in 
substance form part of the Consolidated Entity's net investment in associates, disclosed in note 16 – Interests in associates and joint 
ventures accounted for using the equity method): 

 

 

Consolidated  
2012 

$m 

Consolidated  
2011 

$m 

Bank 
2012 

$m 

Bank 
2011 

$m 

Amounts receivable 177 110 98 69 
Amounts payable (2) (3) (2) (3) 

Balances arising from lending and borrowing activities between the Consolidated Entity and its associates and joint ventures are 
typically repayable on demand, but may be extended on a term basis and where appropriate may be either subordinated or 
collateralised. 
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Note 34  
34 Key Management Personnel disclosure 

Key Management Personnel 
The following persons were Voting Directors of the Bank during the financial years ended 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011, 
unless indicated: 

Executive Directors 
N.W. Moore1   
W.R. Sheppard Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer (retired 20 December 2011) 
G.C. Ward1 Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer (appointed 20 December 2011) 

Non-Executive Directors 
D.S. Clarke, AO Non-Executive Chairman (resigned 17 March 2011) 
D.J. Grady, AM (appointed 19 May 2011) 
M.J. Hawker, AM  
P.M. Kirby 
C.B. Livingstone, AO 
H.K. McCann, AM Non-Executive Chairman (appointed as Chairman on 17 March 2011) 
J.R. Niland, AC 
H.M. Nugent, AO 
P.H. Warne  
 
In addition to the Executive Directors listed above, the following persons also had authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the activities of MBL during the past two financial years ended 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011, unless otherwise 
indicated. 

Executives 

S.D. Allen1 Group Head, Risk Management Group 
A.J. Downe1 Group Head, Fixed Income, Currencies and Commodities Group 
G.A. Farrell1 Group Head, Corporate and Asset Finance Group (appointed 2 July 2010) 
R.S. Laidlaw Executive Chairman, Macquarie Securities Group (11 July 2011 until retirement from the Executive 

Committee on 31 December 2011) 
 Group Head, Macquarie Securities Group (to 7 April 2011)  
 Group Head, Macquarie Capital (to 31 December 2011) 
P.J. Maher1 Group Head, Banking and Financial Services Group 
M. McLaughlin1 Country Head, Unites States of America (appointed 1 January 2012) 
S. Vrcelj1 Group Head, Macquarie Securities Group (appointed 7 April 2011) 
 Head of Global Cash and Equities (2 July 2010 to 22 November 2011) 
S. Wikramanayake1 Group Head, Macquarie Funds Group  

1 Members of the Bank's Executive Committee as at 27 April 2012. 

The remuneration arrangements for all of the persons listed above are described in Appendix 2 of the Remuneration Report, 
contained in the Directors' Report pages 6 to 32. 
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Note 34 
Key Management Personnel disclosure continued 

Key Management Personnel remuneration  
The following table details the aggregate remuneration for Key Management Personnel:  

 Short-term Employee Benefits 

Long-term 
Employee 
Benefits1 

Share-based 
Payments 

 

 

Salary and fees 
(including 

superannuation) 
$ 

Performance 
related 

remuneration 
$ 

Other  
benefits 

$ 

Total  
short-term 
Employee 

Benefits 
$ 

Restricted  
profit share 

$ 

Equity 
awards 

including 
shares 

$ 

PSUs/ 
Options 

$ 

Total  
remuneration 

$ 

Executive Remuneration    
 

   
2012 6,102,099 13,978,951 – 20,081,050 5,624,692 16,534,442 4,719,042 46,959,226 
2011 4,190,692 13,465,328 – 17,656,020 5,878,563 8,184,654 2,793,965 34,513,202 

Non-Executive Remuneration    
 

   
2012 686,438 – 11,304 697,742 – – – 697,742 
2011 702,056 – 8,571 710,627 – – – 710,627 

1 Includes earnings or losses on restricted profit share. 
 
Loans to Key Management Personnel and their related parties  

Details of loans provided by the Consolidated Entity to Key Management Personnel and their related parties are disclosed in the 
following tables: 

  

Opening 
balance at  

1 April 
$’000 

Interest 
charged  

$’000 
Write-downs 

$’000 

Closing 
balance at  
31 March 

$’000 

Total for Key Management Personnel and their 
related parties 

2012 5,532 374 – 5,882 
2011 31,691 1,290 – 5,532 

Total for Key Management Personnel1 

 
2012 5,532 374 – 5,882 
2011 12,422 693 – 5,532 

1 Number of persons included in the aggregate at 31 March 2012: 3 (2011: 3). 

Loans and other financial instrument transactions are made by the Consolidated Entity in the ordinary course of business with related 
parties. 

Certain loans are provided under zero cost collars and secured over MGL shares under normal terms and conditions consistent with 
other customers and employees. 
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Note 34 
Key Management Personnel disclosure continued 

For the financial year ended 31 March 2012 

Key Management Personnel including their related parties with loans above $100,000 at any time during the financial year are as 
follows: 

Name and position 

Balance at  
1 April  
20111 

$’000 

Interest  
charged2  

$’000 
Write-downs 

$’000 

Balance at  
31 March  

20123 
$’000 

Highest 
balance 

during 
financial  

year 
$’000 

Executive Directors           
N.W. Moore 5,274 356 – 5,274 5,274 

Executives       
P.J. Maher 20 5 – 370 370 

Former       
R.S. Laidlaw4 238 13 – 238 238 

1 Or date of appointment if later. 
2 All loans provided by the Consolidated Entity to Directors and Executives are made in the ordinary course of business on an arm’s 

length basis and are entered into under normal terms and conditions consistent with other customers and employees. There have 
been no write-downs or allowances for doubtful debts. 

3 Or date of resignation if earlier. 
4 Mr Laidlaw retired from the Executive Committee on 31 December 2011. The balance at 31 March 2012 represents the balance at 

date of retirement from the Executive Committee. 

For the financial year ended 31 March 2011 

Name and position 

Balance at  
1 April  
20101 

$’000 

Interest  
charged2  

$’000 
Write-downs 

$’000 

Balance at  
31 March  

20113 
$’000 

Highest 
balance  

during  
financial  

year 
$’000 

Executive Directors           
N.W. Moore 5,274 304 – 5,274 5,274 

Executives      
R.S. Laidlaw 238 14 – 238 238 

Former       
D.S. Clarke4 26,160 971 – 5,757 26,526 

1 Or date of appointment if later. 
2 All loans provided by the Consolidated Entity to Directors and Executives are made in the ordinary course of business on an arm’s 

length basis and are entered into under normal terms and conditions consistent with other customers and employees. There have 
been no write-downs or allowances for doubtful debts. 

3 Or date of resignation if earlier. 
4 Mr Clarke resigned from the Board on 17 March 2011. Balance at 31 March 2011 represents the balance at date of resignation. 
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Note 34 
Key Management Personnel disclosure continued 

Other transactions and balances of Key Management Personnel and their related parties:  
The following Key Management Personnel have acquired Infrastructure Bonds and similar products from subsidiaries within the 
Bank which have been financed with limited recourse loans and are subject to forward sale agreements. The loan repayments 
and proceeds arising from the forward sale agreements are subject to legal right of set-off and as such are not recognised for 
financial reporting purposes. The only amounts recognised by the Consolidated Entity in respect of these transactions are the 
annual payments from the relevant Key Management Personnel which are brought to account as fee revenue. These transactions 
have been undertaken on terms and conditions consistent with other customers and employees. 

   

Consolidated  
2012 

$m 

Consolidated  
2011 

$m 

Total annual contributions from Key Management Personnel and their related parties in respect of 
Infrastructure Bonds and similar products 1,187 12,181 

The annual contributions in respect of Infrastructure Bonds and similar products relate to the following Key Management Personnel: 

Executive Directors 
N.W. Moore, G.C. Ward  
Non-Executive Directors 
P.M. Kirby (2011 only) 

Executives 
S.D. Allen, A.J. Downe, G.A. Farrell, P.J. Maher, S. Vrcelj, S. Wikramanayake 

Former 
R.S. Laidlaw, W.R. Sheppard 

The following Key Management Personnel (including related parties) have entered a zero cost collar transaction with the Bank and 
other non-related entities in respect of fully paid ordinary MGL shares. This has the effect of acquiring cash-settled put options 
against movements in the MGL share price below nominated levels and disposing of the benefit of any share price movement above 
the nominated level. 

Transactions with the Consolidated Entity 

Name and position Description 

Number of 
shares 

2012 

Number of 
shares 
20111 

Executives    
A.J. Downe1 Matured August 2010 – 21,905 

1 Mr Downe entered into a zero cost collar for the period 4 June 2010 to 2 August 2010. There was no loan associated with this collar 
and the shares were not sold upon maturity on 2 August 2010. Mr Downe subsequently sold these shares in August 2010. 

 
All other transactions with Key Management Personnel (including their personally related parties) were conducted on an arm’s length 
basis in the ordinary course of business and under normal terms and conditions for customers and employees. These transactions 
were trivial or domestic in nature and consisted principally of normal personal banking and financial investment services. 
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Note 35  
35 Employee equity participation 

Macquarie Group Employee Retained Equity Plan 
In December 2009, MGL’s shareholders approved the 
implementation of the Macquarie Group Employee Retained 
Equity Plan (MEREP) in conjunction with remuneration 
arrangements. These arrangements included a decrease 
in the portion of staff profit share paid in cash and an 
increase in the portion delivered as equity, an increase in 
the proportion of deferred remuneration and cessation of 
new option grants under the Macquarie Group Employee 
Share Option Plan (MGESOP). 

Award Types under the MEREP 

Restricted Share Units (RSUs) 
A RSU is a beneficial interest in a Macquarie share held on 
behalf of a MEREP participant by the plan trustee (Trustee). 
The participant is entitled to receive dividends on the share 
and direct the Trustee how to exercise voting rights in the 
share. The participant also has the right to request the 
release of the share from the Trust, subject to the vesting 
and forfeiture provisions of the MEREP. 

Deferred Share Units (DSUs) 
A DSU represents the right to receive on exercise of the DSU 
either a share held in the Trust or a newly issued share (as 
determined by MGL in its absolute discretion) for no cash 
payment, subject to the vesting and forfeiture provisions of 
the MEREP. A MEREP participant holding a DSU has no right 
or interest in any share until the DSU is exercised. MGL may 
issue shares to the Trustee or procure the Trustee to acquire 
shares on-market for potential future allocations to holders of 
DSUs. Generally DSUs will provide for cash payments in lieu 
of dividends paid on MGL shares before the DSU is exercised. 
Further, the number of shares underlying a DSU will be 
adjusted upon any bonus issue or other capital 
reconstruction of MGL in accordance with the ASX Listing 
Rules, so that the holder of a DSU does not receive a benefit 
that holders generally of MGL shares do not receive. These 
provisions are intended to provide the holders of DSUs, as far 
as possible, with the same benefits and risks as are provided 
to holders of RSUs. However, holders of DSUs will have no 
voting rights as to any underlying MGL shares. DSUs will only 
be offered in jurisdictions where legal or tax rules make the 
grant of RSUs impractical, or where PSUs are structured as 
DSUs (see PSUs below). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Performance Share Units (PSUs) 
PSUs are structured as DSUs or RSUs with performance 
hurdles that must be met before the underlying share or 
cash equivalent (as the case may be) will be delivered. 
Where PSUs are structured as DSUs, holders have no right 
to dividend equivalent payments before the PSUs vest. In all 
other respects, holders of these PSUs will have the same 
rights as holders of DSUs. For 2011, the PSUs granted to 
the MBL Executive Committee, including the MGL and MBL 
CEOs, are structured as DSUs with performance hurdles. 
The rights under any future PSUs structured as RSUs will 
generally be the same as the rights under RSUs, except for 
the PSU performance hurdles which will not apply to RSUs. 
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Note 35 
 Employee equity participation continued 

Macquarie Group Employee Retained Equity Plan continued 
The following is a summary of Awards which have been granted pursuant to the MEREP: 

  

 Number of  
RSU Awards 

2012 

Number of  
RSU Awards 

2011 

RSUs on issue at the beginning of the financial year 4,922,519 2,603,211 
Granted during the financial year 3,395,331 2,150,710 
Forfeited during the financial year (422,421) (87,197) 
Vested RSUs withdrawn or sold from the MEREP during the financial year (847,142) (303,826) 
Transfers from related body corporate entities 758,130 559,621 
RSUs on issue at the end of the financial year 7,806,417 4,922,519 
RSUs vested and not withdrawn from the MEREP at the end of the financial year 98,410 119,661 
 

The weighted average fair value of the RSU Awards granted during the financial year was $31.11 (2011: $42.27).  

  

 Number of  
DSU Awards 

2012 

Number of  
DSU Awards 

2011 

DSUs on issue at the beginning of the financial year 365,580 217,744 
Granted during the financial year 274,760 173,509 
Forfeited during the financial year (41,318) (8,988) 
Exercised during the financial year (36,312) (9,436) 
Transfers from/(to) related body corporate entities 29,814 (7,249) 
DSUs on issue at the end of the financial year 592,524 365,580 
DSUs exercisable at the end of the financial year 28,882 38,656 
 
 

The weighted average fair value of the DSU Awards granted during the financial year was $31.31 (2011: $44.18).  

 

  

 Number of 
PSU Awards 

2012 

Number of 
PSU Awards 

2011 

PSUs on issue at the beginning of the financial year 78,623 28,400 
Granted during the financial year 190,114 86,650 
Exercised during the financial year (1,577) – 
Expired during the financial year (4,056) – 
Transfers from/(to) related parties 51,246 (36,427) 
PSUs on issue at the end of the financial year 314,350 78,623 
PSUs exercisable at the end of the financial year – – 

The weighted average fair value of the PSU Awards granted during the financial year was $20.89 (2011: $34.63). 

The awards are measured at their grant dates based on their fair value and for each PSU, the number expected to vest. For the year 
ended 31 March 2012, compensation expense relating to the MEREP totalled $102 million (2011: $78 million). 
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Note 35 
 Employee equity participation continued 

Macquarie Group Employee Retained Equity Plan continued 
Participation in the MEREP is currently provided to the following 
Eligible Employees: 

– Executive Directors with retained Directors’ Profit Share 
(DPS) from 2009 onwards, a proportion of which is allocated 
in the form of MEREP awards (Retained DPS Awards); 

– Executive Directors with pre-2009 retained DPS (which they 
elected to transition into the MEREP); 

– staff other than Executive Directors with retained profit share 
(Retained Profit Share Awards) and staff who are promoted 
to Associate Director, Division Director or Executive Director, 
who receive a fixed allocation of MEREP awards (Promotion 
Awards); 

– new Macquarie Group staff who commence at Associate 
Director, Division Director or Executive Director level are 
awarded a fixed number of MEREP awards depending on 
level (New Hire Awards); and 

– in limited circumstances, Macquarie staff who may receive 
an equity grant instead of a remuneration or consideration 
payment in cash. Current examples include individuals who 
become employees of the Company on the acquisition of 
their employer by a Macquarie Group entity or who receive 
an additional award at the time of joining Macquarie (also 
referred to below as New Hire Awards). 

Vesting periods are as follows: 

– Retained DPS Awards representing 2009 retention for all 
Executive Directors vest in five equal tranches following the 
third, fourth, fifth, sixth and seventh anniversaries of 1 July 
20091; 

– Retained DPS Awards representing 2010 and 2011 retention 
awarded to Non-Designated Executive Directors vest in 
three equal tranches following the third, fourth and fifth 
anniversaries of 1 July 2010 and 2011 respectively1; 

– Retained DPS Awards representing 2010 and 2011 retention 
awarded to Designated Executive Directors vest in five equal 
tranches following the third, fourth, fifth, sixth and seventh 
anniversaries of 1 July 2010 and 2011 respectively2; 

– Pre-2009 DPS transitioned into the MEREP vests in seven 
equal tranches for Executive Committee Members and five 
equal tranches for other Executive Directors on the first day 
of a staff trading window in the seven or five years following 
1 July 2010; 

– Retained Profit Share Awards, Promotion Awards and New 
Hire Awards vest in three equal tranches after the second, 
third and fourth anniversaries of the date of allocation2; 

– In limited cases, the Application Form for awards may set 
out a different Vesting Period, in which case that period will 
be the Vesting Period for the Award. 

 

For Retained Profit Share Awards representing 2011 retention, 
the allocation price was the volume weighted average price from 
9 May 2011 up to and including 20 June 2011. The price was 
calculated to be $33.06 (2011: $43.48). 

The number of Awards allocated was calculated by adjusting 
the employee’s relevant retained profit share amount, or 
retained DPS, for any applicable on-costs, dividing this 
amount by the applicable price outlined above, and rounding 
down to the nearest whole number. The grant of Awards to 
Eligible Employees working in Australia is subject to payroll 
tax, calculated based on the market value of shares on the 
acquisition date. 

Vesting of Performance Share Units 
PSUs awarded prior to this year vested in three equal tranches 
after two, three and four years. The PSUs to be awarded in 
2012 will vest in two equal tranches after three and four years. 

PSUs will only be released or become exercisable upon the 
achievement of certain performance hurdles. Only members of 
the MGL and MBL Executive Committees are eligible to receive 
PSUs. For the PSUs allocated to Executive Committee Members, 
two performance hurdles have been determined and each will 
apply individually to 50 per cent of the total number of PSUs 
awarded. These hurdles are set out below. The BRC  
periodically reviews the performance hurdles, including the 
reference group, and has the discretion to change the 
performance hurdles in line with regulatory and remuneration 
trends. Any change will be disclosed in the Consolidated Entity’s 
Annual Report. 

Performance Hurdle 1 
50 per cent of the PSUs, based solely on the relative average 
annual return on ordinary equity (ROE) of MGL over the vesting 
period compared to a reference group of domestic and 
international financial institutions. 

A sliding scale applies with 50 per cent becoming exercisable 
above the 50th percentile and 100 per cent at the 75th 
percentile. For example, if ROE achievement is at the 60th 
percentile, 70 per cent of the Award would become exercisable. 
The reference group comprises significant Australian financial 
companies within the ASX100 as well as Macquarie’s major 
international investment banking peers with whom Macquarie 
competes and frequently compares its performance. The 
reference group comprises ANZ Group, Commonwealth Bank, 
National Australia Bank, Westpac, Suncorp, Bank of America, 
Citigroup, Credit Suisse, Deutsche Bank, Goldman Sachs, JP 
Morgan, Morgan Stanley and UBS. 

  Vesting will occur on the first day of a staff trading window following 1 July of the specified year. If an Executive Director has been 
on leave without pay (excluding leave to which the Executive Director may be eligible under local laws) for 12 months or more, the 
vesting period may be extended accordingly. 

2  Vesting will occur on the first day of a staff trading window following 1 July of the specified year. 
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Note 35 
 Employee equity participation continued 

Performance Hurdle 2 
50 per cent of the PSUs, based solely on the compound annual growth rate (CAGR) in earnings per share (EPS) of MGL over the 
vesting period. 

A sliding scale applies with 50 per cent becoming exercisable at EPS CAGR of 9.0 per cent and 100 per cent at EPS CAGR 
of 13.0 per cent. For example, if EPS CAGR were 11 per cent, 75 per cent of the Award would become exercisable. 

Under both performance hurdles, the objective is to be examined once only, effectively at the calendar quarter end immediately 
before vesting. If the condition is not met when examined, the PSUs due to vest expire. 

Other arrangements 
There are certain arrangements with employees which take the form of a share-based payment but which are held outside the 
MEREP. Employees do not have a legal or beneficial interest in the underlying shares; however the arrangements have the same 
economic benefits as those held in the MEREP. 

Compensation expense relating to these awards for the year ending 31 March 2012 was $0.23 million (2011: $0.13 million) 

Option Plan 
MGL has suspended new offers under the Macquarie Group Employee Share Option Plan (MGESOP) under remuneration 
arrangements which were the subject of shareholder approvals obtained at a General Meeting of MGL in December 2009. The last 
grant of Options under the MGESOP was on 8 December 2009. Currently MGL does not expect to issue any further Options under 
the MGESOP. 

Options on issue are all five year options over unissued ordinary fully paid shares in MGL and were granted to individuals or the 
individual’s controlled Company or an entity approved under the MGESOP to hold options. The options were issued for no 
consideration and were granted at prevailing market prices. 

At 31 March 2012 there were 688 (2011: 891) MBL participants of the MGESOP. 

 
The following is a summary of options which have been granted pursuant to the MGESOP: 

 

 

Number of  
options 

2012 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price  
2012 

$ 

Number of 
options 

2011 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price  
2011 

$ 

Outstanding at the beginning of the financial year 9,567,745 60.79 12,206,770 60.88 
Forfeited during the financial year (251,141) 52.41 (563,371) 56.54 
Exercised during the financial year (12,055) 28.08 (16,410) 31.21 
Transfers from related body corporate entities (264,145) 65.89 669,767 62.68 
Lapsed during the financial year (3,379,955) 61.93 (2,729,011) 62.69 
Outstanding at the end of the financial year 5,660,449 60.32 9,567,745 60.79 
Exercisable at the end of the financial year 4,478,655 62.44 5,966,558 63.36 

For options exercised during the financial year the weighted average share price at the date of exercise was $32.19 (2011: $38.94). 

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the financial year was $17.10 to $94.48 (2011: $17.10 to $94.48). 
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Note 35 
 Employee equity participation continued 

Option Plan continued 
The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding as at 31 March 2012 is 0.98 years (2011: 1.50 
years). The weighted average remaining contractual life when analysed by exercise price range is: 

Exercise price range ($) 

Number of  
options 

2012 

Remaining  
life (years) 

2012 

Number of  
options 

2011 

Remaining  
life (years) 

2011 

10 – 20 17,624 1.94 18,000 2.94 
20 – 30 55,622 1.87 87,699 2.85 
30 – 40 95,911 1.76 160,194 2.80 
40 – 50 56,666 1.38 94,870 2.63 
50 – 60 3,279,857 1.33 3,907,432 2.31 
60 – 70 82,902 0.76 2,662,895 0.37 
70 – 80 1,908,382 0.38 2,368,174 1.28 
80 – 90 94,550 0.26 188,880 1.04 
90 – 100 68,935 0.23 79,601 1.21 
 5,660,449 0.98 9,567,745 1.50 
 

There were no options issued in the financial year. 

The number of outstanding options, including those not able to be exercised due to performance hurdles not being met as at 
31 March 2012 is 5,789,779 and as at 27 April 2012 is 5,767,312. 

The market value of shares issued during the year as a result of the exercise of options was $388,060 (2011: $1 million). 

The market value of shares which would be issued from the exercise of the outstanding options at 31 March 2012 was $165 million 
(2011: $350 million). No unissued shares, other than those referred to above, are under option under the MGESOP as at the date of 
this report. 

The options were measured at their grant dates based on their fair value and the number expected to vest. This amount is 
recognised as an expense evenly over the respective vesting periods and the equity provided is treated as a capital contribution. 

Options granted vest in three equal tranches after the second, third and fourth anniversaries of the date of allocation of the options. 
Subject to the MGESOP rules and MGL’s personal dealing policy, options can be exercised after the vesting period during an options 
exercise period up to expiry. In individual cases, such as where an employee leaves with the Company’s agreement towards the end 
of a vesting period, MGL’s Executive Committee has the power to waive the remainder of any vesting period and allow exercise of 
some or all of the relevant options. 

For options granted to the members of MBL and MGL’s Executive Committees, Executive Voting Directors and other Executive 
Directors where the invitation to apply for the options was sent to the Executive on or after 30 June 2006, in respect of each tranche 
of vested options, options will only be exercisable if MGL’s average annual return on ordinary equity for the three previous financial 
years is above the 65th (Executive Committee and Executive Voting Directors) and 50th (other Executive Directors) percentiles of the 
corresponding figures for all companies in the then S&P/ASX 100 Index, with the conditions to be examined only upon vesting. 

Fully paid ordinary shares issued on the exercise of options rank pari passu with all other fully paid MGL ordinary shares then on issue. 

The options do not confer any right to directly participate in any share issue or interest issue by MGL or any other body corporate or 
scheme and carry no dividend or voting rights. The options include terms that provide for the adjustment of the number of options, 
the exercise price and/or the number of shares to be issued on the exercise of options, in the following circumstances: 

– an issue of new shares by way of capitalisation of profits or reserves; 
– an issue to holders of shares of rights (pro-rata with existing shareholdings) to subscribe for further shares;  
– a pro-rata bonus issue; 
– a subdivision, consolidation, cancellation or return of capital; 
– other reorganisations. 
These terms are consistent with the ASX Listing Rules for the adjustment of options in these circumstances, which are intended to 
ensure that these types of transactions do not result in either a dilution of option holders’ interests or an advantage to option holders 
which holders of ordinary shares do not receive. 

For the year ended 31 March 2012, compensation expense relating to exchangeable shares, retention securities and option plans 
totalled $4 million (2011: $23 million). 
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Note 35 
Employee equity participation continued  

Employee Share Plan 
Following shareholder approval at the 1997 Annual General 
Meeting, MBL introduced the Macquarie Bank Employee Share 
Plan whereby each financial year, eligible employees are offered 
up to $1,000 worth of fully paid ordinary Company shares for 
no cash payment. MGL has since introduced the Macquarie 
Group Employee Share Plan (ESP) on the same terms. 
Shares issued under the ESP cannot be sold until the earlier 
of three years after issue or the time when the participant is 
no longer employed by the Company or a subsidiary of the 
Company. In all other respects, shares issued rank equally 
with all other fully paid ordinary shares then on issue. 

The latest offer under the ESP was made during December 
2011. A total of 456 (2011: 686) staff participated in this offer. 
On 28 December 2011, the participants were each issued 
with 41 (2011: 24) fully paid ordinary shares based on the offer 
amount of $1,000 and the then calculated average market 
share price of $23.81 (2011: $40.52), a total of 18,696 
(2011: 16,464) shares were issued. The shares were issued 
for no cash consideration. 

Staff Share Acquisition Plan 
Following shareholder approval at the 1999 Annual General 
Meeting, MBL introduced the Macquarie Bank Staff Share 
Acquisition Plan (MBSSAP) whereby each financial year, 
Australian based Eligible Employees were given the opportunity 
to nominate an amount of their pre-tax available profit share 
or future commission to purchase fully paid ordinary 
Company shares on-market. MGL subsequently introduced 
the Macquarie Group Staff Share Acquisition Plan (MGSSAP) 
on the same terms. In early 2010, MGL suspended new offers 
under the MGSSAP following Australian taxation changes 
implemented in late 2009 which would have significantly limited 
the future participation in the plan. MGL does not expect it will 
make any future allocations under MGSSAP. 

The total number of shares purchased under the MGSSAP was 
limited in any financial year to 3 per cent of MGL’s shares as at 
the beginning of that financial year. 

The shares allocated under the MGSSAP were either newly 
issued shares or shares acquired on-market by the MGSSAP 
Plan Company, at the direction of MGL. 

Shares acquired under the MGSSAP cannot be sold, 
transferred or disposed of for a period of six months from 
the date that the shares are transferred into a participating 
employee’s name except in special circumstances if the 
employee resigns. The shares held in the MGSSAP are 
also subject to forfeiture by an employee in a number of 
circumstances including theft, fraud, dishonesty, or defalcation 
in relation to the affairs of the Company or a related company 
or if they carry out an act or fail to do an act which brings the 
Company or a related company into disrepute. 

Shares held in the MGSSAP will be withdrawn on the earlier of: 

– an employee’s resignation from the Company or a related 
entity; 

– upon request by the employee (after the expiration of the 
non-disposal period); and 

– 10 years from the date that the shares are registered in an 
employee’s name. 

In all other respects, the shares rank equally with all other fully 
paid ordinary shares then on issue. 

Previously, the Eligible Employees were Australian based 
permanent full-time or part-time employees or fixed term 
contract employees of the Company or a related company 
who either received available profit share in the relevant year 
of at least $1,000 in total or allocated at least $1,000 in 
available commission towards the MGSSAP. 
The Macquarie Bank Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan 
(MBEDSAP) was a sub-plan of the MBSSAP which was created 
in 2003 and was open to eligible Executive Directors. The 
disposal and forfeiture restrictions in the MBEDSAP differ to 
those in the MBSSAP. MGL subsequently introduced a 
Macquarie Group Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan 
(MGEDSAP) on the same terms but no offers have been made 
under the plan. 
In April 2008, a further sub-plan of the MGSSAP was created, 
the Macquarie Group Executive Committee Acquisition Plan, 
whereby members of MGL's Executive Committee were 
required to contribute certain proportions of their annual profit 
share to acquire Company shares, which must be held for 
at least three years. The first offers under this sub-plan were 
made in May 2008. MGL does not intend making any further 
allocations under this sub-plan, as Executive Committee 
members now receive the equity component of their retained 
profit share under the Macquarie Group Employee Retained 
Equity Plan. 

No offers under the MGSSAP (including the Macquarie Group 
Executive Committee Acquisition Plan) were made during the 
year to 31 March 2012 (2011: Nil). 
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 Employee equity participation continued 

Non-Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan 
Following shareholder approval at the 1999 Annual General 
Meeting, MBL also introduced the Macquarie Bank Non-
Executive Director Share Acquisition Plan whereby each 
financial year certain Australian based Non-Executive Directors 
(NEDs) of the Macquarie Group of companies were given the 
opportunity to contribute some or all of their future pre-tax 
remuneration from the Macquarie Group to acquire Macquarie 
Bank Limited shares. MGL subsequently introduced a 
Macquarie Group Non-Executive Director Share Acquisition 
Plan (NEDSAP) on the same terms. The Australian taxation 
changes referred to above in respect of the MGSSAP also 
apply to the NEDSAP. Accordingly, MGL has currently 
suspended new offers under the NEDSAP and does not expect 
to make any future allocations under the plan. 

Previously, NEDs could elect to participate in the NEDSAP by 
nominating a minimum of $1,000 of their NED remuneration 
per buying period to go towards the NEDSAP. Participating 
NEDs could also subsequently apply to reduce their previously 
nominated contribution provided that the relevant buying period 
has not commenced. 

The shares were acquired at prevailing market prices. 
Brokerage fees were applied to the NEDs’ account. 

Shares acquired under the NEDSAP cannot be sold, 
transferred or disposed of for a period of six months from 
the date that the shares were transferred into a NED’s name 
except in special circumstances if the NED resigns. The shares 
held in the NEDSAP are also subject to forfeiture by a NED in 
a number of circumstances including theft, fraud, dishonesty, 
or defalcation in relation to the affairs of the Company or a 
related company or if they carry out an act or fail to do an act 
which brings the Company or a related company into disrepute. 

Shares held in the NEDSAP will be withdrawn on the earlier of: 
– the participant ceasing to be a NED of the Company; 
– upon request by the NED (after the expiration of the non-

disposal period); and 
– 10 years from the date that the shares are registered in a 

NED’s name. 

In all other respects, shares rank equally with all other fully paid 
ordinary shares then on issue. 

Shares resulting from participation in the NEDSAP may count 
towards meeting the minimum shareholding requirements of 
NEDs. 

No offers under the NEDSAP were made during the year ended 
31 March 2012 (2011: Nil).  

Other plans 
The Consolidated Group operates other local share-based 
compensation plans, none of which, individually or in aggregate 
are material.
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Note 36  
36 Contingent liabilities and commitments 

The following contingent liabilities and  
commitments exclude derivatives. 

Contingent liabilities exist in respect of:     
Guarantees  442 446 1,135 711 
Indemnities  1 13 60 73 
Letters of credit 178 149 459 251 
Performance related contingents 76 89 76 89 
Total contingent liabilities1 697 697 1,730 1,124 

Commitments exist in respect of:     
Undrawn credit facilities 3,431 5,317 2,601 4,629 
Forward asset purchases 109 200 104 120 
Total commitments2 3,540 5,517 2,705 4,749 
Total contingent liabilities and commitments 4,237 6,214 4,435 5,873 

1 Contingent liabilities exist in respect of actual and potential claims and proceedings that arise in the conduct of the Consolidated 
Entity’s business. A provision is recognised where some loss is probable and can be reliably estimated. The Consolidated Entity is 
currently not engaged in any litigation or claim which is likely to have a material adverse effect on the Consolidated Entity’s business, 
financial condition or performance. 

2 Total commitments also represent contingent assets. Such commitments to provide credit may convert to loans and other assets in 
the ordinary course of business. 
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Note 37  
37 Capital and other expenditure commitments 

Capital and other expenditure commitments expected to be incurred: 

Not later than one year 148 14 147 9 
Later than one year and not later than five years 5 7 4 6 
Later than five years 1 49 1 49 
Total capital and other expenditure commitments 154 70 152 64 

   

Note 38  
38 Lease commitments  

Non-cancellable operating leases expiring:    
Not later than one year 5 40 – – 
Later than one year and not later than five years 10 122 – – 
Later than five years 1 59 – – 

Total operating lease commitments 16 221 – – 

Operating leases relate to commercial buildings. The future lease commitments disclosed are net of any rental incentives received. 
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Note 39  
39 Derivative financial instruments 

Objectives of holding and issuing derivative financial 
instruments 
The Consolidated Entity is an active price maker in derivatives 
on interest rates, foreign exchange, commodities and equities. 
Its objective is to earn profits from the price making spread 
and from managing the residual exposures on hedged 
positions. Proprietary position taking is a small part of the 
Consolidated Entity’s trading activities. Risks on derivatives 
are managed together with all other trading positions in the 
same market. All trading positions, including derivatives, are 
marked to fair value daily. 

The Consolidated Entity also uses derivatives to hedge 
banking operations and for asset/liability management. 
Certain derivative transactions may qualify as cash flow, fair 
value or net investment in foreign operations hedges, if they 
meet the appropriate strict hedge criteria outlined in note 1(xi) 
– Summary of significant accounting policies: 

Cash flow hedges: The Consolidated Entity is exposed to 
volatility in future interest cash flows arising from the 
consolidated mortgage securitisation vehicles and other 
structured products which are subject to variable interest 
rates. The aggregate principal balances and interest cash 
flows across these portfolios form the basis for identifying the 
non–trading interest rate risk of the consolidated entity, which 
is hedged with interest rate swaps and cross–currency swaps. 

In addition to this, the interest rate swaps used to hedge the 
MIPS securities have been designated as cash flow hedges 
of an intercompany loan by the Bank in its separate financial 
statements. Changes in the fair value of these interest swaps 
are deferred in equity and subsequently released to earnings 
as the interest on the intercompany loan is accrued.  

At 31 March 2012, the fair value of outstanding derivatives 
held by the Bank and designated as cash flow hedges was 
$11 million positive value (2011: $5 million positive value). 

During the year the Consolidated Entity recognised $4 million 
gains (2011: $nil) in the income statement due to hedge 
ineffectiveness on cash flow hedges. At 31 March 2012, the 
fair value of outstanding derivatives held by the Consolidated 
Entity and designated as cash flow hedges was $119 million 
negative value (2011: $162 million negative value). 

Fair value hedges: The consolidated entity’s fair value 
hedges consist of: 

– interest rate swaps used to hedge against changes in 
the fair value of fixed rate assets and liabilities as a result 
of movements in benchmark interest rates; and 

– foreign exchange forward contracts used to hedge 
against changes in the fair value of foreign denominated 
equity instruments as a result of movements in market 
foreign exchange rates.  

As at 31 March 2012, the fair value of outstanding derivatives 
held by the Consolidated Entity and designated as fair value 
hedges was $139 million positive value (2011: $479 million 
positive value). 

During the year fair value losses on the hedging instruments 
of $339 million have been recognised (2011: $468 million 
gains), offset by $335 million (2011: $456 million losses) of 
gains on the hedged item. 

Net investment in foreign operations hedges: The 
Consolidated Entity has applied net investment hedging 
for foreign exchange risk arising from its non–core foreign 
operations.  

At 31 March 2012, the fair value of outstanding derivatives 
held by the Consolidated Entity and designated as net 
investment in foreign operations hedges was $2 million 
positive value (2011: $46 million positive value). During the 
year the Consolidated Entity recognised $nil (2011: $6 million 
loss) in the income statement due to hedge ineffectiveness 
on net investment hedges. 

The types of contracts which the Consolidated Entity trades 
and uses for hedging purposes are detailed below: 

Futures: Futures contracts provide the holder with the 
obligation to buy a specified financial instrument or 
commodity at a fixed price and fixed date in the future. 
Contracts may be closed early via cash settlement. 
Futures contracts are exchange traded. 

Forwards and forward rate agreements: Forward contracts, 
which resemble futures contracts, are an agreement between 
two parties that a financial instrument or commodity will be 
traded at a fixed price and fixed date in the future. A forward 
rate agreement provides for two parties to exchange interest 
rate differentials based on an underlying principal amount at a 
fixed date in the future. 

Swaps: Swap transactions provide for two parties to swap 
a series of cash flows in relation to an underlying principal 
amount, usually to exchange a fixed interest rate for a floating 
interest rate. Cross–currency swaps provide a tool for two 
parties to manage risk arising from movements in exchange 
rates. 

Options: Option contracts provide the holder the right to buy 
or sell financial instruments or commodities at a fixed price 
over an agreed period or on a fixed date. The contract does 
not oblige the holder to buy or sell, however the writer must 
perform if the holder exercises the rights pertaining to the 
option. 
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Note 40  
40 Financial risk management 

Risk Management Group 
Risk is an integral part of the Consolidated Entity’s 
businesses. The main risks faced by the Consolidated 
Entity are market risk, equity risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, 
operational risk, legal risk and compliance risk. Responsibility 
for management of these risks lies with the individual 
businesses giving rise to them. It is the responsibility of the 
Risk Management Group (RMG), and in the case of legal risk, 
Group Legal, to ensure appropriate assessment and 
management of these risks. 

RMG is independent of all other areas of the Consolidated 
Entity. The Head of RMG, as Macquarie’s Chief Risk Officer, 
is a member of the Executive Committee of MGL and MBL 
and reports directly to the Managing Director and Chief 
Executive Officer with a secondary reporting line to the Board 
Risk Committee. RMG authority is required for all material risk 
acceptance decisions. RMG identifies, quantifies and 
assesses all material risks and sets prudential limits. Where 
appropriate, these limits are approved by the Executive 
Committee and the Board. 

Note 40.1  
Credit risk 

Credit risk is defined as the risk of a counterparty failing 
to complete its contractual obligations when they fall due. 
The consequent loss is either the amount of the loan not 
paid back, or the loss incurred in replicating a trading 
contract with a new counterparty. 

The responsibility for approval of credit exposures is 
delegated to specific individuals by the Board of MGL. 
While Operating Groups are assigned modest levels of 
Credit discretions, all credit exposures above these levels 
are independently assessed by RMG. Credit risk analysis is 
focused on ensuring that risks have been fully identified and 
that the downside risk is properly understood. After this 
analysis is undertaken, limits are set for an acceptable level 
of potential exposure. All limits and ratings are reviewed at 
least once a year, or more frequently if necessary, to ensure 
that the most current information available on counterparties 
is taken into account. 

Credit exposures for loans are evaluated as the full face value 
whereas exposures for derivatives are a function of potential 
market movements. When trading gives rise to settlement risk, 
this exposure is assessed as the full face value of the 
settlement amount. Credit exposures which fluctuate through 
the duration of the transaction are updated daily. These 
include off-balance sheet exposures such as swaps, forward 
contracts and options, which are assessed using 
sophisticated valuation techniques. 

To mitigate credit risk, the Consolidated Entity makes use of 
margining and other forms of collateral or credit enhancement 
techniques (including guarantees, letters of credit, the 
purchase of credit default swaps and mortgage insurance) 
where appropriate. 

All customers’ counterparty limits and exposures are 
allocated an MGL rating on a 1 – 17 scale which broadly 
corresponds with Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s Investor 
Services credit ratings. Each MGL rating is assigned a 
Probability of Default estimate. Credit limits and exposures 
are also allocated a Loss Given Default ratio reflecting the 
estimated economic loss in the event of default occurring. 

All loan assets are subject to recurring review and 
assessment for possible impairment. Where there is a 
deteriorating credit risk profile, the exposures are monitored 
on a monthly basis through the CreditWatch reports. The 
business remains responsible for the management of the 
counterparty and of the risk position, but RMG oversight is 
increased to ensure that positions are managed for optimal 
outcomes. When counterparties default, RMG and the 
business work together to resolve the issues and to manage 
the facilities through the impairment and provisioning process. 

The Consolidated Entity’s policies to control credit risk 
include avoidance of unacceptable concentrations of risk 
either to any economic sector or to an individual counterparty. 
Policies are in place to regulate large exposures to single 
counterparties or groups of counterparties. 

The Consolidated Entity has a country risk framework which 
covers the assessment of country risk and the approval of 
country risk limits. Where appropriate the country risk is 
covered by political risk insurance. 

The balances disclosed in the credit risk tables below exclude 
financial assets that are subject to risks other than credit risk, 
such as equity investments, interests in associates and joint 
ventures or bank notes and coins. 
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Note 40.1  
Credit risk continued 
Maximum exposure to credit risk  

The tables below detail the concentration of credit exposure of the Consolidated Entity's assets to significant geographical locations 
and counterparty types. The amounts shown represent the maximum credit risk of the Consolidated Entity's assets before the benefit 
of collateral and credit enhancements held .  

 

Receivables 
from financial 

institutions 
$m 

Cash collateral 
on securities 

borrowed and 
reverse 

repurchase 
agreements1 

$m 

Trading  
portfolio 

assets 
$m 

Derivative 
assets 

$m 

Debt investment 
securities 
available  

for sale  
$m 

Australia 
     

Governments  – 1,952 924 348 2,996 
Financial institutions 2,552 1,017 235 4,061 6,898 
Other – – 48 1,266 30 
Total Australia 2,552 2,969 1,207 5,675 9,924 

Asia Pacific   
   

Governments  – 7 1,066 36 39 
Financial institutions 496 53 302 212 610 
Other – 5 179 204 – 
Total Asia Pacific 496 65 1,547 452 649 

Europe, Middle East and Africa   
   

Governments – 171 – – 76 
Financial institutions 1,581 1,522 143 9,320 3,721 
Other – 629 28 1,949 345 
Total Europe, Middle East and Africa 1,581 2,322 171 11,269 4,142 

Americas   
   

Governments  – 455 595 68 – 
Financial institutions 3,687 1,051 372 2,443 809 
Other – 162 358 2,044 125 
Total Americas 3,687 1,668 1,325 4,555 934 
Total 8,316 7,024 4,250 21,951 15,649 
Total gross credit risk      

1 Classified based on the exposure to the underlying security borrowed. 
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Other  

assets 
$m 

 
Loan assets  

held at 
amortised  

cost 
$m 

Other financial 
assets at  
fair value 

through  
profit or loss 

$m 

Life  
investment 

contracts and 
other unitholder 

investment 
assets 

$m 

 
Due from  

related body 
corporate 

entities 
$m 

Credit 
commitments 

and  
contingent 

liabilities 
$m 

 
Total 

$m 

 
    Consolidated 2012 

334 68 885 – – – 7,507 
3 646 323 561 – 24 16,320 

1,594 23,122 1,543 66 262 1,520 29,451 
1,931 23,836 2,751 627 262 1,544 53,278 

 
  

  
 

 
72 1 – – – – 1,221 

– 215 38 – – 1 1,927 
38 344 – – 321 42 1,133 

110 560 38 – 321 43 4,281 

 
  

  
 

 
408 1 42 – – – 698 

– 746 834 – – 297 18,164 
2,156 3,698 87 – 21 548 9,461 
2,564 4,445 963 – 21 845 28,323 

 
  

  
 

 
293 1 – – – – 1,412 

– 1,849 2 – – 105 10,318 
1,772 13,404 77 – 514 1,700 20,156 
2,065 15,254 79 – 514 1,805 31,886 
6,670 44,095 3,831 627 1,118 4,237 117,768 

      117,768 
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Note 40.1  
Credit risk continued 
Maximum exposure to credit risk continued 

 

Receivables  
from financial 

institutions 
$m 

Cash collateral  
on securities 

borrowed and 
reverse 

repurchase 
agreements1 

$m 

Trading  
portfolio 

assets 

$m 

Derivative  
assets 

$m 

Debt  
investment 

securities 
available  

for sale  
$m 

Australia 
    

Governments  – 302 1,566 238 2,301 
Financial institutions 2,795 1,195 334 767 6,165 
Other – 5 70 957 165 
Total Australia 2,795 1,502 1,970 1,962 8,631 

Asia Pacific   
 
  

Governments  – 3 614 8 9 
Financial institutions 470 44 399 236 559 
Other – 1 69 300 – 
Total Asia Pacific 470 48 1,082 544 568 

Europe, Middle East and Africa   
 
  

Governments – 217 174 2 142 
Financial institutions 2,031 3,562 139 8,360 2,868 
Other – 293 43 2,496 472 
Total Europe, Middle East and Africa 2,031 4,072 356 10,858 3,482 

Americas   
 
  

Governments  – 916 329 64 44 
Financial institutions 2,283 703 669 5,379 871 
Other – 177 1,639 2,338 502 
Total Americas 2,283 1,796 2,637 7,781 1,417 
Total 7,579 7,418 6,045 21,145 14,098 
Total gross credit risk      

1 Classified based on the exposure to the underlying security borrowed. 
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Other  
assets 

$m 

 
Loan assets  

held at  
amortised  

cost 
$m 

Other financial 
assets at  
fair value  

through profit  
or loss 

$m 

 
Life  

investment 
contracts and 

other unitholder 
investment 

assets 
$m 

 
 

Due from  
related body 

corporate  
entities 

$m 

Credit 
commitments 

and contingent 
liabilities 

$m 

 
Total 

$m 

 
    Consolidated 2011 

231 524 2,555 – – – 7,717 
– 841 924 565 – 166 13,752 

1,722 24,230 2,432 93 955 1,709 32,338 
1,953 25,595 5,911 658 955 1,875 53,807 

 
  

  
 
 

4 2 – – – – 640 
– 163 30 – – 29 1,930 

10 304 – – 163 123 970 
14 469 30 – 163 152 3,540 

 
  

  
 
 

438 – 40 – – – 1,013 
– 776 1,577 – – 235 19,548 

1,774 3,159 36 – 194 1,021 9,488 
2,212 3,935 1,653 – 194 1,256 30,049 

 
  

  
 
 

71 28 250 – – – 1,702 
– 2,075 298 – – 137 12,415 

1,673 13,280 81 – 1,131 2,794 23,615 
1,744 15,383 629 – 1,131 2,931 37,732 
5,923 45,382 8,223 658 2,443 6,214 125,128 

      125,128 
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Note 40.1  
Credit risk continued 
Maximum exposure to credit risk continued 
The tables below detail the concentration of credit exposures of the Bank’s assets to significant geographical locations and 
counterparty types. The amounts shown represent the maximum credit risk of the Bank’s assets . 

 

Receivables  
from financial 

institutions 
$m 

Cash collateral  
on securities 

borrowed  
and reverse 
repurchase 

agreements1 
$m 

Trading  
portfolio 

assets 

$m 

Derivative  
assets 

$m 

Debt 
investment 

securities 
available  

for sale  
$m 

Australia      
Governments  – 1,952 924 349 2,996 
Financial institutions 2,045 1,017 235 3,856 6,716 
Other – – 48 1,355 19 
Total Australia 2,045 2,969 1,207 5,560 9,731 

Asia Pacific      
Governments  – 7 683 – 39 
Financial institutions 423 53 18 212 610 
Other – 5 58 195 – 
Total Asia Pacific 423 65 759 407 649 

Europe, Middle East and Africa      
Governments – 171 – – 76 
Financial institutions 1,425 1,522 143 8,470 3,702 
Other – 629 4 1,912 279 
Total Europe, Middle East and Africa 1,425 2,322 147 10,382 4,057 

Americas      
Governments  – 455 140 6 – 
Financial institutions 2,599 927 231 1,928 739 
Other – 162 350 635 1,534 
Total Americas 2,599 1,544 721 2,569 2,273 
Total 6,492 6,900 2,834 18,918 16,710 
Total gross credit risk      

1 Classified based on the exposure to the underlying security borrowed. 
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Other  
assets 

$m 

 
Loan  

assets  
held at  

amortised  
cost 

$m 

Other financial 
assets at  
fair value 

through  
profit or loss 

$m 

 
 
 

Due from  
related body 

corporate 
entities 

$m 

 
Due from 

subsidiaries  
$m 

Credit 
commitments 

and contingent 
liabilities 

$m 

 
Total 

$m 

      Bank 2012 

148 2 885 – – – 7,256 
– 597 282 – – 24 14,772 

1,688 9,107 1,614 181 12,101 1,454 27,567 
1,836 9,706 2,781 181 12,101 1,478 49,595 

 
1 – – – – – 730 
– 63 – – – – 1,379 
– 181 – 303 1,474 85 2,301 
1 244 – 303 1,474 85 4,410 

       
9 – 42 – – – 298 
– 718 834 – – 219 17,033 

1,934 3,103 1 13 1,875 585 10,335 
1,943 3,821 877 13 1,875 804 27,666 

       
60 – – – – – 661 

– 1,070 – – – 104 7,598 
89 3,088 73 484 3,477 1,964 11,856 

149 4,158 73 484 3,477 2,068 20,115 
3,929 17,929 3,731 981 18,927 4,435 101,786 

      101,786 
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Note 40.1  
Credit risk continued 
Maximum exposure to credit risk continued 

 

Receivables  
from financial 

institutions 
$m 

Cash collateral  
on securities 

borrowed and 
reverse  

repurchase 
agreements1 

$m 

Trading  
portfolio 

assets 
$m 

Derivative  
assets 

$m 

Debt investment 
securities  
available  

for sale  
$m 

Australia 
     

Governments  – 302 1,566 239 2,301 
Financial institutions 2,501 1,194 334 728 5,923 
Other – 6 70 945 138 
Total Australia 2,501 1,502 1,970 1,912 8,362 

Asia Pacific      
Governments – 3 380 8 9 
Financial institutions 395 44 272 236 559 
Other – 1 26 295 – 
Total Asia Pacific 395 48 678 539 568 

Europe, Middle East and 
Africa    

 
  

Governments – 217 174 2 142 
Financial institutions 1,775 3,562 139 7,935 2,827 
Other – 293 43 2,464 434 

Total Europe, Middle East 
and Africa 1,775 4,072 356 

 
10,401 3,403 

Americas      
Governments  – 873 315 – 44 
Financial institutions 1,585 700 650 4,810 883 
Other – 175 1,632 889 107 
Total Americas 1,585 1,748 2,597 5,699 1,034 
Total 6,256 7,370 5,601 18,551 13,367 
Total gross credit risk      

1 Classified based on the exposure to the underlying security borrowed. 
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Other assets 
$m 

 
Loan 

assets  
held at 

amortised  
cost 
$m 

Other financial 
assets at  
fair value 

through profit 
or loss 

$m 

 
 
 

Due from 
related body 

corporate 
entities 

$m 

 
Due from 

subsidiaries  
$m 

Credit 
commitments 

and contingent 
liabilities 

$m 

 
Total 

$m 
      

Bank 2011 

169 450 2,555 – – – 7,582 
– 807 785 – – 166 12,438 

1,940 8,840 2,511 895 14,148 1,695 31,188 
2,109 10,097 5,851 895 14,148 1,861 51,208 

 
 

     

1 – – – – – 401 
– 134 30 – – 29 1,699 
– 174 – 158 593 138 1,385 
1 308 30 158 593 167 3,485 

       
3 – 40 – – – 578 
– 647 1,548 – – 235 18,668 

1,545 3,080 – 209 2,694 1,090 11,852 

1,548 3,727 1,588 209 2,694 1,325 31,098 

       
18 – 250 – – – 1,500 

– 1,073 275 – – 135 10,111 
– 2,094 73 968 2,699 2,385 11,022 

18 3,167 598 968 2,699 2,520 22,633 
3,676 17,299 8,067 2,230 20,134 5,873 108,424 

      108,424 
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Note 40.1  
Credit risk continued 
Collateral and credit enhancements held 
Cash collateral on securities borrowed and reverse repurchase agreements 
Securities borrowed and reverse repurchase agreements are fully collateralised with highly liquid securities as they require collateral 
to be in excess of the loaned amount. 

Loan assets held at amortised cost: 
Residential mortgage loans 

The Consolidated Entity’s residential mortgages are secured by fixed charges over a borrower’s property. Further Macquarie obtains 
lender’s mortgage insurance (LMI) to protect against a potential shortfall between the value of a repossessed property sold and the 
loan outstanding, including accrued interest. In Australia and Canada, LMI is taken out for all mortgages to cover 100 per cent of the 
original principal plus interest. In the USA, LMI is taken out only for loans with Loan to Value Ratio (LVR) higher than 80 per cent at 
origination. Substantially all the Americas portfolio consists of Canadian mortgages. Further included in the mortgage loan balance is 
$12,935 million (2011: $13,463 million) which have been securitised.  

The Bank’s residential mortgages, all originated in Australia, are secured by fixed charges over a borrower’s property and LMI as 
disclosed above. 

The tables below provide information on LVRs determined using current loan balances and the valuation at the time the mortgage 
was financed.  

 2012 2011 

Consolidated 
Australia 

$m 
Americas 

$m 
Australia 

$m 
Americas 

$m 
Fully collateralised     
Loan to value ratio     

Less than 25% 451 27 478 29 
25% to 50% 1,711 329 1,827 356 
51% to 75% 3,838 1,479 4,211 1,573 
76% to 90% 3,638 4,433 3,915 4,320 
91% to 100% 903 2,666 1,011 2,902 

Partly collateralised 45 1 40 1 
Total mortgages 10,586 8,935 11,482 9,181 

Bank     

Fully collateralised     
Loan to value ratio     

Less than 25% 102 – 90 – 
25% to 50% 419 – 292 – 
51% to 75% 926 – 580 – 
76% to 90% 1,070 – 581 – 
91% to 100% 282 – 137 – 

Partly collateralised 15 – 11 – 
Total mortgages 2,814 – 1,691 – 
 

Relationship banking mortgages  

In addition, and separately to, the residential mortgages portfolios above, Macquarie Relationship Banking provides mortgages to 
clients in Australia, usually high net worth individuals. These loans are secured by fixed charges over the borrower’s residential 
property. Of the mortgage balance of $1,151million (2011: $1,085 million), $161 million (2011: $271 million) has a LVR of 50 per cent 
or less, $828 million (2011: $739 million) has an LVR of between 50 and 75 per cent and $140 million (2011: $73 million) an LVR of 
between 75 and 100 per cent. $22 million (2011: $2 million) is partly secured with an LVR greater than 100 per cent. 
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Note 40.1  
Credit risk continued 
Investment and insurance premium lending 

Macquarie lends to clients for investment and insurance 
premium financing. Where Macquarie lends for investment, 
Macquarie holds the investments as collateral and obtains 
additional cash margin to maintain limits. Other investment 
lending is backed by cash deposits from the client. For 
insurance premium loans, the loan is collateralised by the 
right to receive the pro-rata return premium for the underlying 
insurance policies, where the policy is cancellable. Where the 
policy is non-cancellable, recourse is to the obligor in the first 
instance. For the Consolidated Entity, of the investment and 
insurance premium lending portfolio of $1,812 million 
(2011: $ 2,133 million), $1,698 million (2011: $2,025 million) 
is fully collateralised. For the Bank, of the investment and 
insurance premium lending portfolio of $1,329 million (2011: 
$1,662 million), $1,234 million (2011: $1,553 million) is fully 
collateralised. 

Lease and retail financing 
Macquarie leases assets and provides retail financing, 
predominantly motor vehicles, to corporate and retail clients. 
Title to the underlying fixed assets are held by Macquarie as 
collateral. For the Consolidated Entity, of the lease and retail 
finance portfolio of $6,787 million, (2011: $7,426 million), the 
credit exposure after considering the depreciated value of 
collateral is $2,036 million, (2011: $2,228 million). For the 
Bank, of the lease and retail finance portfolio of $315 million 
(2011: $506 million), the credit exposure after considering the 
depreciated value of collateral is $95 million (2011: $152 
million). 

Corporate and commercial term lending 
Collateral held against corporate and commercial lending 
consists of secured rights over specified assets of the 
counterparty, often in the form of commercial property, land 
rights and other assets. For the Consolidated Entity, of the 
term lending of $11,254 million, (2011: $9,097 million), the 
credit exposure after collateral and credit enhancements is 
$3,055 million, (2011: $2,929 million). For the Bank, of the 
term lending of $9,794 million, (2011: $9,129 million), the 
credit exposure after collateral and credit enhancements is 
$2,504 million, (2011: $2,653 million). 

Additional collateral 
The Consolidated Entity and the Bank exclude other types 
of collateral, such as unsupported guarantees and floating 
charges over the assets of a customer’s business. While such 
mitigants have value, often providing rights in insolvency, their 
assignable values is insufficiently certain and therefore are 
assigned no amount for disclosure purposes. 

Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
Included in Other financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss is financing provided to clients for investing, which had a 
carrying value in the Consolidated Entity at the balance date 
of $1,801 million (2011: $2,449 million) and in the Bank of 
$1,776 million (2011: $2,449 million). This amount is fully 
secured by the underlying securities investments or cash 
deposits of the investors.  

Derivative financial instruments 
Exchange traded derivatives contracts have limited credit risk 
as counterparties have to be members of the exchange and 
demonstrate they have adequate resources to fulfil 
obligations when they become due. Members are required to 
provide initial margins in accordance with the exchange rules 
in the form of cash or stock, and provide daily variation 
margins usually in cash to cover changes in market values. 
Further, all members are generally required to contribute to 
(and guarantee) the compensation/reserve fund which may 
be used in the event of default and shortfall of a member. 
The Consolidated Entity held exchange traded derivatives 
with positive replacement values (and for which 
counterparties would have had to place margin) as at 
31 March 2012 of $8,906 million (2011: $7,176 million). 
The Consolidated Entity has also placed initial and variation 
cash margins with exchanges, the balance at 31 March 2012 
being $1,594 million (2011: $2,794 million), which are 
recorded in Receivables from financial institutions and Loan 
assets held at amortised cost. 

The Bank held exchange traded derivatives with positive 
replacement values (and for which counterparties would have 
had to place margin) as at 31 March 2012 of $7,408 million 
(2011: $5,439 million). The Consolidated Entity has also 
placed initial and variation cash margins with exchanges, 
the balance at 31 March 2012 being $1,090 million 
(2011: $1,527 million), which are recorded in Receivables 
from financial institutions and Loan assets held at amortised 
cost. 

For Over The Counter (OTC) derivative contracts, the 
Consolidated Entity and Bank often have master netting 
agreements (usually ISDA Master Agreements) with certain 
counterparties to manage the credit risk. Master netting 
arrangements are generally insufficient to allow offset in the 
Statement of Financial Position. However, the credit risk 
associated with positive replacement value contracts is 
reduced by master netting arrangements that in an event 
of default requires balances with a particular counterparty 
covered by the agreement (e.g. derivatives and cash margins) 
to be terminated and settled on a net basis. The 
Consolidated Entity and Bank also often execute a Credit 
Support Annex in conjunction with a master netting 
agreement, which facilitates the transfer of margin between 
parties during the term of arrangements, to mitigate 
counterparty risk arising from changes in market values 
of the derivatives. 
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Note 40.1  
Credit risk continued 
As at 31 March 2012, the Consolidated Entity held OTC 
contracts with a positive replacement value of $12,887 million 
(2011: $13,820 million) and held margins of $1,201 million 
(2011: $1,201 million) covering these contracts. The credit 
risk of these contacts is further reduced due to master 
netting agreements covering negative OTC contracts of  
$6,957 million (2011: $8,455 million), and collateral placed 
of $1,950 million (2011: $1,764 million).  

As at 31 March 2012, the Bank held OTC contracts 
with a positive replacement value of $11,189 million 
(2011: $13,020 million) and held margins of $1,146 million 
(2011: $1,131 million) covering these contracts. The credit 
risk of these contacts is further reduced due to master 
netting agreements covering negative OTC contracts of 
$6,494 million (2011: $8,648 million), and collateral placed 
of $1,920 million (2011: $1,652 million).    

Other assets 
In the Consolidated Entity, brokerage receivables of  
$1,941 million (2011: $889 million), and in the Bank of 
$817 million (2011: $654 million), are included in Other 
assets, which represent amounts owed by an exchange 
(or a client) for equities sold (or bought on behalf of a client). 
The Consolidated Entity and the Bank hold the underlying 
equity security as collateral until settled, which is usually 
less than three days after trade.  

Debt investments securities available for sale  
Included in Australia – Governments are holdings of 
$1,403 million (2011: $2,852 million) issued by Australian 
banks which are subject to an Australian Government 
Guarantee. Further, $438 million (2011: $200 million) is 
secured by specified assets under covered bonds. 

Life investment contracts and other unitholder 
investment assets 
Life investment contracts and unitholder investments back 
policy holder liabilities in the Consolidated Entity of 
$627 million, (2011: $658 million), and therefore the credit 
risks on these assets are borne by policy holders. 

Credit commitments and contingent liabilities 
In the Consolidated Entity, of the Undrawn facilities and 
lending commitments of $3,431 million (2011: $5,317 million), 
$1,999 million, (2011: $2,484 million) are fully secured by 
underlying specific assets. In the Bank, of $2,601 million 
(2011: $4,629 million), $1,414 million (2011: $2,437 million) 
are fully secured. 
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Note 40.1  
Credit risk continued 
Credit Quality – Consolidated 2012 
 Neither past due nor impaired 

 

Investment 
Grade 

$m 

Below 
Investment 

Grade 
$m 

Default 
$m 

Unrated 
$m 

Past due or 
individually 

impaired 
$m 

Total 
$m 

Receivables from financial institutions 8,058 258 – – – 8,316 

Cash collateral on securities borrowed and 
reverse repurchase agreements      7,024 
Governments 2,081 504 – – – 2,585 
Financial institutions 2,907 736 – – – 3,643 
Other 711 85 – – – 796 

Trading portfolio assets      4,250 
Governments 2,478 107 – – – 2,585 
Financial institutions 923 122 7 – – 1,052 
Other 183 396 34 – – 613 

Derivative assets      21,951 
Governments 438 14 – – – 452 
Financial institutions 15,338 698 – – – 16,036 
Other 2,588 2,875 – – – 5,463 

Debt investment securities available for sale      15,649 
Governments 3,111 – – – – 3,111 
Financial institutions 11,972 66 – – – 12,038 
Other 44 455 – – 1 500 

Other assets      6,670 
Governments 1,107 – – – – 1,107 
Financial institutions – – – – 3 3 
Other 3,786 1,138 20 472 144 5,560 

Loan assets held at amortised cost      44,095 
Governments 63 8 – – – 71 
Financial institutions 2,565 891 – – – 3,456 
Other 21,216 17,477 227 – 1,648 40,568 

Other financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss      3,831 
Governments 927 – – – – 927 
Financial institutions 1,193 4 – – – 1,197 
Other 266 1,416 – – 25 1,707 

Life investment contracts and other 
unitholder investment assets      627 
Financial institutions 561 – – – – 561 
Other 66 – – – – 66 

Due from related body corporate entities      1,118 
Other 137 – – 981 – 1,118 
Total      113,531 

Included in the past due category are balances in which an amount was overdue by one day or more. 
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Note 40.1  
Credit risk continued 
Credit quality of financial assets continued 

Credit Quality – Consolidated 2011 

 Neither past due nor impaired 

 

Investment 
Grade 

$m 

Below 
Investment 

Grade 
$m 

Default 
$m 

Unrated 
$m 

Past due or 
individually 

impaired 
$m 

Total 
$m 

Receivables from financial institutions 7,297 282 – – – 7,579 
Cash collateral on securities borrowed and 
reverse repurchase agreements      7,418 
Governments 795 643 – – – 1,438 
Financial institutions 4,173 1,331 – – – 5,504 
Other 365 111 – – – 476 

Trading portfolio assets      6,045 
Governments 2,291 392 – – – 2,683 
Financial institutions 1,060 463 18 – – 1,541 
Other 224 1,531 66 – – 1,821 

Derivative assets      21,145 
Governments 293 19 – – – 312 
Financial institutions 14,081 661 – – – 14,742 
Other 2,903 3,188 – – – 6,091 

Debt investment securities available for sale      14,098 
Governments 2,496 – – – – 2,496 
Financial institutions 10,430 33 – – – 10,463 
Other 325 783 – – 31 1,139 

Other assets      5,923 
Governments 743 – – – 1 744 
Other 3,753 1,121 – 254 51 5,179 

Loan assets held at amortised cost      45,382 
Governments 546 8 – – – 554 
Financial institutions 2,718 1,111 4 – 22 3,855 
Other 25,592 13,405 192 – 1,784 40,973 

Other financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss      8,223 
Governments 2,845 – – – – 2,845 
Financial institutions 2,801 28 – – – 2,829 
Other 675 1,849 – – 25 2,549 

Life investment contracts and other 
unitholder investment assets      658 
Financial institutions 565 – – – – 565 
Other 93 – – – – 93 

Due from related body corporate entities      2,443 
Other 803 – – 1,640 – 2,443 
Total      118,914 

Included in the past due category are balances in which an amount was overdue by one day or more. 
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Note 40.1  
Credit risk continued 
Credit quality of financial assets continued 
The table below shows the credit quality by class of financial asset (based upon ultimate risk counterparty) for credit exposures, 
based on the Bank’s credit rating system. 
Credit Quality – Bank 2012 
 Neither past due nor impaired 

 

Investment 
Grade 

$m 

Below 
Investment 

Grade 
$m 

Default 
$m 

Unrated 
$m 

Past due or 
individually 

impaired 

$m 
Total 

$m 

Receivables from financial institutions 6,457 35 – – – 6,492 
Cash collateral on securities borrowed and 
reverse repurchase agreements      6,900 
Governments 2,081 504 – – – 2,585 
Financial institutions 2,784 735 – – – 3,519 
Other 711 85 – – – 796 

Trading portfolio assets      2,834 
Governments 1,722 25 – – – 1,747 
Financial institutions 612 8 7 – – 627 
Other 75 351 34 – – 460 

Derivative assets      18,918 
Governments 355 – – – – 355 
Financial institutions 13,622 844 – – – 14,466 
Other 1,722 2,375 – – – 4,097 

Debt investment securities available for sale      16,710 
Governments 3,111 – – – – 3,111 
Financial institutions 11,716 51 – – – 11,767 
Other 28 1,803 – – 1 1,832 

Other assets      3,929 
Governments 218 – – – – 218 
Other 3,136 400 23 130 22 3,711 

Loan assets held at amortised cost      17,929 
Governments 2 – – – – 2 
Financial institutions 1,643 799 6 – – 2,448 
Other 5,458 9,350 200 – 471 15,479 

Other financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss      3,731 
Governments 927 – – – – 927 
Financial institutions 1,112 4 – – – 1,116 
Other 284 1,379 – – 25 1,688 

Due from related body corporate entities      981 
Other 92 – – 889 – 981 

Due from subsidiaries      18,927 
Other – – – 18,927 – 18,927 
Total      97,351 

Included in the past due category are balances in which an amount was overdue by one day or more. 
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Note 40.1  
Credit risk continued 
Credit quality of financial assets continued 
Credit Quality – Bank 2011 

 Neither past due nor impaired 

 

Investment 
Grade 

$m 

Below 
Investment 

Grade 
$m 

Default 
$m 

Unrated 
$m 

Past due or 
individually 

impaired 
$m 

Total 
$m 

Receivables from financial institutions 6,233 23 – – – 6,256 
Cash collateral on securities borrowed and 
reverse repurchase agreements      7,370 
Governments 751 644 – – – 1,395 
Financial institutions 4,170 1,330 – – – 5,500 
Other 364 111 – – – 475 

Trading portfolio assets      5,601 
Governments 2,258 177 – – – 2,435 
Financial institutions 929 448 18 – – 1,395 
Other 203 1,502 66 – – 1,771 

Derivative assets      18,551 
Governments 248 1 – – – 249 
Financial institutions 13,049 660 – – – 13,709 
Other 2,233 2,360 – – – 4,593 

Debt investment securities available for sale      13,367 
Governments 2,496 – – – – 2,496 
Financial institutions 10,144 48 – – – 10,192 
Other 221 458 – – – 679 

Other assets      3,676 
Governments 191 – – – – 191 
Financial institutions 2,677 684 3 112 9 3,485 

Loan assets held at amortised cost      17,299 
Governments 450 – – – – 450 
Financial institutions 1,663 969 7 – 22 2,661 
Other 6,347 7,123 189 – 529 14,188 

Other financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss      8,067 
Governments 2,845 – – – – 2,845 
Financial institutions 2,638 – – – – 2,638 
Other 751 1,808 – – 25 2,584 

Due from related body corporate entities      2,230 
Other 758 – – 1,472 – 2,230 

Due from subsidiaries      20,134 
Other – – – 20,134 – 20,134 
Total      102,551 

Included in the past due category are balances in which an amount was overdue by one day or more. 
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Note 40.1  
Credit risk continued 
Financial assets whose terms have been renegotiated  

The table below includes the carrying value, as at the balance date, of financial assets that would otherwise be past due or impaired 
whose terms have been renegotiated. 

 

Consolidated  
2012 

$m 

Consolidated  
2011 

$m 

Bank 
2012 

$m 

Bank 
2011 

$m 

Loan assets held at amortised cost     
Other 24 56 24 56 

 
Ageing analysis of assets past due but not impaired and impaired assets  

 Past due but not impaired 

Class of financial asset 

Less than  
30 days 

$m 

31 to  
60 days 

$m 

61 to  
90 days 

$m 

More than  
90 days 

$m 
Impaired 

$m 
Total 

$m 

Fair  
value of 

collateral 
held 
$m 

Debt investment securities available for sale    Consolidated 2012 

Other – – – – 1 1 – 
Other assets        
Financial institutions 2 1 – – – 3 – 
Other 112 4 3 – 25 144 2 
Loan assets held at amortised cost        
Other 731 171 187 243 316 1,648 1,968 
Other financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss        
Other 3 3 3 – 16 25 22 
Total 848 179 193 243 358 1,821 1,992 

A facility is considered to be past due when a contractual payment falls overdue by one or more days. When a facility is classified as 
past due, the entire facility balance less provision is disclosed in the past due analysis. 

The factors taken into consideration by the Consolidated Entity when determining whether an asset is impaired are set out in note 
1(xiii) – Summary of significant accounting policies. 

Of the collateral held against past due and impaired balances for loan assets held at amortised cost, $1,126 million 
(2011: $1,265 million) relates to collateral held against past due and impaired balances on residential mortgage facilities that are 
covered by mortgage insurance. A mortgage insurance claim will only be made in an instance where there is an outstanding balance 
on the mortgage facility after the receipt of proceeds on the disposal of the property held as security. The remaining collateral is made 
up of assets held as collateral against other loan and receivable balances. 

The collateral held against past due and impaired balances for other assets represents equity securities held as security against failed 
trade settlements. 
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Note 40.1  
Credit risk continued 
Repossessed collateral 
In the event of customer default on facilities, the Consolidated Entity may take possession of real estate or other assets held as 
security. As at the balance date, the Consolidated Entity took possession of fixed assets and property assets with a carrying value of 
$297 million (2011: $413 million).  

Class of financial asset 

Past due but not impaired 

Impaired 
$m 

Total 
$m 

Fair  
value of 

collateral 
held 
$m 

Less than  
30 days 

$m 

31 to  
60 days 

$m 

61 to 
 90 days 

$m 

More than  
90 days 

$m 

Debt investment securities available for sale     Consolidated 2011 

Other – – – – 31 31 – 
Other assets        
Government 1 – – – – 1 – 
Other 6 32 1 1 11 51 2 
Loan assets held at amortised cost        
Financial institutions – – – – 22 22 – 
Other 924 219 102 233 306 1,784 2,295 
Other financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss        
Other – – – – 25 25 20 
Total 931 251 103 234 395 1,914 2,317 

Class of financial asset 

Past due but not impaired   Fair  
value of 

collateral 
held 
$m 

Less than  
30 days 

$m 

31 to  
60 days 

$m 

61 to  
90 days 

$m 

More than  
90 days 

$m 
Impaired 

$m 
Total 

$m 

Debt investment securities available for sale     Bank 2012 

Other – – – – 1 1 – 
 Other assets        
Other – – – – 22 22 2 
Loan assets held at amortised cost        
Other 56 17 121 36 241 471 570 
Other financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss        
Other 3 3 3 – 16 25 22 
Total 59 20 124 36 280 519 594 

 
 Past due but not impaired   Fair 

value of 
collateral 

held 
$m Class of financial asset 

Less  
than  

30 days 
$m 

31 to  
60 days 

$m 

61 to  
90 days 

$m 

More than  
90 days 

$m 
Impaired 

$m 
Total 

$m 

Other assets     Bank 2011 

Other – – – – 9 9 2 
Loan assets held at amortised cost        
Financial institutions – – – – 22 22 – 
Other 177 46 9 42 255 529 804 
Other financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss        
Other – – – – 25 25 20 
Total 177 46 9 42 311 585 826 
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Note 40.2  
Liquidity risk 

Liquidity management  
The Consolidated Entity’s liquidity risk management framework ensures that it is able to meet its funding requirements as they fall due 
under a range of market conditions.  

Liquidity management is performed centrally by Group Treasury, with oversight from the Asset and Liability Committee and RMG. 
The Consolidated Entity’s liquidity policies are approved by the Board after endorsement by the Asset and Liability Committee, 
and liquidity reporting is provided to the MGL and MBL Boards on a monthly basis. The Asset and Liability Committee includes the 
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, Chief Risk Officer, Group Treasurer and Operating Group 
Heads. 

RMG provides independent prudential oversight of liquidity risk management, including the independent validation of liquidity scenario 
assumptions, liquidity policies, and the required funding maturity profile. 

Liquidity policy 
The MBL liquidity policy outlines the liquidity requirements for the Banking Group. The key requirement of the policy is that MBL is 
able to meet all of its liquidity obligations on a daily basis and during a period of liquidity stress: a 12 month period of constrained 
access to funding markets and with only a limited reduction in franchise businesses. 

MBL is funded mainly by capital, long term liabilities and deposits. 
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Note 40.2  
Liquidity risk continued 
Scenario analysis 
Scenario analysis is central to the Consolidated Entity’s 
liquidity risk management framework. Group Treasury models 
a number of liquidity scenarios covering both market-wide 
crises and firm-specific crises. The objective of this modelling 
is to ensure the Consolidated Entity’s ability to meet all 
repayment obligations under each scenario and determine 
the capacity for asset growth.  

The scenarios separately consider the requirements of the 
banking group, non-banking group and the consolidated 
group. They are run over a number of timeframes and a 
range of conservative assumptions are used regarding 
access to capital markets, deposit outflows, contingent 
funding requirements and asset sales. 

Liquid asset holdings 
Group Treasury maintains a portfolio of highly liquid 
unencumbered assets in the Consolidated Entity to ensure 
adequate liquidity is available in all funding environments, 
including worst case conditions. The minimum liquid asset 
requirement is calculated from scenario projections and 
also complies with regulatory minimum requirements. 

To determine the minimum level of liquid assets, reference 
is made to the expected minimum cash requirement during 
a combined market-wide and firm-specific crisis scenario 
over a 12 month timeframe. This scenario assumes no 
access to new funding sources, a significant loss of 
deposits and contingent funding outflows resulting from 
undrawn commitments, market moves on derivatives and 
other margined positions. The size of the liquid asset portfolio 
must always exceed the minimum cash requirement as 
calculated in this model. 

Liquidity contingency plan 
Group Treasury maintains a liquidity contingency plan. The 
liquidity contingency plan applies to the entire Consolidated 
Entity and defines roles and responsibilities and actions to be 
taken in a liquidity event. This includes identification of key 
information requirements and appropriate communication 
plans with both internal and external parties. 

Specifically, the plan details factors that may constitute a 
crisis, the officer responsible for enacting the contingency 
management, a committee of senior executives who would 
be responsible for managing a crisis, the information required 
to effectively manage a crisis, a public relations strategy, a 
high level check list of actions to be taken, and contact lists 
to facilitate prompt communication with all key internal and 
external stakeholders. The liquidity contingency plan is 
subject to regular review (at least annually) by both Group 
Treasury and RMG and is submitted to the Board for approval. 

Macquarie is a global financial institution, with operating 
subsidiaries and regulated banking subsidiaries in a variety of 
countries. Regulations in certain countries may require some 
subsidiaries to have a local contingency plan specific to that 
region. Where that is the case, the liquidity contingency plan 
contains a supplement providing the necessary region-specific 
information required for those subsidiaries. 

Funding transfer pricing 
An internal funding transfer pricing framework is in 
place which aims to align businesses with the overall 
funding strategy of the Consolidated Entity. Under this 
framework the costs of long and short-term funding 
are charged out, and credits are made to Operating 
Groups that provide long term stable funding. 

Contractual undiscounted cash flows  
The following tables below summarise the maturity 
profile of the Consolidated Entity’s financial liabilities as 
at 31 March based on contractual undiscounted 
repayment obligations. Repayments which are subject 
to notice are treated as if notice were given 
immediately. However, the Consolidated Entity expects 
that many customers will not request repayment on the 
earliest date the Consolidated Entity could be required 
to pay and the table does not reflect the expected 
cash flows indicated by the Consolidated Entity’s 
deposit retention history. 

Derivatives (other than those designated in a hedging 
relationship) and trading portfolio liabilities are included in 
the ‘less than 3 months’ column at their fair value. Liquidity 
risk on these items is not managed on the basis of contractual 
maturity, since they are not held for settlement according to 
such maturity and will frequently be settled in the short term 
at fair value. Derivatives designated in a hedging relationship 
are included according to their contractual maturity. 
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Note 40.2  
Liquidity risk continued 
Contractual undiscounted cash flows continued 

 

 On  
demand  

 $m  

 Less  
than  

3 months  
 $m  

 3 to  
12 months  

 $m  

 1 to  
5 years  

 $m  

Over  
5 years  

 $m  
 Total  

 $m  

Consolidated 2012 

Cash collateral on securities lent and repurchase 
agreements 1,375 3,307 97 – – 4,779 
Trading portfolio liabilities – 3,507 – – – 3,507 
Derivative financial instruments (trading) – 20,514 – – – 20,514 
Derivative financial instruments (hedging relationship)       

Contractual amounts payable – 2,898 1,992 2,660 825 8,375 
Contractual amounts receivable – (2,856) (1,844) (2,671) (847) (8,218) 

Deposits 27,939 5,729 3,130 344 23 37,165 
Other liabilities1 – 6,838 – – – 6,838 
Payables to financial institutions 96 1,407 323 2,363 609 4,798 
Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 8 457 455 694 91 1,705 
Life investment contracts and other unitholder liabilities – 5,897 – – – 5,897 
Due to related body corporate entities 2,567 399 – 58 – 3,024 
Debt issued at amortised cost2 – 7,201 5,063 23,327 1,417 37,008 
Subordinated debt – 309 94 779 2,198 3,380 
Total undiscounted cash flows 31,985 55,607 9,310 27,554 4,316 128,772 

Contingent liabilities  – 697 – – – 697 
Commitments – 2,848 692 – – 3,540 
Total undiscounted contingent liabilities and 
commitments3 – 3,545 692 – – 4,237 

Consolidated 2011 

       
Cash collateral on securities lent and repurchase 
agreements 2,715 3,388 – – – 6,103 
Trading portfolio liabilities – 5,732 – – – 5,732 
Derivative financial instruments (trading) – 20,906 – – – 20,906 
Derivative financial instruments (hedging relationship)       

Contractual amounts payable – 4,401 1,480 3,133 579 9,593 
Contractual amounts receivable – (4,429) (1,665) (3,511) (818) (10,423) 

Deposits 26,618 5,445 2,780 315 – 35,158 
Other liabilities1 – 6,381 – – – 6,381 
Payables to financial institutions 412 88 190 705 588 1,983 
Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 44 1,003 850 958 84 2,939 
Life investment contracts and other unitholder liabilities – 5,055 – – – 5,055 
Due to related body corporate entities 4,749 693 984 5 63 6,494 
Debt issued at amortised cost2 – 6,101 6,384 24,157 2,943 39,585 
Subordinated debt – 1 782 320 1,154 2,257 
Total undiscounted cash flows 34,538 54,765 11,785 26,082 4,593 131,763 

Contingent liabilities  – 697 – – – 697 
Commitments – 5,459 58 – – 5,517 
Total undiscounted contingent liabilities and 
commitments3 – 6,156 58 – – 6,214 

1 Excludes items that are not financial instruments and non-contractual accruals and provisions. 
2 Included in this balance are amounts payable to SPE note holders. The contractual maturity of the notes is dependent on the 

repayment of the underlying loans. This has been reflected in the maturity analysis. 
3 Cash flows on contingent liabilities and commitments are dependent on the occurrence of various future events and conditions, and 

may or may not result in an outflow of resources. These are reported in the ‘less than 3 months’ column unless contractual terms 
specify a longer dated cash flow. 
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Note 40.2  
Liquidity risk continued 
Contractual undiscounted cash flows continued 

 

 On 
demand  

 $m  

 Less 
than  

3 months  
 $m  

 3 to  
12 months  

 $m  

 1 to  
5 years  

 $m  

 Over  
5 years  

 $m  
 Total  

 $m  

 Bank 2012 
Cash collateral on securities lent and repurchase 
agreements 1,372 4,413 97 – – 5,882 
Trading portfolio liabilities – 3,468 – – – 3,468 
Derivative financial instruments (trading) – 17,766 – – – 17,766 
Derivative financial instruments (hedging relationship)       

Contractual amounts payable – 1,311 453 1,452 785 4,001 
Contractual amounts receivable – (1,333) (490) (1,552) (810) (4,185) 

Deposits 27,745 5,728 3,130 316 13 36,932 
Other liabilities1 – 3,853 – – – 3,853 
Payables to financial institutions 63 752 48 691 556 2,110 
Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 6 389 337 503 39 1,274 
Due to related body corporate entities 7,199 174 561 552 20 8,506 
Due to subsidiaries 2,236 417 – 58 – 2,711 
Debt issued at amortised cost2 – 6,099 1,420 8,971 102 16,592 
Subordinated debt – 309 94 779 2,198 3,380 
Total undiscounted cash flows 38,621 43,346 5,650 11,770 2,903 102,290 

Contingent liabilities  – 1,730 – – – 1,730 
Commitments – 2,516 189 – – 2,705 
Total undiscounted contingent liabilities and commitments3 – 4,246 189 – – 4,435 

Bank 2011 

Cash collateral on securities lent and repurchase 
agreements 2,712 3,387 – – – 6,099 
Trading portfolio liabilities – 5,621 – – – 5,621 
Derivative financial instruments (trading) – 18,094 – – – 18,094 
Derivative financial instruments (hedging relationship)       

Contractual amounts payable – 2,111 597 1,599 553 4,860 
Contractual amounts receivable – (2,241) (847) (2,115) (791) (5,994) 

Deposits 26,340 5,441 2,780 315 – 34,876 
Other liabilities1 – 3,382 – – – 3,382 
Payables to financial institutions 392 41 37 461 440 1,371 
Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 23 799 482 774 68 2,146 
Due to related body corporate entities 4,466 693 984 29 63 6,235 
Due to subsidiaries 9,406 261 322 358 364 10,711 
Debt issued at amortised cost2  – 5,133 3,677 9,007 5 17,822 
Subordinated debt – 1 782 320 1,154 2,257 
Total undiscounted cash flows 43,339 42,723 8,814 10,748 1,856 107,480 

Contingent liabilities  – 1,124 – – – 1,124 
Commitments – 4,691 58 – – 4,749 
Total undiscounted contingent liabilities and commitments3 – 5,815 58 – – 5,873 

1 Excludes items that are not financial instruments and non-contractual accruals and provisions. 

2 Included in this balance are amounts payable to SPE note holders. The contractual maturity of the notes is dependent on the 
repayment of the underlying loans. This has been reflected in the maturity analysis. 

3 Cash flows on contingent liabilities and commitments are dependent on the occurrence of various future events and conditions, and 
may or may not result in an outflow of resources. These are reported in the ‘less than 3 months’ column unless contractual terms 
specify a longer dated cash flow. 
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Note 40.3  
Market risk  

Market risk is the exposure to adverse changes in the value of the Consolidated Entity's trading portfolios as a result of changes in 
market prices or volatility. The Consolidated Entity is exposed to the following risks in each of the major markets in which it trades: 

– foreign exchange and bullion: changes in spot and forward exchange rates and bullion prices and the volatility of exchange 
rates and bullion prices; 

– interest rates and debt securities: changes in the level, shape and volatility of yield curves, the basis between different debt 
securities and derivatives and credit margins; 

– equities: changes in the price and volatility of individual equities, equity baskets and equity indices, including the risks arising 
from equity underwriting activity; 

– commodities and energy: changes in the price and volatility of base metals, agricultural commodities and energy products;  
and to the correlation of market prices and rates within and across markets. 

It is recognised that all trading activities contain calculated elements of risk taking. The Consolidated Entity is prepared to accept 
such risks provided they are within agreed limits, independently and correctly identified, calculated and monitored by RMG, and 
reported to senior management on a regular basis. 

RMG monitors positions within the Consolidated Entity according to a limit structure which sets limits for all exposures in all markets. 
Limits are for both individual trading desks and divisions as well as in aggregate. Trigger limits for the Consolidated Entity as a whole 
ensure that if several trading book limits are being used simultaneously, the aggregate level of risk is in line with the global risk 
appetite articulated in the economic capital model. 

RMG sets three complementary limit structures: 

– Contingent Loss Limits: worst case scenarios that shock prices and volatilities by more than has occurred historically. Multiple 
scenarios are set for each market to capture the non-linearity and complexity of exposures arising from derivatives. A wide range 
of assumptions about the correlations between markets is applied; 

– Position Limits: volume, maturity and open position limits are set on a large number of market instruments and securities in 
order to constrain concentration risk and to avoid the accumulation of risky, illiquid positions; and 

– Value-at-Risk (VaR) Limits: statistical measure based on a 10-day holding period and a 99 per cent confidence level, as 
stipulated by the APRA capital adequacy standard. The model is validated daily by back testing a one-day VaR against 
hypothetical and actual daily trading profit or loss. 

Value-at-Risk (VaR) figures  

The tables below show the average, maximum and minimum VaR over the year for the major markets in which the Consolidated 
Entity and Bank operate. The VaR shown in the tables are based on a one-day holding period. The aggregated VaR is on a 
correlated basis. 

 

2012 
Average 

$m 

2012 
Maximum 

$m 

2012 
Minimum 

$m 

2011 
Average 

$m 

2011 
Maximum 

$m 

2011 
Minimum 

$m 

Consolidated 

Equities 6.91 9.54 4.03 9.03 16.80 3.85 
Interest rates 10.72 14.75 6.72 5.54 11.46 3.08 
Foreign exchange and bullion 2.99 8.78 0.79 3.54 10.68 1.10 
Commodities 9.53 15.11 6.41 11.64 16.34 7.63 
Aggregate 14.89 20.24 11.17 15.67 22.29 10.90 
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Note 40.3 
Market risk continued 

 

2012 
Average 

$m 

2012 
Maximum 

$m 

2012 
Minimum 

$m 

2011 
Average 

$m 

2011 
Maximum 

$m 

2011 
Minimum 

$m 

Bank 

Equities 6.65 9.58 3.98 5.89 10.15 3.53 
Interest rates 9.98 12.72 6.31 4.99 10.49 2.94 
Foreign exchange and bullion 6.38 11.67 1.52 7.64 15.83 1.94 
Commodities 4.01 5.89 2.72 3.09 5.60 1.48 
Aggregate 11.68 15.83 8.98 10.07 16.28 6.69 

Value-at-Risk  
The VaR model uses a Monte Carlo simulation to generate normally distributed price and volatility paths, based on three years 
of historical data. VaR focuses on unexceptional price moves so that it does not account for losses that could occur beyond the 
99 per cent level of confidence. These factors can limit the effectiveness of VaR in predicting future price moves when changes to 
future risk factors deviate from the movements expected by the above assumptions. For capital adequacy purposes, debt-specific 
risk is measured using APRA’s standard method, whilst all other exposures are captured by the VaR model. This combined 
approach has been approved by APRA and is subject to periodic review. 

Interest rate risk  
The Consolidated Entity also has exposure to non-traded interest rate risk generated by banking products such as loans and 
deposits. Banking businesses have small limits to accumulate small levels of interest rate risk. Wherever possible, these interest 
rate risks are transferred into the trading books of FICC and Group Treasury which are managed within traded market risk limits 
and are included within the VaR figures presented above. Some residual interest rate risks remain in the banking book. These 
residual risks have independent limits that are monitored by RMG.  

Certain interest rate derivative transactions are undertaken to economically hedge interest rate risk associated with the MIPS. 
As the MIPS are classified as equity for accounting purposes and the hedge accounting requirements cannot be met, the volatility 
arising from recognising these derivatives at fair value is reflected in the income statement. Interest rate sensitivity on these 
derivatives is not reflected in the VaR numbers above. Indicatively, a 50 basis point increase or decrease in interest rates would 
result in a decrease or increase in operating profit before income tax of $3 million (2011: $3 million) respectively. 

Other than the volatility on the derivatives described above, there are no material non-traded interest rate risks within the 
Consolidated Entity. 

Foreign currency risk 

The Consolidated Entity is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from transactions entered into in its normal course of business 
and as a result of its investments in foreign operations. Movements in foreign currency exchange rates will result in gains or losses 
in the income statement due to the revaluation of certain balances or in movements in the foreign currency translation reserve due 
to the revaluation of foreign operations. 

In order to manage this risk, the Consolidated Entity has a policy that non-trading foreign currency exposures are appropriately 
hedged unless specifically approved by RMG, and trading foreign currency exposures remain within trading limits set by RMG. 

Forward foreign exchange contracts, or borrowings in the same currency as the exposure, are designated as hedges under 
Australian Accounting Standards and offset movements on the net assets within foreign operations and are transferred to the 
foreign currency translation reserve. 
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Note 40.3 
Market risk continued  
Foreign currency risk continued 

Responsibility for monitoring and managing foreign currency exposures arising from transactions rests with individual businesses 
which will enter into internal transactions as necessary to transfer the underlying foreign exchange risk to our trading businesses. 
Any residual foreign exchange risk residing in non-trading divisions is included in the internal model capital calculation by RMG, 
with the exception of specific investments in core foreign operations as discussed below. 

The hedging policy of the group is designed to reduce the sensitivity of the group’s regulatory capital position to foreign currency 
movements. This is achieved by leaving specific investments in core foreign operations exposed to foreign currency translation 
movements. The resultant change in the Australian dollar value of the foreign investment is captured in the foreign currency 
translation reserve, a component of regulatory capital. This offsets the corresponding movement in the capital requirements of 
these investments. 

As a result of the Consolidated Entity’s foreign exchange policy, the Consolidated Entity is partially exposed to currency risk in 
relation to the translation of its net investment in foreign operations to Australian dollars. 

The table below indicates the sensitivity to movements in the Australian dollar rate against various foreign currencies at 31 March. 
The Consolidated Entity is active in various currencies globally – those with the most impact on the sensitivity analysis below are 
USD, GBP, HKD and CAD. 

  2012 2011 
 

 
Movement 

in exchange 
rates 

% 

Sensitivity of 
 equity after tax 

Movement 
 in exchange 

rates 
% 

Sensitivity of  
equity after tax 

Consolidated 
$m 

Bank 
$m 

Consolidated 
$m 

Bank 
$m 

Australian dollar 
 

+10 (328.4) (336.5) +10 (276.6) (235.2) 
Australian dollar  –10 401.3 411.2 –10 338.0 287.5 
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Note 40.3 
Market risk continued  
Equity price risk  
The tables below indicate the equity markets to which the Consolidated Entity and the Bank had significant exposure at 31 March on 
its non-trading investment portfolio excluding interests in associates and joint ventures. The effect on equity (as a result of a change in 
the fair value of equity instruments held as available for sale at 31 March) and the income statement due to a reasonably possible 
change in equity prices, with all other variables held constant, is as follows: 

 2012 2011 
 
 
 

Movement 
in equity  

price  
% 

Sensitivity of 
profit before 

tax and  
profit share 

$m 

Sensitivity  
of equity  
after tax 

$m 

Movement 
in equity  

price  
% 

Sensitivity of 
profit before  

tax and  
profit share 

$m 

Sensitivity  
of equity  
after tax 

$m Geographic region 

Listed     Consolidated 

Australia +10 1.5 12.2 +10 3.3 23.6 
Asia Pacific +10 – – +10 – – 
Europe, Middle East and Africa +10 1.4 4.8 +10 1.5 4.1 
Americas +10 2.2 12.4 +10  4.0 8.0 
Unlisted +10 1.3 15.0 +10 0.2 28.2 

Listed       
Australia –10 (1.5) (12.2) –10 (3.3) (23.6) 
Asia Pacific –10 – – –10 – – 
Europe, Middle East and Africa –10 (0.4) (4.8) –10 (1.5) (4.1) 
Americas –10 (0.1) (12.4) –10 (3.5) (8.0) 
Unlisted –10 (0.6) (15.0) –10 (0.2) (28.2) 

Listed     Bank 

Australia +10 1.5 12.1 +10 3.3 22.0 
Asia Pacific +10 – – +10 – – 
Europe, Middle East and Africa +10 1.4 4.7 +10 1.5 3.9 
Americas +10 2.2 10.7 +10 4.0 6.9 
Unlisted +10 1.3 7.3 +10 0.2 7.8 

Listed       
Australia –10 (1.5) (12.1) –10 (3.3) (22.0) 
Asia Pacific –10 – – –10 – – 
Europe, Middle East and Africa –10 (0.4) (4.7) –10 (1.5) (3.9) 
Americas –10 (0.1) (10.7) –10 (3.5) (6.9) 
Unlisted –10 (0.6) (7.3) –10 (0.2) (7.8) 
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Note 41  
41 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities 

Fair value reflects the amount for which an asset could be 
exchanged or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. Quoted prices 
or rates are used to determine fair value where an active 
market exists. If the market for a financial instrument is not 
active, fair values are estimated using present value or other 
valuation techniques, using inputs based on market conditions 
prevailing on the measurement date. 

The values derived from applying these techniques are affected 
by the choice of valuation model used and the underlying 
assumptions made regarding inputs such as timing and 
amounts of future cash flows, discount rates, credit risk, 
volatility and correlation. 

Financial instruments measured at fair value are categorised 
in their entirety, in accordance with the levels of the fair value 
hierarchy as outlined below: 

Level 1:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities; 

Level 2:  inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 
that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from 
prices); 

Level 3:  inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on 
observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

The appropriate level for an instrument is determined on the 
basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement. 

The following methods and significant assumptions have been 
applied in determining the fair values of financial instruments: 

– trading portfolio assets and liabilities, financial assets and 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, derivative financial 
instruments and other transactions undertaken for trading 
purposes are measured at fair value by reference to quoted 
market prices when available (e.g. listed securities). If quoted 
market prices are not available, then fair values are 
estimated on the basis of pricing models or other recognised 
valuation techniques; 

– investment securities classified as available for sale are 
measured at fair value by reference to quoted market 
prices when available (e.g. listed securities). If quoted 
market prices are not available, then fair values are 
estimated on the basis of pricing models or other 
recognised valuation techniques. Unrealised gains 
and losses, excluding impairment write-downs, are 
recorded in the available for sale reserve in equity until 
the asset is sold, collected or otherwise disposed of; 

– fair values of fixed rate loans and issued debt classified 
as at fair value through profit or loss is estimated by 
reference to current market rates offered on similar loans; 

– for financial instruments carried at fair value the 
determination of fair value includes credit risk (i.e. the 
premium over the basic interest rate). Counterparty credit 
risk inherent in these instruments is factored into their 
valuations via credit valuation adjustments (CVA). This 
amount represents the estimated market value of protection 
required to hedge credit risk from counterparties, taking into 
account expected future exposures, collateral, and netting 
arrangements. CVA is determined when the market price 
(or parameter) is not indicative of the credit quality of 
the specific counterparty. Where financial instruments are 
valued using an internal model that utilises observable 
market parameters, market practice is to quote parameters 
equivalent to an interbank credit rating (that is, all 
counterparties are assumed to have the same credit 
quality). Consequently, a CVA calculation is necessary to 
reflect the credit quality of each derivative counterparty to 
arrive at fair value; and 

– the Consolidated Entity’s own credit risk is factored into 
the valuation of liabilities measured at fair value via debit 
valuation adjustments (DVA). This is because credit risk 
affects what the transaction price of the liability would 
have been in an arm's length exchange motivated by normal 
business considerations (e.g. it affects the value at which 
liabilities could be repurchased or settled, the observed 
market price of quoted debt securities and the contract 
interest rate offered when debt is initially raised). 
Consequently, changes in the credit quality of 
the Consolidated Entity are reflected in valuations where 
the credit risk would be considered by market participants 
and excludes fully collateralised transactions and other 
instruments for which it is established market practice not 
to include an entity-specific adjustment for own credit. 
The methodology to determine the adjustment is consistent 
with CVA and incorporates the Consolidated Entity’s credit 
spread, for the term of the liability measured, as observed 
through the credit default swap market. This amount 
represents the estimated difference in the market value 
of identical obligations.  
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Note 41 
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities continued  

Where valuation techniques are used to determine fair values, 
they are validated and periodically reviewed by qualified 
personnel independent of the area that created them. All models 
are certified before they are used, and models are calibrated 
periodically to test that outputs reflect prices from observable 
current market transactions in the same instrument or other 
available observable market data. To the extent possible, 
models use only observable market data (e.g. for over-the-
counter derivatives), however management is required to make 
assumptions for certain inputs that are not supported by prices 
from observable current market transactions in the same 
instrument, such as volatility and correlation. 

The following methods and significant assumptions have been 
applied in determining the fair values of financial instruments 
which are carried at amortised cost: 

– the fair values of liquid assets and other instruments 
maturing within three months are approximate to their 
carrying amounts. This assumption is applied to liquid assets 
and the short-term elements of all other financial assets and 
financial liabilities; 

– the fair value of demand deposits with no fixed maturity 
is approximately their carrying amount as they are short 
term in nature or are payable on demand; 

– the fair values of variable rate financial instruments, including 
loan assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost, cash 
collateral on securities borrowed/cash collateral on securities 
lent and reverse repurchase/repurchase agreements, are 
approximate to their carrying amounts. The fair value of loan 
assets repayable without penalty is approximated by their 
carrying value; 

– the fair value of fixed rate loans and debt carried at 
amortised cost is estimated by reference to current market 
rates offered on similar loans and the credit worthiness of 
the borrower; 

– the fair value of debt issued and subordinated debt is based 
on market prices where available. Where market prices are 
not available the fair value is based on discounted cash 
flows using rates appropriate to the term and issue and 
incorporates changes in the Consolidated Entity’s own 
credit spread; 

– substantially all of the Consolidated Entity’s commitments 
to extend credit are at variable rates. As such, there is no 
significant exposure to fair value fluctuations resulting from 
interest rate movements relating to these commitments; and 

– the fair values of balances due from/to subsidiaries (in 
the Bank’s separate financial statements) and balances 
due from/to related body corporate entities (in the Bank’s 
and consolidated financial statements) are approximated 
by their carrying amount as the balances are generally 
receivable/payable on demand. 
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Note 41 
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities continued  

The tables below summarise the carrying value and fair value of financial assets and liabilities held at amortised cost of the 
Consolidated Entity and the Bank at 31 March 2012: 

  

2012 
 Carrying  

value 
 $m 

2012 
Fair 

value 
 $m 

2011 
 Carrying  

value 
 $m 

2011 
Fair 

value 
 $m 

Assets 
   Consolidated 

Receivables from financial institutions   8,316 8,316 7,579 7,579 
Loan assets held at amortised cost  44,095 44,517 45,382 45,402 
Due from related body corporate entities  1,118 1,118 2,443 2,481 

Total assets  53,529 53,951 55,404 55,462 

Liabilities   
 

 
 

Deposits  37,014 37,009 35,106 35,154 
Payables to financial institutions  4,299 4,307 1,580 1,643 
Due to related body corporate entities  3,022 3,022 6,471 6,471 
Debt issued at amortised cost  35,068 35,030 36,943 37,334 
Loan capital at amortised cost  2,176 2,183 1,430 1,434 

Total liabilities  81,579 81,551 81,530 82,036 

Assets   
 Bank 

Receivables from financial institutions  6,492 6,492 6,256 6,256 
Loan assets held at amortised cost 17,929 17,912 17,299 17,159 
Due from related body corporate entities 981 981 2,230 2,268 
Due from subsidiaries 18,927 18,927 20,134 20,134 
Total assets 44,329 44,312 45,919 45,817 

Liabilities     
Deposits 36,781 36,775 34,827 34,876 
Payables to financial institutions 1,685 1,692 1,011 1,074 
Due to related body corporate entities 2,709 2,709 6,212 6,212 
Due to subsidiaries 8,374 8,374 10,607 10,607 
Debt issued at amortised cost 16,213 16,010 17,697 17,928 
Loan capital at amortised cost 2,176 2,183 1,430 1,434 
Total liabilities 67,938 67,743 71,784 72,131 
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Note 41  
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities continued 
The following tables summarise the levels of the fair value hierarchy for financial instruments measured at fair value:  

 

 
Level 1 

$m 
Level 2 

$m 
Level 3 

$m 
Total  

$m 

Assets 
  Consolidated 2012 

Trading portfolio assets 7,541 3,552 452 11,545 
Derivative assets 4,723 17,099 129 21,951 
Investment securities available for sale 14,472 1,629 184 16,285 
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,941 3,861 160 5,962 
Life investment contracts and other unitholder investment assets 1,410 4,498 – 5,908 
Total assets 30,087 30,639 925 61,651 

Liabilities     
Trading portfolio liabilities 2,434 1,073 – 3,507 
Derivative liabilities 4,229 16,572 96 20,897 
Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 8 1,570 110 1,688 
Life investment contracts and other unitholder liabilities 1,412 4,485 – 5,897 
Subordinated debt at fair value through profit or loss – 150 – 150 
Total liabilities 8,083 23,850 206 32,139 

Assets 
  Consolidated 2011 

Trading portfolio assets 9,849 4,085 489 14,423 
Derivative assets 3,455 17,451 239 21,145 
Investment securities available for sale 12,932 1,701 370 15,003 
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5,470 4,877 260 10,607 
Life investment contracts and other unitholder investment assets 1,201 3,861 – 5,062 
Total assets 32,907 31,975 1,358 66,240 

Liabilities     
Trading portfolio liabilities 4,390 1,342 – 5,732 
Derivative liabilities 3,758 17,531 166 21,455 
Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 46 2,711 152 2,909 
Life investment contracts and other unitholder liabilities 1,201 3,854 – 5,055 
Subordinated debt at fair value through profit or loss – 467 – 467 
Total liabilities 9,395 25,905 318 35,618 
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Note 41  
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities continued 
 

 
Level 1 

$m 
Level 2 

$m 
Level 3 

$m 
Total  

$m 

Assets 
   

Bank 2012 
Trading portfolio assets 6,559 2,238 273 9,070 
Derivative assets 4,517 14,071 330 18,918 
Investment securities available for sale 14,365 2,749 93 17,207 
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,904 2,822 131 4,857 
Total assets 27,345 21,880 827 50,052 

Liabilities     
Trading portfolio liabilities 2,423 1,045 – 3,468 
Derivative liabilities 4,177 13,718 72 17,967 
Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 2 1,153 110 1,265 
Subordinated debt at fair value through profit or loss – 150 – 150 
Total liabilities 6,602 16,066 182 22,850 

Assets 
   

Bank 2011 
Trading portfolio assets 9,637 3,469 437 13,543 
Derivative assets 3,415 14,974 162 18,551 
Investment securities available for sale 12,748 1,013 187 13,948 
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5,490 4,236 214 9,940 
Total assets 31,290 23,692 1,000 55,982 

Liabilities     
Trading portfolio liabilities 4,279 1,342 – 5,621 
Derivative liabilities 3,673 14,433 85 18,191 
Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 45 1,932 145 2,122 
Subordinated debt at fair value through profit or loss – 467 – 467 
Total liabilities 7,997 18,174 230 26,401 
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Note 41  
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities continued 
Reconciliation of balances in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy 
The following tables reconcile the balances in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy for the Consolidated Entity and for the Bank for the 
financial year ended 31 March 2012: 

 

Trading 
portfolio 

assets 

Investment 
securities 
available 

for sale 
 $m $m 

   
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 489 370 
Purchases 355 41 
Sales (369) (77) 
Issues – – 
Settlements – (31) 
Net transfers into/out of Level 3 (16) (89) 
Fair value (losses)/gains recognised in the income statement1 (7) (34) 
Fair value gains recognised in other comprehensive income1 – 4 
Balance at the end of the financial year 452 184 

Fair value gains/(losses) for the financial year included in the income statement for 
assets and liabilities held at the end of the financial year1 8 (6) 

1  The Consolidated Entity employs various economic hedging techniques in order to manage risks, including risks in Level 3 positions. 
Such techniques may include the purchase or sale of financial instruments that are classified in Levels 1 and/or 2. The realised and 
unrealised gains and losses for assets and liabilities in Level 3 presented in the table above do not reflect the related realised or 
unrealised gains and losses arising on economic hedging instruments classified in Levels 1 and/or 2. 

2 The derivative financial instruments in the table above are represented on a net basis. On a gross basis, derivative assets are $129 
million (2011: $239 million) and derivative liabilities are $96 million (2011: $166 million). 
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Other financial 
assets at 

fair value through 
 profit or loss 

Trading 
portfolio 
liabilities 

Other financial  
liabilities at  

fair value through  
profit or loss 

Derivative financial  
instruments  

(net replacement 
values)2 Total 

$m $m $m $m $m 

    Consolidated 2012 

260 – (152) 73 1,040 
1 – – 1 398 

(55) – 16 (13) (498) 
- – (1) (20) (21) 

(12) – 37 (57) (63) 
16 – (8) 24 (73) 

(50) – (2) 24 (69) 
- – – 1 5 

160 – (110) 33 719 

(38) – 4 (2) (34) 
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Note 41  
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities continued 

Reconciliation of balances in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy 
The following tables reconcile the balances in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy for the Consolidated Entity and for the Bank for the 
financial year ended 31 March 2011: 

 

Trading 
portfolio 

assets 

Investment 
securities 
available 

for sale 
 $m $m 

   

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 424 411 
Purchases 306 87 
Sales (273) (74) 
Issues – – 
Settlements – (11) 
Net transfers into/out of Level 3 (68) (26) 
Fair value gains/(losses) recognised in the income statement1 100 (21) 
Fair value gains recognised in other comprehensive income1 – 4 
Balance at the end of the financial year 489 370 

Fair value gains/(losses) for the financial year included in the income statement for 
assets and liabilities held at the end of the financial year1 88 – 

1  The Consolidated Entity employs various economic hedging techniques in order to manage risks, including risks in Level 3 positions. 
Such techniques may include the purchase or sale of financial instruments that are classified in Levels 1 and/or 2. The realised and 
unrealised gains and losses for assets and liabilities in Level 3 presented in the table above do not reflect the related realised or 
unrealised gains and losses arising on economic hedging instruments classified in Levels 1 and/or 2. 

2 The derivative financial instruments in the table above are represented on a net basis. On a gross basis, derivative assets are $239 
million (2010: $276 million) and derivative liabilities are $166 million (2010: $416 million). 
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Other financial 
assets at 

fair value through 
 profit or loss 

Trading 
portfolio 
liabilities 

Other financial  
liabilities at  

fair value through  
profit or loss 

Derivative financial  
instruments  

(net replacement  
values)2 Total 

$m $m $m $m $m 

    Consolidated 2011 

287 (3) (57) (140) 922 
86 – (12) 30 497 

(31) – 46 (98) (430) 
7 – (15) (43) (51) 

(123) – 5 29 (100) 
61 2 (119) 129 (21) 

(27) 1 – 166 219 
– – – – 4 

260 – (152) 73 1,040 

– – – (6) 82 
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Note 41  
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities continued  

Reconciliation of balances in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy continued 
 

 

 

Trading 
portfolio 

assets 

Investment 
securities 
available 

for sale 
 $m $m 

   
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 437 187 
Purchases 137 28 
Sales (290) (37) 
Issues – – 
Settlements – – 
Net transfers into/out of Level 3 1 (89) 
Fair value (losses)/gains recognised in the income statement1 (12) 1 
Fair value gains recognised in other comprehensive income1 – 3 
Balance at the end of the financial year 273 93 

Fair value gains/(losses) for the financial year included in the income statement for 
assets and liabilities held at the end of the financial year1 5 – 

1 The Consolidated Entity employs various economic hedging techniques in order to manage risks, including risks in Level 3 positions. 
Such techniques may include the purchase or sale of financial instruments that are classified in Levels 1 and/or 2. The realised and 
unrealised gains and losses for assets and liabilities in Level 3 presented in the table above do not reflect the related realised or 
unrealised gains and losses arising on economic hedging instruments classified in Levels 1 and/or 2. 

2 The derivative financial instruments in the table above are represented on a net basis. On a gross basis, derivative assets are $330 
million (2011: $162 million) and derivative liabilities are $72 million (2011: $85 million). 
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Other financial 
assets at 

fair value through 
 profit or loss 

Trading  
portfolio  
liabilities 

Other financial  
liabilities at  

fair value through 
profit or loss 

Derivative financial  
instruments  

(net replacement 
values)2 Total 

$m $m $m $m $m 

    Bank 2012 

214 – (145) 77 770 
– – – 1 166 

(38) – 16 (12) (361) 
– – (1) (19) (20) 

(10) – 33 (65) (42) 
13 – (10) 10 (75) 

(48) – (3) 266 204 
– – – – 3 

131 – (110) 258 645 

(36) – 4 245 218 
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Note 41  
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities continued  
Reconciliation of balances in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy continued 
 

 

 

Trading 
portfolio 

assets 

Investment 
securities 
available 

for sale 
 $m $m 

   

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 424 212 
Purchases 254 54 
Sales (272) (63) 
Issues –  –  
Settlements – – 
Net transfers into/out of Level 3 (67) (21) 
Fair value gains/(losses) recognised in the income statement1 98 (1) 
Fair value gains recognised in other comprehensive income1 – 6 
Balance at the end of the financial year 437 187 

Fair value gains/(losses) for the financial year included in the income statement for 
assets and liabilities held at the end of the financial year1 88 3 

1 The Consolidated Entity employs various economic hedging techniques in order to manage risks, including risks in Level 3 positions. 
Such techniques may include the purchase or sale of financial instruments that are classified in Levels 1 and/or 2. The realised and 
unrealised gains and losses for assets and liabilities in Level 3 presented in the table above do not reflect the related realised or 
unrealised gains and losses arising on economic hedging instruments classified in Levels 1 and/or 2. 

2 The derivative financial instruments in the table above are represented on a net basis. On a gross basis, derivative assets are $162 
million (2010: $180 million) and derivative liabilities are $85 million (2010: $252 million). 
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Other financial 
assets at 

fair value through 
profit or loss 

Trading  
portfolio  
liabilities 

Other financial  
liabilities at  

fair value through 
profit or loss 

Derivative financial  
instruments  

(net replacement 
 values)2 Total 

$m $m $m $m $m 
   

 Bank 2011 

277 (3) (57) (72) 781 
83 –  (12) 32 411 

(29) – 46 (99) (417) 
7 –  (7) (42) (42) 

(123) – 5 29 (89) 
25 2 (120) 64 (117) 

(26) 1 –  165 237 
– –  – – 6 

214 – (145) 77 770 

– – – (3) 88 
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Note 41  
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities continued 

Significant transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy 
During the financial year the Consolidated Entity and the Bank did not have significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2. 
Transfers into Level 3 were due to the lack of observable valuation inputs for certain securities and investments. Transfers out of 
Level 3 were principally due to valuation inputs becoming observable during the year.  
Unrecognised gains 
For financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, when the transaction price in a non-active 
market is different to the fair market value from other observable current market conditions in the same instrument or based on 
valuation techniques whose variables include other data from observable markets, the Consolidated Entity and the Bank recognises 
the difference between the transaction price and the fair value in the income statement. In cases where use is made of data which is 
not observable, profit or loss is only recognised in the income statement when the inputs become observable, or over the life of the 
instrument. 
The table below summarises the deferral and recognition of profit or loss where a valuation technique has been applied for which not 
all inputs are observable in the market: 

   

Consolidated 
2012 

$m 

Consolidated 
2011 

$m 

Bank 
2012 

$m 

Bank 
2011 

$m 

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 25 34 18 18 
Deferral on new transactions 11 14 11 14 
Amounts recognised in the income statement during the year (29) (23) (24) (14) 
Balance at the end of the financial year 7 25 5 18 
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Note 41  
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities continued 

Sensitivity analysis of valuations using unobservable inputs 
The table below shows the sensitivity in changing assumptions to reasonably possible alternative assumptions, for those financial 
instruments for which fair values are determined in whole or in part using valuation techniques such as discounted cashflows, which 
are based on assumptions that have been determined by reference to historical company and industry experience. 

 Favourable changes Unfavourable changes 

 

Profit and 
loss 
$m 

Equity 
$m 

Profit and 
loss 
$m 

Equity 
$m 

Product type   Consolidated 2012 

Equity and equity linked products 17 7 (21) (7) 
Commodity products 17 – (15) – 
Credit products 2 – (2) – 
Interest rate products 6 – (6) – 
Total 42 7 (44) (7) 

Product type 
  Consolidated 2011 

Equity and equity linked products 21 – (27) – 
Asset backed products 16 13 (15) (4) 
Commodity products 17 – (16) – 
Credit products 3 – (3) – 
Interest rate products 1 – (1) – 
Total 58 13 (62) (4) 
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Note 41  
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities continued 
 

 Favourable changes Unfavourable changes 

 

Profit and  
loss 
$m 

Equity 
$m 

Profit and 
loss 
$m 

Equity 
$m 

Product type 
   Bank 2012 

Equity and equity linked products 12 2 (15) (2) 
Commodity products 9 – (9) – 
Credit products 2 – (2) – 
Interest rate products 3 – (3) – 
Total 26 2 (29) (2) 

Product type 
   Bank 2011 

Equity and equity linked products 14 – (20) – 
Commodity products 1 – (1) – 
Credit products 3 – (3) – 
Interest rate products 1 – (1) – 

Total 19 – (25) – 
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Note 42  
42 Audit and other services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers 

During the financial year, the auditor of the Consolidated Entity and the Bank, PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC), and its related 
practices earned the following remuneration: 

 Consolidated  
2012 
$’000 

Consolidated  
2011 
$’000 

Bank 
2012 
$’000 

Bank 
2011 
$’000 

PwC – Australian Firm 
     

Audit and review of financial reports of the Bank or any subsidiary of 
the Bank  5,862 5,764 4,622 4,491 
Other audit-related work   1,409 550 541 415 
Other assurance services   1,022 1,102 252 486 
Total audit and other assurance services 8,293 7,416 5,415 5,392 
Other advisory services  – 32 – 32 
Taxation   419 353 – 108 
Total remuneration paid to PwC – Australian Firm 8,712 7,801 5,415 5,532 

Related practices of PwC – Australian Firm 
(including PwC – Overseas Firms) 
Audit and review of financial reports of the Bank or any 
subsidiary of the Bank 5,861 3,753 – – 
Other audit-related work  45 42 – – 
Other assurance services   23 170 – – 
Total audit and other assurance services 5,929 3,965 – – 
Other advisory services  – – – – 
Taxation   805 531 25 6 
Total remuneration paid to related practices of PwC – 
Australian Firm 6,734 4,496 25 6 
Total remuneration paid to PwC (note 2)  15,446 12,297 5,440 5,538 

Use of PwC’s services for engagements other than audit and assurance is restricted in accordance with the Consolidated Entity’s 
and the Bank’s Auditor Independence policy. These assignments are principally tax compliance and agreed upon assurance 
procedures in relation to acquisitions. 

Certain fees for advisory services are in relation to Initial Public Offerings and due diligence services for new funds. These fees may be 
recovered by the Consolidated Entity upon the successful establishment of the funds. 

It is the Consolidated Entity’s and the Bank’s policy to seek competitive tenders for all major advisory projects. 
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Note 43  
43 Acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and businesses 

Significant entities or businesses acquired or consolidated due to acquisition of control: 

Macquarie AirFinance Limited 

On 1 April 2011, a subsidiary of the Bank acquired 100 per cent interest in Macquarie AirFinance Limited, an aircraft lessor. This was 
purchased from a subsidiary of the Non-Banking group. 

Utility Metering Services Limited 

On 24 October 2011, a subsidiary of the Bank acquired 100 per cent interest in UK based company, Utility Metering Services Limited.  

Other entities acquired or businesses acquired or consolidated due to acquisition of control during this financial year are as 
follows: 

Macquarie Finance (India) Private Limited, Macquarie Precision Marketing (Japan) Limited, Macquarie Technology Services (Canada) 
Limited and SCC Swiss Commercial Capital AG.  

Aggregate details of the above entities or businesses acquired or consolidated due to acquisition of control are as follows: 

 
 
  

2012 
$m 

2011 
$m 

Fair value of net assets acquired1    
Cash, other financial assets and other assets  356 28 
Property, plant and equipment  2,589 102 
Goodwill and other intangible assets  34 56 
Assets of disposal groups classified as held for sale  – 5 
Payables, provisions, borrowings and other liabilities  (2,126) (142) 
Liabilities of disposal groups classified as held for sale  – (4) 
Non-controlling interests  – (4) 
Total fair value of net assets acquired  853 41 

Consideration    
Cash consideration  856 38 
Deferred consideration  4 – 
Fair value of previously held interest  – 1 
Total consideration  860 39 

Net cash outflow    
Cash consideration  (856) (38) 
Less: 
Cash and cash equivalents acquired  214 5 
Net cash outflow  (642) (33) 

1  In relation to the acquisition of certain subsidiaries of the Non-Banking Group, assets and liabilities acquired are recognised at 
carrying amounts. In accordance with the Consolidated Entity's accounting policy, the difference between the fair value of the 
consideration given over the carrying amounts recognised is recorded directly in reserves. For the year ended 31 March 2012, $1 
million (2011: $nil) was recognised in Reserves arising from group restructure of combining entities under common control. 

Included in the current financial year results for the Consolidated Entity is profit of $58 million and revenue of $277 million from 
Macquarie AirFinance Limited since the date of acquisition on 1 April 2011. 

Included in the current financial year results for the Consolidated Entity is profit of $4 million and revenue of $24 million from Utility 
Metering Services Limited since the date of acquisition on 24 October 2011. If this acquisition had taken place on 1 April 2011, 
the impact on the current year results for the Consolidated Entity would have been profit of $7 million and revenue of $52 million. 

The operating results of the remaining acquisitions have not had a material impact on the results of the Consolidated Entity. 

There are no significant differences between the fair value of net assets acquired and their carrying amounts, other than goodwill 
and other intangible assets as noted above. The goodwill acquired during the current financial year has arisen due to the value of the 
businesses acquired over their individual asset values and synergies the Consolidated Entity expects to realise from the acquisitions. 

The 31 March 2011 comparatives relate to CMC Railroad Inc., Innovest Kapitalanlage AG, Latitude FX Limited, Outplan Pty Limited 
and Rismark Limited. There was no significant entity or business acquired or consolidated due to acquisition of control during the 
year ended 31 March 2011.  
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Note 43 
Acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and businesses continued 

Significant entities or businesses disposed of or deconsolidated due to loss of control: 

There were no significant entities or businesses disposed of or deconsolidated due to loss of control during the financial year.  

Other entities or businesses disposed of or deconsolidated during the financial year are as follows: 

Biocarbon Group Pte. Limited, Cruzeiro do Sul Graos Limitada, Energy Assets Group PLC, Garrison Energy Center LLC, Lawson 
Grains Limited, Macquarie Real Estate Korea Limited and Samchully Asset Management Company Limited. 

Aggregate details of the above entities or businesses disposed of or deconsolidated are as follows: 

  
 

 2012 
$m 

2011 
$m 

Carrying value of assets and liabilities disposed of or deconsolidated 
   

Cash, other financial assets and other assets  31 186 
Property, plant and equipment   61 1 
Goodwill and other intangible assets  3 24 
Assets of disposal groups classified as held for sale  – 45 
Payables, provisions, borrowings and other liabilities  (74) (61) 
Liabilities of disposals groups classified as held for sale  – (40) 
Non-controlling interests  (1) (8) 
Total carrying value of assets and liabilities disposed of or deconsolidated 20 147 

Consideration  
   

Cash consideration  30 107 
Consideration received in equity  40 86 
Deferred consideration  – – 
Total consideration  70 193 

Net cash flow 
   

Cash consideration  30 107 
Less:    
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of or deconsolidated  (9) (65) 
Net cash inflow  21 42 

There were no significant entities or businesses disposed of or deconsolidated due to loss of control during the financial year ended 
31 March 2011. 

 

Note 44  
44 Events after the Reporting Period 

There were no material events subsequent to 31 March 2012 that have not been reflected in the financial statements. 
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In the Directors’ opinion: 

a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 41 to 
153 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 
(Cth), including: 

(i) complying with the accounting standards; and 

(ii) giving a true and fair view of the Bank and Consolidated 
Entity’s financial position as at 31 March 2012 and 
performance for the financial year ended on that date; 
and 

b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that Macquarie 
Bank Limited will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable; and 

c) the financial statements also comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (see note 1(i) set out on page 
50; and 

d) at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds 
to believe that the members of the Extended Closed Group 
identified in note 19 will be able to meet any obligations or 
liabilities to which they are, or may become, subject by 
virtue of the deed of cross guarantee described in note 19. 

The Directors have been given the declarations by the Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer required by section 
295A of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the 
Directors. 

 

 
H Kevin McCann, AM 
Independent Director and  
Chairman 

 

 
Greg Ward 
Managing Director and  
Chief Executive Officer 

Sydney  
27 April 2012 
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Report on the financial report  
We have audited the accompanying financial report of 
Macquarie Bank Limited (the Bank), which comprises the 
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2012, and the 
income statement, the statement of comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for 
the year ended on that date, a summary of significant 
accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the directors’ 
declaration for both Macquarie Bank Limited and the Macquarie 
Bank Group (the Consolidated Entity). The Consolidated Entity 
comprises the Bank and the entities it controlled at the year's 
end or from time to time during the financial year. 

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report 
The directors of the Bank are responsible for the preparation of 
the financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 
2001 (Cth) and for such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial 
report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. In note 1, the directors also state, in accordance 
with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial 
Statements, that the financial statements comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Auditor’s responsibility  
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report 
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require 
that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to 
audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from 
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or 
error.  

In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial report. 
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Our procedures include reading the other information in the 
Annual Report to determine whether it contains any material 
inconsistencies with the financial report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

Independence 
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).  

Auditor’s opinion  
In our opinion: 

a) the financial report of Macquarie Bank Limited is in 
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), 
including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Bank’s and 
Consolidated Entity’s financial position as at 31 March 
2012 and of their performance for the year ended on 
that date; and 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards 
(including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) 
and  the Corporations Regulations 2001 (Cth); and 

b) the financial report and notes also comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 1. 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 6 
to 32 of the directors’ report for the year ended 31 March 2012. 
The directors of the Bank are responsible for the preparation 
and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance 
with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration 
Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. 

Auditor’s opinion  

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Macquarie Bank 
Limited for the year ended 31 March 2012, complies with 
section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). 

 

 

PricewaterhouseCoopers 
 

 

 

DH Armstrong 
Partner  

Sydney 
27 April 2012 
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